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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS '

Tyt oo FORTHE VEAK ENDED DECEMBER 31, = 2000 - % change - e
i ‘ R {Dollawsinmillions, sxsspt par shave deata) !
. Segment Results
Retaik 8 AB72 $ 444 Ny M
Commercial Banking T o (115) - NAM
First USA 96 - 3 N/M
Investment Management Bi74) 322 16
Corporate (@09), (1,033) 60
Totat bysiness segments: i : : \
operating income (loss), net of tax (409) N/VE
Aceounting change, net of tax - N/ M
Merger and restructuring-retated i
charges, net of tax (102) i
Tetat Corporation net income (loss) 3 (511) !
‘ 4
Operating Financial Ratios ™ . J1
g " Return (loss)-on average assets (0.45)% - }
_ Return (loss) on average common equity (2.11% 3
Mariaged net interest margin 4.76% ’ &
Managed efficiency ratio 65.8% i
. }
i Consolidated Results :
. Total revenue, net of interest expense $ 13,926 14 . |
Net interest income - tax equivalent basis 188769 8,974 -2 j
Noninterest inceme V228 5,090 42 ;
B Provisitonforcredit losses 2,600 3,398 - 26;
; : Operating noninterest expense 198200} 11,447 - 20
oo ' Operating income (I0ss) 2,204 (409) N/M
Net income (foss) 2" 65 S (511) N/M g
At Year End ’
, Managed loans. 3 2A@A0R $ 236,492 -8
Managed assets 309,096 -1
Deposits HEASSOM - ¢ 167,077 = ;
Common equity 20,228 18,445 10
Employees W3N19 80,778 -9
Cash dividends declared 0F82} 1.26 -33
Book value 17.88 15.90 g :
Market price L 8005 36.63 7
Capital Ratios !
Risk-based capital:
Tier 1 7.3%
Total 10.8% ‘
Tangible common equity/tangible managed assets 5.5% ;
N/M-Not meaningful ' :
“ {1} Exciudes wigrger and restructuring—refated charges and cumudative effect of accounting change.
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; -4
]
i
- {
[ t




| Whenever our customers
‘need-our attention,

atik Ofie is there. We
offer:service through
1,802:banking centers,
5,141 :ATWs; 24-hour
telephione banking, and

bfankone.com, which
serves more than
1,083,000 users.
(;ustdmers like Santiago
Bou;ia appreciate the
cfhoices. Whether he
n;eeds to-check his

balance while on the
golf course or make

a late-night payment
online, being able to
decide how and when he
does business with us is
extremely important to

this busy small business
owner. We realize that
occasionally time really
is more precious than
money, and people like
Santiago shouldn’t have
to wait.




It helps to do business
with a banker who takes
the time to understand
all your needs. Bob and
Myrna Schlegel, owners
of Pavestone, began
banking with us in

1987. In the last 10
years, annual revenues
have soared from $5
million to $170 million.
Of course, growth at
that level presents

tremendous challenges.

Bank One has provided
the credit, leasing,
capital markets, treasury
management, and
international tools the
Schlegels have needed
to grow their business.
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On the personal side, the
Schlegels are also work-
ing with us to manage
their wealth. One cus-
tomer working with one
provider has made for
one great success story.

ONE Provider

§ for many needs




Throughout all areas of  help meet the unique Based on the trust we

our business —~ whether  needs of individual have earned over the Field renovation, and

in retail banking, busi- customers. Since 1934, years, the Bears recently  investment of their
ness banking, payment  we have been the lead  expanded our relationship reserve funds. This is
solutions, or investment  credit and treasury to include management of one relationship that’s
management ~ Bank One management bank for  the team’s season ticket building a winning team
is coming together to the Chicago Bears. and playoff lockbox, for all of us.




Bank One is working

to help improve the
fives of people all over
the country. Our contri-
bution, investment,
and lending programs
support community-

based projects and
organizations such

as Homeward Bound -
a transitional housing
program in Maricopa
County, Arizona, for
homeless, impending

homeless, and families
affected by domestic
violence. In 2001, Bank
One contributed more
than $40 million to
educational, community
development, and civic

leadership causes. OQur
community investment
program worked to
ensure access to finan-
cial services and to
promote economic devel-
opment throughout our

markets. One community,
many locations. Bank
One is working to make
one big difference in
each community

we serve.




2001 was a year that none of us will ever forget. It was.

~an extraordinary time for our nation and our economy.

‘At Bank One, it was a year of coming together as one

company and one team with a singular passion to win.

- A time to make enormous progress in the face of

numerous unforeseen challenges.
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DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDER

Bank One made good progress in 2001. We earned $2.6
billion in a difficule economic environment. Equally
important, we substantially improved our systems and
service, financial discipline, balance sheet, cost structure,
and management team. Of course, 2001 had its pluses,
minuses, challenges and lessons. In the first part of this letter,
I will report on what we accomplished (or didnt) in 2001
and how we have positioned ourselves for 2002. In the
second part, I will deal with some more forward-looking
issues, specifically our developing views of our businesses
and a few of the key challenges we must confront.

I. REVIEW OF 2001, OUTLOOK FOR 2002

Our financial performance — earnings of $2.6 billion and a
return on equity of 13% — was satisfactory but not
outstanding. Despite the recession, we should have done
better. Our credit costs were worse than you should expect,
and worse than most of our competitors. On most other
measures, however, we made good progress in positioning
ourselves for 2002 and beyond.

IMPROVED FINANCIAL DISCIPLINE AND RISK MANAGEMENT
In 2001, we strengthened the quality of both earnings and
capital. Our actions were, and will continue to be, driven
by the following priorities:

Conservative Accounting Policies and Practices. Your company
uses relatively conservative accounting policies and
assumptions that affect valuation of assets and liabilities.
For example, we manage all off-balance sheet assets and
liabilities with the same attention and level of consistency
as if they were on the balance sheet. (For the interested
reader, we make full disclosures on these in the financial
review section.)

We have consistently strengthened reserves to protect
against loan losses. While a material amount of the reserve
increase was necessary due to declining credit quality, we
are also more accurately reflecting the risk within our loan
book through a more disciplined and granular rating sys-
tem (a 20-grade system versus a 12-grade system), and a
more rapid recognition and response to loan deterioration.
In fact, I believe that where in the past we significantly
lagged changes in ratings by the rating agencies, we now

recognize deterioration more quickly.
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In addition, we report internally thousands of profit-
and-loss statements, covering everything from individual
branches and products to cost and capital allocations.
These disciplines are allowing us to make better and more
informed decisions.

Managing Risk. Last year we told you we had too much
aggregate risk, too much risk in individual names, and that
we were not properly compensated for the risks we were
taking. Three examples illustrate how seriously we under-
took the task of properly managing risk:

1.In our large corporate business, we reduced on- and off-
balance sheet credit exposures by $38.5 billion, or 26%.
Our total exposure is now $109 billion, which is close to
the aggregate
Additionally, we instituted tougher individual limits,

level we believe is appropriate.
and now have fewer exceptions. Most importantly, our
corporate business revenue is essentially flat, which
means that our revenue per dollar of risk is up 22%.
Furthermore, our revenue is of better quality because a
greater percentage comes from the higher margin fee
businesses.

In spite of this, fourth quarter credit losses for our
large corporate business were 1.7% — higher than normal
— and our full-year return on equity (ROE) was 8%. If
normalized for credit losses (60-70 basis points through
a cycle), our ROE would have been 13%, a respectable
number and one that is now far more stable than in the
past. Middle market losses, at 1.9% in the fourth quarter,
were also embarrassingly high. Even wich this high loss,
however, our full-year ROE was 13%, which demon-
strates how strong this business can be when properly
executed. Finally, our loan loss reserve for our total com-
mercial business is now a very strong 4.37% of loans,
giving us great comfort against adverse events.

2. We stopped buying brokered home equity loans that: 1)
we did not individually underwrite, and 2) had certain
high risk characteristics, even though they were at the
time among the most profitable and rapidly growing part
of our home equity business. At their peak, these loans
totaled approximately $8 billion and credit losses were
running under 1%. In 2002, however, we expect credit

losses to reach over 4%. Since we stopped writing this
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business in 2000, we have reduced exposure to $3 billion
and the remainder is running off. This explains a large

part of our higher than expected consumer credit losses.

3.We substantially reduced auto lease production from
$500 million per month to $50 million per month due
to concerns related to declining used auto valuations.
Our total auto lease portfolio has been reduced to $6.1
billion from a peak of nearly $11 billion. By the end of
2003, the portfolio should be at approximately $2.5 bil-
lion, leaving us with what we believe is an appropriate
level of risk.

These three examples illustrate how we manage risk and
deal with problems. We could have sold these assets, but
they would have been hugely discounted below what we
believe was their intrinsic value. This would not, in our
opinion, be in the best financial interest of shareholders.
We are willing to make the tough decisions. These are just
a few examples of how we have tightened policies and
procedures across the board. We know these actions can
slow short-term growth, but we value a clean balance
sheet over growth at any cost. We want our growth to be
solid and healthy.

We believe the actions we have taken will substantially
lower future credit losses. We are determined to become
superior — not just average — credit underwriters. While
credit risk tends to deteriorate during a recession, borrow-
ers still have the contractual right and option to borrow.
We need to incorporate these facts into our analysis of risk
over an economic cycle. We also must acknowledge and
account for the fact that in average times credit quality
increases and decreases proportionately, but in a recession it
generally moves only downward. We want to be ready for
that contingency, especially in times like these. Whatever
the future holds — and we expect at least the first half of
2002 to continue to be a difficult credit environment — we
are prepared.

Improving Qualisy of Earnings and Capiral. Higher funda-
mental margins (mostly due to a lower cost structure),
higher levels of recurring revenues, and reduced risk on the
balance sheet have improved the quality of our earnings.
They also effectively improve the quality of our capital: The
quality of our capital is higher than thar of an identically

BANK ONE CORPORATION

capitalized company with more aggressive accounting and
more risk on its balance sheet.

Better Capirtal, Capital Usage and Flexibility. We have higher
quality capital and more of it: Our year-end Tier 1 capital
ratios went from 7.3% in 2000 to 8.6% in 2001, among
the highest for a bank our size. According to our internal
calculations, which are more conservative than in the past,
we are now more than adequately capitalized. We believe
we are at the right place, particularly during these uncertain
economic times.

We want a fortress balance sheet with unquestionable
strength. I cannot overemphasize how happy we were to
maintain our credit ratings as we went through our restruc-
turing, nor can I overemphasize how absolutely committed
we are to keeping and hopefully improving our ratings —
even if it means reducing short-term earnings or slowing
short-term growth.

Clearly, we are now generating capital in excess of our
immediate needs. This capital flexibility is a strategic
imperative, providing us with the option to increase our
dividends, invest in our businesses, make acquisitions, or
simply do nothing. This year, we added another capital tool
when your Board approved (without any negative rating
implication) a modest $500 million stock buyback program.
We will use this provision wisely based on our view of
opportunities and risk. We also believe tough times can pro-

vide better relative opportunities for strong companies.

One more year of fine-tuning and intensive management,
and these finance and risk disciplines will be part of our
culture. Of course, error and surprise can never be entirely
eliminated. However, we are far more secure, enabling us to
make sound decisions based on economics, not on accounting,

BUILDING OUR CORE AND INFRASTRUCTURE We made
good progress on building our “core” in 2001 by:

Becoming More Efficient. We are now well on our way to
becoming a low-cost provider. We reduced our overhead
costs by approximately $1.2 billion in 2001, which was
more than we originally hoped for. Headcount decreased
from 81,000 to 73,500 and will continue to drop in 2002
as we complete more consolidations and conversions. With
overhead now running at approximately $9.2 billion, we

7 2001 ANNUAL REPORT




plan to strengthen our business by reinvesting additional
efficiencies of more than $300 million into systems, services,
and marketing in the coming year. As a shareholder, I
would be concerned to see costs cut dramatically if proper
investments weren't being made for the future. I can assure
you we are making substantial investments that we believe
will pay dividends in the future.

Consolidating and Upgrading Our Technology. We completed
one major credit card and two major deposit conversions,
all virtually flawlessly, this year. The deposit conversions
cost upwards of $75 million, and covered four states serv-
ing five million customers. We still have two remaining
deposit system conversions to go in 2002. Due to the higher
level of complexity of these conversions, they may not go as
smoothly, but we have established discrete milestones to
ensure that deadline pressures do not compromise our fran-
chise. It's more important to do these right than it is to do
them quickly.

If we accomplish these conversions by the end of the
year, then we will essentially be on one platform.
Throughout the process, we will continue to retire hun-
dreds of obsolete programs, upgrade some, and install rop-
of-the-line systems. We are also upgrading loan and deposit
systems, as well as our cash management systems and
banker workstations. These workstations standardize sales
and profitability platforms, and auromate many manual
functions. They also deliver new customer information sys-
tems which provide a complete view of customer relation-
ships and allow for greatly enhanced service. Imagine our
capabilities in 2003 if our team can accomplish all of this.
I can’t wait.

Lastly, we will have substantially upgraded our national
telecom network and reduced reliance on consultants and
vendors. We are taking advantage of the downrturn in the
technology business to hire hundreds of great, talented
individuals.

Providing Better Customer Service. Through better systems
and proper compensation plans, the quality of service is
now tracked, measured and rewarded. It is constantly get-
ting better and we are confident that in the next few vears
we will be best in class. Perhaps the most dramatic example
is at First USA, where our customer satisfaction ratings over
the past two years have improved by 23%.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

BUILDING MANAGEMENT CAPABILITIES At the end of the
day, great management and great people are the most
important elements for success (although capiral allocation
and luck come close). Sustained success, however, requires
integrity, courage, trust, openness and a true meritocracy at
all levels. We want everyone — branch managers, call center
employees, sales managers and staff deparement managers —
to know their job, know it counts, share information freely,
and fight to win. People now speak up when something is
wrong. Teamwork requires practice, perseverance and max-
imum individual effort. It’s not just one or another. And we
are getting there. People throughout our company are step-
ping up and fighting for their team. Highlights include:

A Changing Culture. We are now acting with more openness,
passion and urgency. For example, when we introduced a
new Bureaucracy Busters program to rid ourselves of stifling
bureaucracy and to streamline processes, we received thou-
sands of recommendations, many of which have been imple-
mented. The process of busting bureaucracy never ends, but
what’s different now is that all of our folks are engaged in
challenging the system and solving the problems.

Giving More Aurhority to the Field. As we centralize opera-
tions and standardize policies and procedures, we also strive
to give our people in the field more authority and respon-
sibility. Each of our local businesses supports and feeds the
others with ideas, customers and products. Local profic-
and-loss statements now allow us to push decision-making
into the field, where it belongs. At the same time, by cen-
tralizing certain functions we were able to achieve
economies of scale, maintain quality standards, and create
better products, cheaper and faster. These efficiencies and
improvements help empower our employees on the front
lines. We have terrific people in the field, and we want to
support them, not impede them. Once we get the balance
right, it will be one of our greatest strengths.

Increasing Ownership and Teamwork. This year, we gave
nearly 40,000 of our lower paid people with a year or more
of service a $300 grant of Bank One stock to their 401 (k).
At the time these grants were issued, roughly 15,600 of
these employees didn't have a 401(k) and for the most part
didn’t own stock. Now, almost everyone who has been with
us for more than a year owns stock. There is a feeling that
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this is our company. Teamwork within and across business
lines is growing. For example, our corporate bankers now
join with our investment managers on customer calls.
The result: record asset growth in our investment manage-
ment group during a year when most money managers saw
assets shrinking, ‘

There are, of course, many other great examples, but one
touched me in particular. American National Bank, a
proud institution that has been part of Bank One since
1984, decided to change its name to Bank One, as did our
credit card subsidiary, First USA. These decisions were
made in the lines of business — not by management here at
headquarters. Although systems conversions had some-
thing to do with it, the real impetus was their desire to
come together with us: One Company, One Name, One
Stock, One Team. Incentives must be done right, but they
aren’t what matter most. Teamwork creates real winners.

II. LOOKING FORWARD

We believe our immediare priorities of customer service,
financial discipline, system conversions, and building the
management team are absolutely the right ones for us.
They are essential to building a great company, but they
are, admittedly, not sufficient. We also need good franchises
and solid growth. With that in mind, T'd like to give you a
view of our current thinking about our franchise and
growth prospects.

Building Strong Franchises. Retail banking and asset man-
agement, small business banking, private client services and
middle market banking are strong franchises. We group
these businesses together because they feed and comple-
ment each other and their strength is in the field. They are
particularly valuable when a company has a significant local
market share, which we mostly do.

When taken together and run properly, we believe these
businesses are an attractive franchise that can deliver good
returns and solid growth. These businesses should grow at
least with the economy, and probably faster as we expand
our products and services. Of course, local competition can
be fierce, and some of the basic products will gradually be
disintermediated by innovations and other changes. But
how many businesses can consistently average 15-20% ROE
over time while growing? I think these businesses can.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

Therefore, our goal in these businesses is to simply be
very good at them, and to grow both organically (e.g., “same
store” sales, new products, market-share gains, etc.) and by
acquisition. Qur view is that as these businesses continue to
consolidate, the winners will be those that combine a supe-
rior customer experience with the benefits of economies of
scale, great systems, product breadth, lower funding costs,
credit diversification, and branding. That is, of course, if
the scourge of large corporations — bureaucracy — is kepr at
bay. Our actions to date — taming bureaucracy, improving
financial and operating disciplines, and strengthening man-
agement — put us in a position to win.

Three of our other businesses — credit cards, payment
systems and asset management — are excellent businesses on
their own. They are also a natural fit wicth the “general
banking” business. Together, they provide each other with
the competitive advantage of free access and a vast distri-
bution network.

In credit cards, we have made significant progress in the
past year. We have dramatically lowered expenses and our
service platform is as good as any. The credit card industry
is consolidating. Growth in a consolidating industry comes
from taking share from others, as well as through acquisi-
tions. Our capabilities and scale, combined with our access
to capital and distribution, put us in an excellent position
to be a winning consolidaror.

Payment systems, which include card, traditional cash
management, and Paymentech (our merchant processor),
are outstanding businesses. They have solid margins,
require low capital and grow with time. They, too, benefit
from our large distribution network and in 2002 we hope
to prove to our shareholders their extraordinary potential.

Asset management has always been a rerrific business
(although we believe margins will be squeezed over time
because they are simply too high in a low-return environ-
ment). Competitively, we feel we are well positioned for
growth as we continue to leverage our superior perform-
ance and nacural distribution advantage.

Large corporate banking is probably our toughest com-
petitive business, but it also gives us the opportunity to
develop highly sophisticated, industrial-strength products
that can be used in all of our franchises. With proper risk
management and cross-selling, returns are reasonable. Large
corporate relationships are deep and our bankers have been
extremely successful selling additional payment systems,
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asset management, and capital markets products. We believe
that many of our capital markets products (syndication,
foreign exchange, derivatives, asset-backed securities and
investment grade bond origination) can compete with the
industry’s best without our being forced to take excessive
risk. We still owe our shareholders a more defined strategy
in this arena. As we develop it, we will continue to run the

business well and grow it profitably with reasonable risk.

Building A Brand. One of our new goals for 2002 will be
building our national brand. One of our advantages is that
Bank One does business with more than 60 million indi-
viduals and institutions. But many of them aren’t aware of
it. For instance, many of our First USA customers don’t
draw a connection to Bank One, which is one of the rea-
sons First USA is moving to the Bank One name. The value
of a unified brand will be far greater. A brand is a promise
to customers, but more importantly it is a commitment we
are making to ourselves about who we are and just how
good we want to be. We're now ready to step up our game
at all levels - inside the company, for our customers, and

against the competition.

Becoming Innovative. We want to make innovation part of
our DNA. This does not mean spending hundreds of mil-
lions of dollars on failed ideas. It does mean we will take
some chances knowing that some will fail. It requires that
we build forward-looking ideas into every con-
versation, every analysis and every new prod-
uct we look at. We have a few new products
coming out this year that we think fill this bill.

An example is our recent agreement with
Microsoft. We have a number of specific lead-
ing edge products, but the truly exciting idea

Owuig

is that we are now working together to use new technology
and the Internet to continuously develop new financial
products and services. We believe this pioneering work will
put us at the forefront as the industry constantly changes.

Growing through Mergers and Acquisitions. We believe all of
our current businesses will continue to consolidate. A weak
economy creates opportunities for strong companies. Based
on the actions we are taking and the core disciplines we are
developing, I believe we are in a position to take advantage
of emerging opportunities.

IN CLOSING This hasn’t been an easy year for our employees.
Yet, despite conversions, cost cutting and a recession, we
went full speed ahead building our core systems, financial
discipline, balance sheet and management. Even though we
are probably only two-thirds of the way through our “infra-
structure building,” the boot camp phase is over and we are
devoting more resources to the future. We understand that
fixing our infrastructure sometimes inhibits short-term
growth, but you can’t build something great and lasting on
a weak foundation. We are committed to creating a com-
pany that delivers solid, profitable long-term growth. In
fact, we are convinced that good profit growth is coming —
initially from improved operations and margins, then

increasingly from true “unit” growth.

We are aggressively engaged in building our
company. We are now strong enough to move
even faster. I am proud to work with such a
talented, committed group and am more con-
vinced than ever that together we will build
Bank One into one of the best financial serv-
ices companies in America.

A

James Dimon
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

FEBRUARY 20, 2002

BANK ONE CORPORATION
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DOING BUSINESS AS

Bank ;0ne is coming together as one team and one brand to deliver one great customer experience. We
are ihtegtating the best Baiik One has to offer to serve consumers, governments, and businesses large
and small. We’re listening carefully, anticipating needs, advising customers and holding ourselves

[P

accnufnta;ble‘ for results. ‘From our retail associates helping a banking customer get a credit card to our

corﬁmfe‘rcfialr‘sbankers intreducing a business owner to a Private Client Service advisor, we’re doing business
as-one to help our customers achieve their financial goals.

£28.4 biflfen
makeqvaltiefof
ietailIbtokerage

15830billienfassets
indedmanagemendoy

Insifdienal

Investment
Management Group

Portfolio.Management
Mutual Funds

Financial Planning
Brokerage

Private Client Services
Corporate and Personal Trust
Alternative Asset Management
Insurance

Retirement Services
Securities Lending

Custody and Master Trust

2.8 millien of Bank One’s
el heusehelds heve &

Bantfonelcredideard

SB000 businzs

elistomersyiisexd

Benk Ons business
credifeald]

Retail

Checking & Savings Accounts
Consumer Lending

Small Business Banking
Debit/ATM Cards

Investment Accounts

Credit Cards

Insurance

Auto Loans & Leases

Online Banking

Home Loans

BANK ONE CORPORATION

Comitiercial

Global Cash Management
Commercial Lending

Loan Syndications
Commercial Cards
Investment Management
Asset-Backed Finance
Investment Grade Securities
Derivatives

Foreign Exchange

Global Trade
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CREDIT CARD

Credit Card
Credit Cards
Affinity Cards
Rewards Cards
Smart Cards
Stored-Value Cards
Business Cards




COMMERCIAL BANKING

The success of our Commercial Banking division stems from our

extensive knowledge of our customers, our superior products and

services, and our experienced relationship managers.

CREATING MUTUALLY BENEFICIAL
RELATIONSHIPS

In 2001, we took significant steps to
position ourselves for growth.

In the Middle Matket segment,
which focuses on privately held com-
panies, we strengthened our sales
process and put in place systems to
manage risk better.

In Corporate Banking, which focuses
on Fortune 1000 customers, we rede-
fined many of our relationships,
expanding our work in fee-based serv-
ices and reducing our emphasis on loan
products. The result: better service for
our best customers and a $38.5 billion

reduction in risk exposutre for us.

LEVERAGING OUR PRESENCE IN
MIDDLE MARKET BANKING
Bank One is a proven leader in Middle
Market banking, ranking first or sec-
ond in 22 out of the 35 markets we
serve. More than 70% of our 18,000
customers consider us their lead bank,
creating an extraordinary franchise
with solid potential for growth.
While returns among this segment

were not where we wanted them in

Wade Reed, who started
Hannon Hydraulics in his
Dailas garage as a spunky
23-year-old, has leamed
plenty about finance by
running the company for

BANK ONE CORPORATION 12

26 years. But he needed
post-graduate assistance
after he bought his biggest
competitor and revenues
grew more than 50 percent
over the next year. Banker

2001, we have made good strides in
improving relationship profitability
and building the base for more stable,
higher returns.

Our goals for the coming year are to
continue improving our risk manage-
ment processes and ro expand delivery
of capital markets, investment man-
agement, and treasury management
solutions to this important and grow-

ing customer base.

REDEFINING RELATIONSHIPS
WITH CORPORATE CUSTOMERS
By redefining our relationships with
large corporate customers, we are now
in a stronger position to deliver superi-
or products and services to our best
customers.

Consistently ranked in the top five in
all treasury management product cate-
gories, our treasury management servic-
es division proved its leadership once
again, producing revenues of more than
$1.1 billion — 10% more than last year.

Our capital markets group also had a
successful year. We positioned ourselves
solidly in loan syndications, asset-

backed securitization, investment grade

Carlos Munguia {right)
used capital markets capa-
bilities to convert traditional
debt to variable-rate bonds
and used derivatives to
hedge Reed’s interest rate

risk. “Carlos knew my
business and got me financ-
ing | never knew existed —
and he saved me money,”
Reed said. Hannon has alsc
used treasury management,

securities, and derivatives, increasing
our revenue from capital markerts prod-
ucts by 419%.

As evidence of our success, we
improved our league table standings
from 17th to 8th in the asset-backed
term market and from 15th to 12th in
investment grade securities. In syndica-
tions, our $2.7 billion financing of
Suiza Foods’ acquisition of Dean Foods
was named the “U.S. Leveraged Loan
of the Year” for 2001 by the
International Financing Review.

Working with our partners through-
out Bank One, we have been able to
help deepen customer relationships by
providing tools like investment and lig-
uidity management, as well as corpo-
rate trust, securities custody, and retire-
ment plan services.

When organizations choose to work
with Bank One, they get the personal
artention and full resources of a nation-
al provider who is wholly committed to
helping them meet their needs. The
changes we made in 2001 position us
well to operate as a single, efficient busi-
ness focused on delivering competitive,

world-class solutions to our customers.

feasing, and investment
products. “Carios always
tells me the truth, not just
what | want to hear. He has
made us a better company.”
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CREDIT CARD

With more than 55 million cards in force and a card membership

base that is spending $140 billion annually with us, we are a

leader in offering payment products customized to the needs of

an increasingly sophisticated consumer,

CUSTOMIZING PRODUCTS TO
MEET CUSTOMER NEEDS

In an industry that is rapidly consoli-
dating, we continue to lead by offering
customers a broad range of credit and
payment solutions.

Whether they are seeking cards wich
competitive interest rates, cards offering
rewards, affinity cards, or pre-loaded
spending cards, we've got the products
to meet our customers’ needs.

Frequently that means working with
partners like Unired Airlines, providing
mileage for travel, or General Mills,
which contributes money to customers’

local schools for every purchase.

POSITIONING FOR GROWTH

2001 was an important year for us.
With a new management team in place,
we reorganized to become more cus-
tomer-centric, assigning profit and loss
accountability at both the product and
segment levels. We focused on becoming
a more efficient, disciplined organiza-
tion, which resulted in a reduction in
operating expenses by 19% and a sig-

nificant improvement in returns.

When MSN® wanted to offer TiRanium Visa® credit card of our customers,” said
customers a credit card with a hip translucent look,  Yusuf Mehdi, vice presidemt
worthy of parent Microsoft’s  excellent rates, and free of MSN Personal Services
name, they came to us. Microsoft® Money software. & Business at Microsoft
Jennifer Osbosm (right) and  “We know we can trust Corporation. And like

her team created the MSN Bank Omne to take care MSN's trademark butterfly,
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We also renewed key partnership
agreements, including our agreement
with United Airlines, while rebuilding
the sales organization to establish addi-
tional strategic partner relationships
with hotels, airlines, universities, other
banks, and retailers. Additionally, we
created a special team to employ state-
of-the art analytics to help us manage
decisions related to all stages of our
customer relationships.

Another noteworthy achievement
was the acquisition and successful
integration of the Wachovia credit
card portfolio, which added millions
of new customers.

These and many other initiatives are
setting the foundadon for profitable

growth.

ULTIMATELY, IT GETS PERSONAL
Intense competition for customers
dictates one thing: our success tomor-
row will be built on how well we treat
customers today.

In this high-tech world, it’s great to
know there are people out there who

really care about individual customers.

the Bank One/Microsoft
relationship has spread
its wings. Today, Bank
One products are being
integrated into Microsoft
channels and we’re

They are people like Beverly Small,
who helped a cardmember meet a
very important deadline — her wed-
ding in Iraly.

When the bride’s airline tickets were
cancelled due to a reservation error,
Beverly not only got the tickets rein-
stated but convinced the airline to
issue them at the original price. (An
important and difficulc challenge,
because the ticket price had more than
doubled.)

Beverly is an example of the thou-
sands of people on our team who
know winning requires us to prove
ourselves to each of our customers
every day in all that we do.

And with rtechnologies and com-
merce changing so rapidly, we know
it’s not about plastic, it’s about the
payment transaction and the value we
add to it. We will continue to lead by
giving consumers and commercial
customers innovative products that
provide convenient, beneficial, and
satisfying ways to purchase the things

they want and need.

working together to
develop financial products
and services for delivery to
Bank One and Microsoft
customers,
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RETAIL BANKING

Each day, more than 33,000 Bank One associates are deepening our

relationships with customers by listening carefully, anticipating needs,

providing solutions, and holding themselves accountable for results.

BUILDING RELATIONSHIPS

ONE CUSTOMER AT A TIME

In retail banking, our focus is on help-
ing consumers and small business
owners achieve their financial goals.
For the nearly 7.3 million houscholds
who bank with us, that might mean
helping them take advantage of new
tax laws to save for a child’s education,
plan for retirement, evaluate insurance
needs, or weigh the benefits of a home
equity loan.

For our nerwork of 500,000 small
business customers, it means going
beyond just traditional banking to pro-
vide things like cash flow management
tools, payroll services, employee health
insurance, or succession planning serv-
ices — products and services once used

primarily by larger companies.

EMPOWERING OUR PEOPLE

We realize that our people perform
best when backed by technology that
gives them the information they need
to make smart decisions. That’s why

we invested approximately $79 million

this year alone to upgrade and convert
to company-wide technology systems.

Even as we move toward common
systems, customer service is our top
priority. By taking the time to reach
out to customers before our conver-
sions in Texas, Utah, Arizona, and
Louisiana, we smoothed the transition
and enhanced our customer relation-
ships. In fact, 14,500 customers we
spoke with during the conversions
took the time to open a new Premier
One® account with us.

Our customer service and technology
investments are paying off at the
branch-level. Using enhanced e-business
technology, for example, our banking
center managers now have quick access
to — and responsibility for — their own
profit and loss statements.

These P&Ls, accompanied by
online management training and best
practices tools, are helping our man-
agers run their business as owners,
giving them the information they
need to work most effectively at the

local level.

LEVERAGING OUR STRENGTHS

The geographic breadth of our retail
franchise — 1,800 banking centers in 14
states — positions us well to balance a
wide range of national trends — from
expanding customer felationships in
high-growth markets to serving an
increasingly mobile customer base.

In addition to our geographic
breadth, we are working harder than
ever to help meet customer needs by
bringing together the best Bank One
has to offer.

Working with our partners in Bank
One’s commercial banking, credit card,
and investment management units, we
can now provide customers with access
to virtually any financial product or
service they may need.

But our work is just beginning.
Technology and regulatory advances are
changing what it means to be a retail
bank. By listening to our customers and
responding with solutions that meet
their individual needs, we believe we're
well positioned not just to win in this

new world, but to help define it.

Two years ago, Bank One
customer David Weaver
felt like “just another
number.” In fact, he was
moving his accounts to
another bank when

branch manager Kenyon
Warren {right) interceded
and asked for one more
shot. “David had legit-
mate concerns,” said
Kenyon. “I simply tock

BANK ONE CORPORATION 16

the time to listen and fix
the service issues — not
just for David, but for our
other customers as well.”
Today, David has expanded
his relationship with Bamnk

One to include cash
management services and
instaliment loans that are
helping him manage and
grow his businesses. “My
needs are unique and my
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team at Bank One under-
stands that,” says David,
who clearly doesn’t feel
fike a number anymore.
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INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT GROUP

Institutions and individuals look to us for help in accumulating, grow-

ing, protecting, and transferring wealth. With more than $142 billion

in assets under management, we are 2 proven leader in our field.

FUELING GROWTH IN

CHALLENGING TIMES

This was an exceptional year for the
Investment Management Group: in a
year that saw the value of market
assets declining, we grew assets under
management by 9% to $142.6 billion.

Our growth was driven by three fac-
tors: our continued ability to deliver
solid risk-adjusted performance, our
successful efforts to expand product
availability, and a strengthened focus
on teaming within Bank One.

At the heart of the Investment
Management Group is Banc One
Investment Advisors — our SEC-regis-
tered investment advisory group that
ranks among the top 40 asset man-
agers in the country.

Last year, more than half of our
One Group® Mutual Funds
rated 4- or 5-stars by Morningstar,

were

placing us among the best performers
in the industry.

In a recent report rating our One
Group® Mutual Funds “number one
in the bank channel in 2001,” Mutual

Fund Market News

investors like us for our “reasonable

wrote that
fees, adroit stock-picking ability and
lack of style drift.” (In other words, we
do what we say were going to do, we
do it well and we price it right. Is there

any other way to do business?)

EXPANDING OUR CUSTOMER BASE
This year we also stepped up our com-
mitment to expand our customer
base.

Within Bank One, our institutional
customers accounted for $83.2 billion
of our assets under management, up
30% from $63.8 billion in 2000.

We also reached out to Bank One
retail banking customers, completing
the year with four consecutive quarters
of record retail investment sales and
year-over-year-growth of 14%.

Our record of performance has also
earned us the trust of numerous bro-
kerage and financial advisory firms
who sell our mutual funds. In 2001,
third-party sales of One Group® funds
were up 75%.

PARTNERING TO SERVE WEALTHY
INDIVIDUALS
Realizing that high net worth individ-
uals have special needs, our Private
Client Services group helps qualified
customers manage and grow wealth.
Using an advisory approach, we are
able to draw upon the best minds in
each element of financial planning to
customize solutions. Our particular
expertise in working with owners of
privately held companies has allowed
us to serve an increasing number of
in Bank One’s Middle
Market banking segment.

customers

PERFORMANCE-DRIVEN RESULTS

Our growth strategy for the coming
year is to continue on the path set in
2001. As economic conditions continue
to fluctuate, we are challenging our-
selves to continue delivering solid risk-
adjusted performance to a growing
customer base. Ultimately, in our busi-
ness, thats how all of us distinguish

ourselves in the marketplace.

When Utilities, inc. began
the process of selling their
company, investment spe-
cialist Sarah Norris (right)
and several other members
of the Private Client
Services team provided

guidance to company
Chairman Jim Camaren
and President/ CFQ Larry
Schumacher for transition-
ing their wealth.

“For years, 39% of our
money has been tied up in
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the company and we've
been there to watch and
protect it,”” said Camaren,
who has been working with
Private Client Services for
nearly a decade. “Once the
sale of our company is

finalized, we'll need a
knowledgeable partner

to heip us out,” said
Schumtacher. “Bank One
has been Hilities, inc.'s
business bank for over 35
years. On both the business

2001 ANNUAL REPORT

and the personal side, our
bankers not oniy ‘get it’
but they make things so
easy that working with them
during this next stage in
our lives is simply natural.”
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PLANNING GROUP

Pictured left to right, Back row: Charles W. Scharf, William 1. Campbell (Advisor), David E. Donavan, Philip G. Heasley,
James S. Boshart Ill Middle row: Christine A. Edwards, Austin A. Adams, Linda Bammann, R. Michael Welborn,
David J. Kundert Front row: James Dimon, Sarah L. McClelland
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James Dimon
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Austin A, Adams
Head of Technology and Operations

Linda Bammann
Chief Risk Management Officer

James S. Boshart i}
President and CEQ

Commercial Banking

James Dimon*
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Bank One Corporation

John K. Bryan!

Retired Chairman

and Chief Executive Officer
Sara Lee Corporation
{CONSUMER PRODUCTS)

James S. Crown >*

General Partner

Henry Crown and Company
{(Not Incorporated)

(DIVERSIFIED INVESTMENTS)

Dr. Maureen A. Fay, 0.R2**
President

University of Detroit Mercy
(EDUCATION)

John R. Hall >*

Retired Chairman

and Chief Executive Officer
Ashland, Inc.

(CHEMICAL REFINER, MANUFACTURER
AND DISTRIBUTOR})

PLANNING GROUP

William 1. Campbell
Adpvisor

David E. Donovan
Head of Human Resources

Christine A. Edwards
Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

Philip G. Heasley
President and CEQ
First USA

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Laban P Jackson, Jr.®

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Clear Creek Properties, Inc.

(REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT)

John W. Kessler?

Owner

John W. Kessler Company
(REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT)

Richard A. Manoogian *

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Masco Corporation

(DIVERSIFIED MANUFACTURER)

William T. McCormick, Jr.!

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
CMS Energy Corporation

(DIVERSIFIED ENERGY)

Heidi G. Miller *

Vice Chairman

Marsh, Inc.

(INSURANCE AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES)

David J. Kundert
President and CEQ
Investment Management

Sarah L. McClelland
Chief Auditor

Charles W. Scharf
Chief Financial Officer

R. Michael Welborn
President and CEQ
Retail Banking

David C. Novak*

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Tricon Global Restaurants, Inc.
(RESTAURANT OPERATIONS)

John W. Regers, Jr.*

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Ariel Capital Management, Inc.
(INSTITUTIONAL MONEY MANAGEMENT)

Frederick P Stratton, Jr.12
Chairman of the Board

Briggs & Stratton Corporarion
(ENGINE MANUFACTURER)

Robert D, Walter ¥4 ¢, Retiring in 2002}
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Cardinal Health, Inc.

(PHARMACEUTICAL SERVICES)

 Member of the Audit and Risk Management Commirtee

2 Member of the Organization, Compensation, and
Nominating Committee

3 Member of the Public Responsibility Committee

4 Member of the Executive Committee
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BECOMING

We stand on the shoulders of those who came before us.
Bank One Corporation represents more than 140 financial institutions that have come together to form one
great company. The follewing are just a few of the distinguished institutions that have served customers
threugheut eur long history:

BaniqOne

~ Union Savings & Trust Company, founded-1812

- ‘Winters National Corporation, founded 1815

— The .?Vlaraine Corporation, founded 1839

- ‘American Fletcher €orporation, founded 1839

~ Bamiitz Bank, founded 1850

- Ma;ijle Corporation of Springfield, founded 1851
— Liberty National Bancorp, founded-1854

- City National Bank & Trust Company, founded 1868
- The First Huntington National Bank, founded 1872
- Team Bank, founded 1873

- Affiliated Bankshares of Colorado, founded 1874
- Premier Bancorp, founded 1882

- Liberty Bancorp of Oklahoma, founded 1895

- Valley National Corporation, founded 1899

— MCorp Bank, founded 1916

- Firestone Bank, founded 1916

— First Commerce Corporation, founded 1933

— Valley Bank & Trust Company, founded 1948

~ First USA, founded 1985

BANK ONE CORPORATION 22 12001

Eirst NBDICorperation

Wayne State Bank, founded 1854

The First National Bank of Chicago, founded 1863
INB Financial Corporation, founded 1863

Gainer Corporation, founded 1865 '

First National Bank of Plymouth, founded 1871
Midwest Commerce Corporation, founded 1872
Genesee Merchants Bank & Trust Company, founded 1872
Gary-Wheaton Bank, founded 1874

Metropolitan National Bank, founded 1884
Wolverine State Bank, founded 1887

Winnetka Trust & Savings Bank, founded 1894
West Michigan Financial Corporation, founded 1895
Roscommon State Bank, founded 1907

Peoples State Bank of Belleville, founded 1913
Union Bancorp, founded 1918

American National Bank, founded 1928

National Bank of Detroit, founded 1933
Ravenswood Financial Corporation, founded 1933

Lake Shore Bancorp, founded 1943
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
BANK ONE CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

(In millions, except ratios and per share data) 2001 2000 1999 1998 1897
Income Statement Data:
Total revenue, net of interest expense $ 15,861 $ 13,926 |$ 17,713 | $ 17,418 | $ 16,155
Net interest income-fully taxable-equivalent (“FTE") basis 8,769 8,974 9,142 9,469 9,619
Noninterest income 7,223 5,090 8,692 8,071 6,694
Provision for credit losses 2,510 3,398 1,249 1,408 1,988
Noninterest expense 9,551 11,608 11,490 11,545 9,740
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change

in accounting principle 2,682 (511) 3,479 3,108 2,960
Net income (loss) 2,638 (511) 3,479 3,108 2,860

Per Common Share Data:
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle:

Basic $ 228 $ (0.45) |% 297 | % 265 | % 2.48
Dituted 2.28 (0.45) 2.95 2.61 2.43
Net income (loss):
Basic $ 225 $ (0.45) |% 297 | $ 265 | % 2.48
Diluted 2.24 (0.45) 2.95 2.61 2.43
Cash dividends declared 0.84 1.26 1.68 1.52 1.38
Book value 17.33 15.90 17.34 17.31 16.03
Balance Sheet Data-Ending Balances:
Loans:
Managed $218,102 $236,492 |$229,196 | $216,391 | $196,993
Reported 156,733 174,251 163,877 155,398 159,579
Deposits 167,530 167,077 162,278 161,542 153,726
Long-term debt 43,418 40,911 35,435 22,298 21,546
Total assets:
Managed 306,304 309,096 315,064 305,781 278,439
Reported 268,954 269,300 269,425 261,496 239,372
Common stockholders’ equity 20,226 18,445 19,900 20,370 18,724
Total stockholders’ equity 20,226 18,635 20,090 20,560 19,050
Credit Quality Ratios:
Net charge-offs to average loans—-managed 2.53% 2.03% 2.13% 2.00% 2.07%
Allowance for credit losses to period-end loans 2.89 2.36 1.39 1.46 1.77
Nonperforming assets to related assets 2.35 1.48 1.02 0.83 0.68
Financial Performance Ratios:
Return (loss) on average assets 0.98% (0.19)% 1.36% 1.30% 1.29%
Return (loss) on average common equity 13.4 (2.7) 17.1 15.9 15.8
Net interest margin:
Managed 4.89 4.76 5.37 5.56 5.50
Reported 3.69 3.72 4.09 4.52 4.75
Efficiency ratio:
Managed 49.2 66.7 54.5 57.6 53.2
Reported 53.7 825 64.4 65.8 59.7

Capital Ratios:
Risk-based capital:

Tier 1 8.6% 7.3% 7.7% 7.9% 8.2%
Total 12.2 10.8 10.7 11.3 12.3
Tangible common equity/tangible managed assets 5.9 5.5 5.7 5.8 6.2

Common Stock Data:
Average shares outstanding:

Basic 1,166 1,154 1,168 1,170 1,176
Diluted @ 1,174 1,154 1,178 1,189 1,213
Stock price, year-end $ 39.05 ¢ 3663 |$ 3200 |$ 5106 |$ 49.37
Stock dividends - - - 10% -
Employees ¥ 73,519 80,778 87,735 92,800 95,900

(1
(2
(3

Common equivalent shares and related income were excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share for the year-ended December 31, 2000 as the effect was antidilutive.

Includes trust preferred capital securities.

The year ended December 31, 2001 includes $92 million of charge-offs which are not classified as such in the Corporation’s GAAP financial information because they
are part of a portfolio which has been accounted for as loans held at a discount. The inclusion of this amount in charge-offs more accurately reflects the credit per-
formance of the portfolio. In the Corporation’s financial statements, this item results in a higher provision in excess of net charge-offs.

=

Beginning in 2001, employees on long-term disability and employees of unconsolidated subsidiaries are excluded. Prior period data have not been reclassified for this change.
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OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

The Corporation’s consolidated operating financial results and ratios at December 31 are as follows:

2000

(In millions, except ratios and per share data) 2001 2000 Adjusted 1999
Operating income (loss) $2,804 $ (409) $1,751 $4,076
Operating earnings per share-diluted $ 2.47 $(0.35) $ 1.52 $ 3.46
Return (loss) on average assets 1.09% (0.15)% 0.63% 1.49%
Return (loss) on average common equity 14.7 (2.1) 8.8 18.9
Net interest margin:

Managed 4.89 4.76 4.76 5.37

Reported 3.69 3.72 3.72 4.09
Efficiency ratio:

Managed 47.4 65.8 54.7 51.8

Reported 57.5 81.4 66.4 61.3

These results and ratios exclude merger and restructuring-related charges and, change in accounting and the 2000 adjusted and 1999

ratios exclude items outlined in the Significant Items table on page 42.

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

BANK ONE CORPORATION and subsidiaries (“Bank One” or
the “Corporation”) is a diversified financial holding company that
offers a full range of financial services to consumers and commer-
cial customers. Bank One is:
o Aleader in retail and small business banking
° A premier provider of lending, treasury management,

and capital markets products to commercial customers
°  The third largest credit card issuer in the United States

e A leading investment management company

Basis of Presentation

The Corporation’s financial statements are based on the application
of generally accepted accounting principles, which are described in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements starting on page
74. Certain accounting principles involve significant management
judgment, including the use of assumptions and estimates. By their
nature, changes in the assumptions and estimates potentially could

significantly affect the Corporation’s financial position and resules of

BANK ONE CORPORATION

operations. The Corporation’s accounting policies are discussed
throughout this Financial Review section.

Management’s discussion and analysis may contain forward-
locking statements provided to assist in the understanding of antic-
ipated future financial performance. However, such performance
involves risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to
differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking state-
ments. See page 69 for a discussion of these factors.

For funding and risk management purposes, the
Corporation periodically securitizes loans, primarily in support of
credit card activities. The accounting for securitizations compli-
cates the understanding of underlying trends in net interest
income, net interest margin and noninterest income, as well as the
underlying growth rates of reported loans. For clarification, these
trends are also reviewed on a “managed” basis, which adds data on
securitized credit card loans to reported data on loans. Results on
a managed basis, where presented, should be read in conjunction
with reported results. See page 65 for the reconciliation of

reported to managed results.
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BUSINESS

SEGMENTS

The Corporation is managed on a line of business basis. The business segments’ financial results presented reflect the current organiza-

tion of the Corporation. The following table summarizes certain financial information by line of business for the periods indicated.

Operating/Net Income (Loss)

Average Managed Assets

(In millions) (In billions)
2001 @ 2000 @ 1999 20041 2000 1999

Retail $1,272 $ 414 $1,041 $ 78.9 $ 79.0 $ 725
Commercial Banking 724 (115) 906 104.2 114.5 109.7
First USA 946 3 1,135 68.7 70.0 74.9
Investment Management 374 322 317 8.4 7.6 7.1
Corporate (409) (1,033) 677 47.5 43.9 38.0
Total business segment operating

income (loss), net of tax 2,904 (409) 4,076 $307.4 $315.0 $302.2
Accounting change, net of tax (44) — -
Merger and restructuring-related charges,

net of tax {222) (102) (351)
Other significant items, net of tax — — (246)

Total Corporation net income (loss) $2,638 $ (511) $3,479

(1) During 2001, the tax-oriented portfolio of Corporate Investments was transferred to Commercial Banking, while the principal investments and fixed income portfolios
were transferred to Corporate. All results for prior periods conform to the current line of business organization.

(2) Beginning in the second quarter of 2000, the provision for credit losses was fully allocated to the appropriate lines of business. Prior to the second quarter of 2000,
the business’ provision was based upon standard credit costs, with any difference between the aggregate provision of the businesses and the Corporation’s total

reflected in Corporate,

Description of Methodology

The results of the business segments are intended to reflect each as
if it were a stand-alone business. The management reporting
process that derives these results allocates income and expenses
using market-based methodologies. Funds transfer pricing is used
to allocate interest income and expense to each line of business. A
portion of the Corporation’s interest rate risk position is currently
included in Corporate.

Historically, the costs of certain support units were allocated
to the lines of business based on factors other than usage, such as
headcount and total assets. The methodology was changed in the
third quarter of 2000 to better reflect the actual cost and usage of
services provided and was consistently applied to all lines of busi-
ness. Costs allocated to First USA decreased, while unallocated
costs that are included in Corporate increased.

The lines of business are assigned capital that reflects the under-
lying risk in that business. See the “Capital Management” section on
page 67 for a discussion of the economic capital framework.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

For 1999, the effect of certain identified transactions were not
attributed to any business segment since they were not considered

a part of core business activities.

BUSINESS SEGMENT RESULTS AND OTHER DATA
The information provided in the line of business tables beginning
with the caption entitled “Financial Performance” is included
herein for analytical purposes only and is based on management
information systems, assumptions and methodologies that are
under continual review.

The financial information and supplemental data presented
in the tables below for the respective lines of business are reported
on an actual basis. However, to assist with the analysis of underly-
ing trends, the discussion of business segment results excludes
merger and restructuring-related charges and the impact of the
2000 and 1999 significant items noted in the “Significant Irems”
section on pages 41—42.

26
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Retail
Retail provides a broad range of financial products and services,
including deposits, investments, loans, insurance, and interactive
banking to nearly 7.3 million households and 500,000 small busi-
ness customers, over 1 million of whom are registered online users.
Products and services are delivered to customers through
approximately 33,000 employees, 1,800 branches in 14 states, a
large network of ATM’s, bankone.com, and 24-hour telephone

banking. THE ONE Card, issued by Retail, is one of the country’s
leading debit cards for individuals and small businesses, with 4.4
million cards issued.

Retail originates consumer credit nationwide through its
banking centers, relationships with brokers, the Internet, and the
telephone. Retail offers real estate-secured, education, tax refund,
consumer installment loans, and auto loans and leases to individuals.

Retail is also a leading lender to small businesses.

(Dollars in millions) 2001 2000 | 1999
Net interest income-FTE $ 5,025 $ 4,895 $ 4,379
Banking fees and commissions ¥ 458 473 N/A
Credit card revenue @ 164 144 N/A
Service charges on deposits @ 795 767 N/A
Fiduciary and investment management fees ¥ - 1 N/A
Other income (loss) 25 (767) N/A
Noninterest income 1,442 618 1,541
Total revenue 6,467 5,513 5,820
Provision for credit losses 1,010 870 415
Salaries and employee benefits 1,482 1,562 N/A
Other expense 1,985 2,443 N/A
Noninterest expense 3,477 3,995 3,833
Operating pretax income-FTE 1,880 648 1,572
Tax expense and FTE adjustment 708 234 531
Operating income 1,272 414 1,041
Merger and restructuring-related charges, net of tax {66) (25) -

Net income

$ 1,206 $ 389 $ 1,041

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:

Return on equity 21% 7% 23%
Efficiency ratio 54 72 66
Headcount-full-time ® 33,455 35,759 N/A
ENDING BALANCES (in billions):
Small business commercial $ 12.3 $ 121 N/A
Home equity 30.3 31.4 N/A
Vehicles:
Loans 13.5 14.3 N/A
Leases 6.1 8.8 N/A
Other personal 9.8 10.7 N/A
Total loans 72.0 77.3 N/A
Assets 76.2 80.0 N/A
Demand deposits 25.8 24.9 N/A
Savings 36.1 32.0 N/A
Time 25.6 32.2 N/A
Total deposits 87.5 89.1 N/A
Equity 6.3 5.9 N/A

BANK ONE CORPORATION
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(Dollars in millions) 20041 2000 1999
AYERAGE BALANCES (in billions):
Small business commercial $ 122 $ 11.7 $ 11.0
Home equity 30.8 27.7 20.1
Vehicles:
Loans 13.9 14.3 13.2
Leases 7.3 9.9 10.2
Other personal 10.5 11.0 11.6
Total loans 74.7 74.6 66.1
Assets 78.9 79.0 72.5
Demand deposits 24.2 24.6 N/A
Savings 34.1 334 N/A
Time 29.4 304 N/A
Total deposits 87.7 88.4 89.1
Equity 8.2 5.8 4.6
CREDIT QUALITY (in millions):
Net charge-offs:
Small business commercial $ 71 $ 44 N/A
Home equity 375 181 N/A
Vehicles:
Loans @ 246 138 N/A
Leases 939 70 N/A
Other personal 122 109 N/A
Total consumer 842 498 N/A
Total net charge-offs ¥ 213 542 N/A
Net charge-off ratios:
Small business commercial 0.58% 0.38% N/A
Home equity 1.22 0.65 N/A
Vehicles:
Loans 1.77 0.97 N/A
Leases 1.38 0.70 N/A
Other personal 1.18 1.00 N/A
Total consumer " 1.35 0.79 N/A
Total net charge-offs " 1.22 0.73 N/A
Nonperforming assets: N\
Small business commercial $ 329 $ 215 N/A
Consumer ‘® 1,044 697 N/A
Total nonperforming loans 1,370 912 N/A
Other, including Other Real Estate Owned (“OREQ”) 104 83 N/A
Total nonperforming assets 1,474 995 N/A
Allowance for credit losses $4,040 $ 846 N/A
Allowance to period-end loans 1.44% 1.09% N/A
Allowance to nonperforming loans 76 93 N/A
Nonperforming assets to related assets 2.04 1.29 N/A
DISTRIBUTION:
Banking centers 4,802 1,810 1,854
ATMs 5,144 6,055 6,824
# On-line customers (in thousands) 1,083 918 488
# Households (in thousands) 7,258 7,679 N/A
# Business customers (in thousands) 508 519 N/A
# Debit cards issued (in thousands) 4,444 4,159 N/A
INVESTMENTS:
Investment sales volume (in millions) $4,867 $4,272 4,077
N/M-=Not meaningful. (5) Ratios are based on operating income,
N/A-Not available due to changes in segment composition. (6) Beginning in 2001, employees on long-term disability and employees of unconsoli-
(1) Banking fees and commissions include insurance fees, documentary fees, loan dated subsidiaries are excluded. Prior period data has not been reclassified.
servicing fees, commitment fees, mutual fund commissions, syndicated manage- (7) The year ended December 31, 2001 includes $92 million of charge-offs which are
ment fees, leasing fees, safe deposit fees, official checks fees, ATM interchange not classified as such in the Corporation's GAAP financial information because they
and miscellaneous other fee revenue. are part of a portfolio which has been accounted for as loans held at a discount.

The inclusion of this amount in charge-offs more accurately reflects the credit per-
formance of the portfolio. In the Corporation’s financial statements, this item
resuits in a higher provision in excess of net charge-offs.

(2} Credit card revenue includes credit card fees, merchant fees and interchange fees.

(3) Service charges on deposits include service charges on deposits, deficient balance

fees, non-sufficient funds/overdraft fees and waived fees.
o . . (8) Includes consumer balances that are placed on nonaccrual status when the collec-
(4) Fiduciary and investment management fees include asset management fees, per- tion of contractual principal or interest becomes 90 days past due.

sonal trust fees, other trust fees and advisory fees.
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2001 compared to 2000

Retail reported operating income of $1.272 billion in 2001 com-
pared to $870 million in 2000. The prior years operating income
reflected an adjustment for significant items totaling $456 million
after tax. The $402 million, or 46%, year-over-year increase on an
adjusted basis was principally driven by a $300 million after tax
reduction in noninterest expense.

Net interest income was $5.025 billion for the year, up $116
million, or 2%, from the prior year due to lower rates, improved
spreads on the indirect auto loan portfolio and 11% growth in
average home equity outstandings. December loan balances were
down $5.3 billion from the prior year as Retail managed reductions
in certain segments of auto lease and brokered home equity loan
portfolios while direct home equity loans grew.

Deposits gcneratcd a narrower margin compared to 2000,
reflecting the lower rate environment and a decline in average bal-
ances. Favorable mix changes from time to savings helped mitigate
the impact of lower rates and balances. More positive trends
emerged late in 2001 as demand deposit balances posted 2%
growth from the fourth quarter of 2000 to the fourth quarter of
2001. This growth was accompanied by a 5% increase in new
accounts year over year.

Noninterest income was $1.442 billion, up $174 million, or
14%, compared to 2000. The absence of lease residual losses and
higher fee revenue from deposit accounts and investment sales were
partially offset by gains from the sale of miscellaneous assets in
2000. Sales of mutual funds and annuities totaled $4.9 billion in
the year, up $595 million, or 14%, from the prior year.

The provision for credit losses was $1.010 billion, up $151
million, or 18%, from 2000. Managed net charge-offs were $913
million, up $371 million from the prior year. Charge-offs on bro-
kered home equity loans and auto loans and leases were the
primary drivers of Retail’s year over year increase.

Nonperforming assets were $1.474 billion, up $479 million, or
48%, compared to 2000, driven primarily by an increase in brokered

home equity nonperforming loans. Nonperforming assets were
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2.04% of related assets in the year, up from 1.29% the previous year.
The allowance for credit losses expressed as a percent of year-end
loans increased to 1.44% compared to 1.09% a year ago.
Noninterest expense was $3.477 billion, down $473 million,
or 12%, from the prior year driving an improvement in the effi-
ciency ratio from 64% in 2000 to 54% in the current year. The
consolidation of operating sites in 2000 and 2001 and berter
overall expense management in Retail, and throughout the
Corporation, drove the efficiency improvement. In addition,
staffing levels were down 2,600 year over year leading to a2 4%

decrease in salary and benefit expense.

2000 compared to 1999

Retail reported operating income of $870 million in 2000, down
from $1.041 billion in 1999. The $171 million reduction was
driven by lower noninterest income and higher provision expense
partially offset by higher net interest income.

Net interest income increased $530 million, or 12%, from
1999, reflecting 13% growth in average loans, wider deposit spreads
and improved pricing on indirect auto loans, partially offset by a
shift in deposit mix toward higher rate certificates of deposit. Loan
growth was driven by a 38% increase in average home equity loans,
partially offset by a decline in other personal loans.

Noninterest income declined $273 million, or 18%, from
1999. Lease residual losses were $126 million higher in 2000 than
1999, while gains from the sale of miscellaneous assets were down
$83 million.

Provision for credit losses increased $444 million in 2000.
This principally reflected the significant growth in home equity
loans, higher net charge-offs, and increases in home equity non-
performing loans.

Noninterest expense was $17 million higher in 2000 than
1999, principally related to investments in new internet capabili-
ties, partially offset by positive impacts from waste reduction ini-
tiatives, reduced incentive compensation, and the sale of the

consumer finance business.
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Commercial Banking

Commercial Banking offers a broad array of products, including
global cash management, capital markets, commercial cards,
investment management, and lending to Corporate Banking and
Middle Market customers.

Corporate Banking serves large corporations, financial insti-
tutions, municipalities, and not-for-profit entities. In addition to
lending, Corporate Banking offers a wide range of financial prod-
ucts and develops, markets, and delivers cash management, capital
markets, global treasury and trade, e-business and other noncredit
products and services. Bank One’s Capital Markets business is
engaged in the origination, trading, and distribution of asset-

backed securities, investment grade and high yield securities, deriv-

atives, tax-exempt securities, and government bonds. Capital
Markets is also actively engaged in loan syndications, market
research, advisory services, and private placements.

Middle Market Banking serves approximartely 18,000 cus-
tomers with annual revenues from about $10 million up to $500
million. These customers use a wide variety of services, with nearly
one third using Bank One exclusively. Since privately held compa-
nies comprise the vast majority of the Middle Market customer
base, providing credit is fundamental to the success of this business.
The loan portfolio is diversified across a broad range of industries
and geographic locations. In addition to credit, this customer
segment actively uses Bank One’s cash management, international,

capital markets, and investment management products and services.

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2000 1999
Net interest income-FTE $ 2,702 $ 2,825 $ 2,655
Banking fees and commissions 714 605 N/A
Credit card revenue 86 75 N/A
Service charges on deposits 614 519 N/A
Fiduciary and investment management fees 3 3 N/A
Investment securities losses {12) - N/A
Trading 289 183 N/A
Other income (loss) (100) (31) N/A
Noninterest income 1,574 1,354 1,248
Total revenue 4,276 4,179 3,903
Provision for credit losses 1,070 2,217 436
Salaries and employee benefits 1,073 1,044 N/A
Other expense 1,147 1,228 N/A
Noninterest expense 2,220 2,272 2,208
Operating pretax income (loss)-FTE 986 (310) 1,259
Tax expense (benefit) and FTE adjustment 265 (195) 353
Operating income (loss) 724 (115) 206
Merger and restructuring-related charges, net of tax (46) 1 -
Net income (loss) $ 8675 $ (114) $ 906
Memo: Revenue by activity
Lending-related revenue 1,965 2,173 N/A
Treasury management services 1,432 1,029 N/A
Capital markets @ 6841 482 N/A
Other 438 495 N/A

BANK ONE CCRPORATION
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(Dollars in millions) 2001 2000 1999
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:
Return (loss) on equity © 10% (2)% 15%
Efficiency ratio ® 52 54 57
Headcount-full-time ©
Corporate Banking {(including Capital Markets) 4,341 4,779 N/A
Middle Market 3,911 4,179 N/A
Treasury Management Services 4,723 5,016 N/A
Support and Other Administrative 29 279 N/A
Total headcount—fuli-time 13,004 14,253 N/A
ENDING BALARCES (in billions):
Loans $ 704 $ 851 N/A
Assets 98.1 103.7 N/A
Demand deposits 25.2 21.2 N/A
Savings 3.1 N/A N/A
Time (+ Savings in 2000) 14.0 8.0 N/A
Foreign offices 8.6 8.5 N/A
Total deposits 50.9 37.7 N/A
Equity 7.2 7.0 N/A
AVERAGE BALANCES (in billions):
Loans $ 77.8 $ 856 $ 775
Assets 104.2 114.5 109.7
Demand deposits 21.1 21.1 N/A
Savings 2.7 N/A N/A
Time (+ Savings in 2000) 8.9 8.5 N/A
Foreign offices 8.0 9.8 N/A
Total deposits 41.6 39.4 37.7
Equity 7.2 6.8 5.9
CREDIT QUALITY (in millions):
Net commercial charge-offs $ 1,041 $ 582 N/A
Net commercial charge-off ratios 1.34% 0.66% 0.39%
Nonperforming assets:
Commercial nonperforming loans $ 2,101 $ 1,523 $ 871
Other, including OREQ 27 13 N/A
Total nonperforming assets 2,128 1,536 N/A
Aillowance for credit losses $ 3,066 $ 3,044 N/A
Allowance to period-end loans 4.37% 3.58% N/A
Allowance to nonperforming loans 146 200 N/A
Nonperforming assets to related assets 3.03 1.80 1.10%
CORPORATE BANKING (in billicns):
Loans-ending balance $ 36.6 $ 517 N/A
—average balance 43.5 53.4 47.8
Deposits—ending balance $ 28.7 $ 196 N/A
—average bhalance 23.0 21.4 12.1
Credit Quality (in millions):.
Net charge-offs $ 638 $ 435 N/A
Net charge-off ratio 1.47% 0.81% 0.53%
Nonperforming loans $ 1,154 $ 1,065 $ 578
Nonperforming loans to totai loans 3.15% 2.06% 1.12%
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(Dollars in millions) 2001 2000 1999
SYNDICATIONS:
Lead Arranger Deals:
volume (in billions) $ 53.9 $ 59.3 $47.9
Number of transactions 227 210 190
League table standing—rank 4 4 4
League table standing-market share 7% 6% 7%
MIDDLE MARKET BANKING (in billions):
Loans-ending balance $ 335 $ 334 N/A
—average balance 34.3 32.1 29.7
Deposits—ending balance 22.2 18.1 N/A
—average balance 18.8 18.2 18.6
Credit Quality (in millions).
Net charge-offs $ 403 $ 127 N/A
Net charge-off ratio 1.47% 0.40% 0.18%
Nonperforming loans $ 947 $ 458 $ 293
Nonperforming loans to total loans 2.83% 1.37% 0.93%

For additional footnote detail see page 28.

(9) Treasury Management Services includes both fees and fee equivalents from compensating balances.

(10) Capital Markets includes trading revenues and underwriting, syndicated lending and advisory fees.

(11) Full-time headcount in 2000 has been reclassified to reflect the movement of Support and Other Administrative personnel into the respective business units reported.

2001 compared to 2000

Commercial Banking reported operating income of $721 million
for 2001, up $836 million from 2000 primarily due to a signifi-
cantly lower credit provision. After adjusting for the negative
impace of $404 million after tax of significant items in 2000, oper-
ating income increased by $432 million, or 149%. The year’s
results reflected strategic efforts to reduce Corporate Banking
credit exposure and improve the cross-sell of Capital Markets and
Treasury Management products.

At December 31, 2001, loans were $70.1 billion, down $15.0
billion, or 18%, from the prior year. Corporate Banking loans were
$36.6 billion at year-end, down $15.1 billion, or 29%, from a year
ago. Middle Market loans were $33.5 billion, essentially flat from
last year.

Revenue totaled $4.276 billion, up $53 million, or 1%, from
2000, with a decline in net interest income more than offset by
growth in noninterest income, particularly in Treasury
Management and Capital Markets.

Net interest income was $2.702 billion, down $116 million,
or 4%, from the prior year reflecting the earnings impact of lower
average loan balances resulting from efforts to reduce credir risk

exposure.
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Noninterest income was $1.574 billion, up $169 million, or
12%, from the prior year. Banking fees and commissions increased
$109 million, or 18%, due to growth in the asset-backed and
investment grade underwriting business and higher business sweep
fees. Service charges on deposits increased $90 million, or 17%,
reflecting improvement in Treasury Management volumes and
pricing, as well as a shift in payment for services to fees from net
interest income due to the lower value ascribed to customers’ com-
pensating deposit balances. Trading revenue increased $42 million,
primarily reflecting improvement in fixed income trading activi-
ties. Other income decreased by $72 million mainly due to losses
on the sale of loans. :

The provision for credit losses was $1.070 billion, down $519
million, or 33%, from 2000. Net charge-offs were $1.041 billion,
up $479 million, or 85%, from the prior year and represented
1.34% of average loans, up from 0.66% in 2000. Corporate
Banking net charge-offs were $638 million, or 1.47% of average
loans, up from 0.81% in 2000. 2001 charge-offs included $216
million related to nonperforming and other credit related loan
sales. There were no losses on loan sales in 2000. Middle Market
net charge-offs were $403 million, or 1.17% of average loans, up
from 0.40% of average loans in the prior year. For additional deail

on Commercial Banking net charge-offs see the table on page 57.

32

2001 ANNUAL REPORT




The allowance for credit losses ar December 31, 2001 was
$3.066 billion, up $22 million, or 1%, from the prior year. This
represented 4.37% of year-end loans and 146% of nonperforming
loans compared with 3.58% and 200%, respectively, at December
31, 2000. Nonperforming loans were $2.101 billion, up $578
million, or 38%, from year-end 2000. Corporate Banking nonper-
forming loans at year-end were $1.154 billion, up $89 million, or
8%, from the prior year. Before reflecting the sale of nonperform-
ing loans, Corporate Banking nonperforming loans increased $671
million during the year. Middle Market nonperforming loans were
$947 million at December 31, 2001, up $489 million, or 107%,
from the prior year. For additional detail on Commercial Banking
nonperforming assets and allowance for credit losses see the tables
on page 56 and page 58, respectively.

Noninterest expense was $2.220 billion, down $87 million,
or 4%, from 2000 reflecting the impacrt of waste-reducrion efforts
and lower headcount. The 2001 efficiency ratio improved to 52%
from 55% in 2000.

2000 compared to 1999

Commercial Banking reported operating income of $289 million
for 2000 on an adjusted basis, compared with $906 million in
1999. This $617 million decrease was primarily driven by an
increase in the provision for credit losses of $1.153 billion.

Net interest income increased $163 million, or 6%, from the
prior year, driven by 10% average loan growth partially offset by a
modest decline in spread due to competitive pricing pressures and
higher nonperforming loans.

The provision for credit losses increased $1.153 billion in
2000 from the prior year due to deterioration in the quality of
loans and a higher reserve level established for the commercial loan
portfolio. The deterioration in credit quality reflected the slowing
of the economy as well as weakness in several industries and lever-
aged finance transactions.

Noninterest income of $1.405 billion increased $157 million,
or 13%, from the prior year primarily due to growth in Treasury
Management Service revenue of $71 million, or 12%, lending
related fees of $60 million, or 41%, and Capital Markers revenue
of $25 million, or 6%.

Noninterest expense increased $99 million, or 4%, from the
prior year, principally related to Treasury Management Services

investment spending.
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First USA

First USA offers a wide variety of card products, including co-
brand, affinity, rewards, business, general purpose, and smart credit
cards, as well as stored-value cards. All of these cards carry the
respective Visa® or MasterCard® brand names.

With more than 55 million cards in circulation, First USA is
the third largest credit card provider in the United States and the
largest Visa® credit card issuer in the world. First USA has $68 billion
in managed credit card receivables, which includes a portfolio of
approximately $6 billion in card receivables which was acquired from
Wachovia Corporation (“Wachovia”) in 2001. FirstUSA.com is also
a leader in online card marketing and customer service, with more
than 1.9 million registered users of its website.

First USA offers credit cards for consumers and businesses
under the First USA and Bank One names and on behalf of its
1,900 marketing partners. These partners include some of the
leading corporations, universities, and affinity organizations in the
United States.
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(Dollars in millions-managed basis) 2001 2000 1999
Net interest income—FTE $6,090 $5,835 $6,881
Banking fees and commissions - 96 112 N/A
Credit card revenue 1,146 854 N/A
Investment securities gains - 11 N/A
Trading - (1) N/A
Other income (loss) 120 (230) N/A
Noninterest income 1,362 746 1,632
Total revenue 7,452 6,581 8,513
Provision for credit losses 3,823 3,637 3,593
Salaries and employee benefits 501 517 N/A
Other expense 1,648 2,422 N/A
Noninterest expense 2,119 2,939 3,204
Operating pretax income-FTE 1,540 5 1,716
Tax expense and FTE adjustment 564 2 581
Operating income 248 3 1,135
Merger and restructuring-related charges, net of tax {3%) (4) -
Net income (loss) $ 907 $ (1) $1,135
Memo: Net securitization gains (amortization) {62) (116) 61
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:
% of average outstandings:
Net interest income-FTE 9.31% 8.81% 9.97%
Provision for credit losses 5.85 5.49 5.21
Noninterest income 2.08 1.13 2.37
Risk adjusted revenue 5.54 4.45 7.13
Noninterest expense 3.24 4.44 4.64
Pretax income-FTE 2.31 0.01 2.49
Operating income 1.45 — 1.64
Net income 1.39 - 1.64
Return on equity © 15 - 19
Efficiency ratio © 28 45 38
Headcount-full-time ©® 9,871 10,901 N/A
ENDING BALANCES (in billions):
Owned $ 6.8 $ 47 $ 4.0
Seller's interest 24.0 22.4 19.7
Loans on balance sheet 30.8 27.2 23.7
Securitized 37.4 39.8 45.7
Loans €8.2 67.0 69.4
Assets 72.7 70.5 N/A
Equity 8.4 6.2 N/A
AVERAGE BALANCES (in billions):
Owned $ 6.8 $ 4.8 N/A
Seller's interest 18.8 18.5 N/A
Loans on balance sheet 25.6 23.2 N/A
Securitized 39.8 43.0 N/A
Loans 65.4 66.2 69.0
Assets 68.7 70.0 74.9
Equity 6.3 6.1 6.0

BANK ONE CORPORATION
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(Dollars in millions)

2001 2000 1999

CREDIT QUALITY (in millions):
Net charge-offs:
Credit card—-managed

Net charge-off ratios:
Credit card—managed
12-month lagged *?

Delinquency ratio:
—30+ days
-90+ days

Allowance for credit losses
Allowance to period-end owned loans

OTHER DATA:
Charge volume (in billions)
New accounts opened (in thousands)
Cards issued (i thousands)
Number of FirstUSA.com customers (in millions)'*>

$ 3,823 $ 3,584 $ 3,790

5.84% 5.42% 5.49%
5.77 5.19 N/A
4.46 4.51 457
1.33 2.02 2.13
$ 3% $ 197 N/A
5.82% 4.19% N/A

$ 140.4 $ 1425 $ 1427

3,925 3,324 8,108
55,554 51,693 64,191
1.9 2.1 N/A

For additional footnote detail see page 28.

{12} 2001 ratio includes Wachovia net charge-offs but excludes Wachovia loans.

(13} Approximately 1 million registered users were purged in late 2001 due to inactivity.

2001 compared to 2000

First USA reported operating income of $946 million in 2001, up
from $3 million in the prior year. Adjusted for $522 million after
tax of significant itemns, 2000 operating income was $525 million.
Increased reported operating income reflected lower expenses, the
addition of the Wachovia portfolio and higher revenue, partially
offset by increased credit costs. The Corporation expects the acqui-
sition of the Wachovia portfolio to add approximately $100
million annually to after tax earnings. The pre-tax return on out-
standings was 2.3% in 2001, up from 1.3% in 2000.

Net interest income totaled $6.090 billion, up $255 million,
or 4%, from the prior year reflecting lower interest rates and the
addition of the Wachovia portfolio, partially offset by lower average
outstandings and [oan fee income. Average managed outstandings
were $65.4 billion, down $800 million, or 1%, from the prior year.
End of period managed loans were $68.2 billion, up $1.2 billion
from the prior year. First USA opened 3.9 million new accounts
during the year, an 18% increase from the prior year. At December
31, 2001, 55.6 million cards were issued.

Noninterest income was $1.362 billion, a $149 million, or
12%, increase from the prior year reflecting the addition of the
Wachovia portfolio and increased securitization activity.

The managed provision for credit losses was $3.823 billion, a
$221 million, or 6%, increase from the prior year reflecting the
addition of the Wachovia portfolio and increased net charge-offs.

Noninterest expense totaled $2.119 billion, a $499 million,
or 19%, decrease from the prior year, reflecting lower fraud and
operational losses, processing costs and a decrease in internally allo-
cated costs related to a mid-year 2000 change in methodology.

The decline from last year also reflected the sale of international

BANK ONE CORPORATION

operations in the second quarter of 2000. These reductions were
partially offset by the addition of the Wachovia portfolio and

higher marketing expense.

2000 compared to 1999

First USA reported operating income of $525 million for 2000,
down $610 million, or 54%, from 1999. A decline in revenue was
partially offset by lower expenses. The 2000 results represented a
1.3% return on outstandings, down from 2.5% in 1999.

Net interest income was $5.835 billion, down $1.046 billion,
or 15%, from 1999, reflecting narrower spread, lower late fee
revenue, and lower average outstandings. Average managed out-
standings for 2000 were $66.2 billion, down 4% from 1999. End
of period managed loans declined to $67.0 billion, or 3%. First
USA opened 3.3 million accounts in 2000, down 59% from 1999,

Noninterest income was $1.213 billion, down $419 million,
or 26%, from 1999, due to decreased securitization activity and
higher revenue sharing payments to partnership and affinity groups
reflecting the emphasis on these growing customer groups. In addi-
tion, lower revenue from fee-based products contributed to the
decline as well as the prior year’s inclusion of $126 million of non-
recufring items.

The provision for credit losses was $3.602 billion, relatively
flac with 1999. The charge-off rate decreased slightly to 5.42%
from 5.49% in 1999. The 1999 charge-offs included $183 million
from the early adoption of the Federal Financial Institutions
Examination Council’s (FFIEC) revised consumer credit guide-
lines. At year-end, the managed 30-day and 90-day delinquency
rates were 4.51% and 2.02%, respectively, down from 4.57% and

2.13% a year earlier.
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Noninterest expense was $2.618 billion, down $586 million,
or 18%, from 1999, reflecting a decline in marketing expenses,
improved operating efficiencies, lower processing costs, the sale of
the international operations, and a decrease in internally allocated
costs related to a mid-year 2000 change in methodology. These
positive impacts were partially offset by increased fraud and opera-

tional losses.

Investment Management

The Investment Management Group (IMG) provides investment,
insurance, trust and private banking services to individuals. IMG
also provides investment and investment related services, including
retirement and custody services, securities lending and corporate
trust to institutions.

IMG’s registered investment advisory arm, Banc One
Investment Advisors, ranks among the nation’s top asset managers
with more than $142 billion in assets under management. In addi-
tion, IMG manages One Group® Mutual Funds, one of the largest
mutual fund complexes with 50 funds and more than $83 billion

in assets under management. Performance of the funds continues
to remain strong. 88% of the assets are in funds ranked 3 stars or
better and 57% of the assets are in funds ranked 4 stars or better
by Morningstar.

Private Client Services (PCS) helps manage and build wealth
for high net worth clients. PCS provides integrated financial advice
and services such as brokerage, investments and alternative asset
management, personal trust, private banking, insurance and finan-
cial planning through over 600 client advisors.

The Retail Investment Services (RIS) business serves Bank
One’s retail customer base by delivering investment products and
services through 1,800 banking centers in 14 states. RIS teams
have more than 3,000 licensed bankers in Bank One retail banking
centers to deliver high quality investment and insurance products.

The Global Corporate Trust business ranks among the three
largest providers in the country for bond trustee services. These
services are provided to governmental and municipal entities, as

well as a broad range of middle market and large institutions.

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2000 1999
Net interest income-FTE $ 427 $ 409 $ 376
Banking fees and commissions 480 354 N/A
Service charges on deposits 17 16 N/A
Fiduciary and investment management fees 751 780 N/A
Other income ik 11 N/A
Noninterest income 1,259 1,161 1,179
Total revenue 1,686 1,570 1,555
Provision for credit losses 38 13 2
Salaries and employee benefits 564 554 N/A
Other expense 488 495 N/A
Noninterest expense 1,052 1,049 1,075
Operating pretax income-FTE 598 508 478
Tax expense and FTE adjustment 222 186 161
Operating income 374 322 317
Merger and restructuring-related charges, net of tax (12) — -
Net income $ 362 $ 322 $ 317
Memo: Insurance revenues 437.2 357.2 N/A
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:
Return on equity *® 37% 36% 35%
Efficiency ratio® 62 67 69
Headcount—full-time ® 6,074 6,562 N/A
ENDING BALANCES (in billions):
Loans $ 7.2 $ 7.0 N/A
Assets 8.6 8.1 N/A
Demand deposits 2.8 3.3 N/A
Savings 3.3 2.2 N/A
Time 3.2 4.0 N/A
Foreign offices 0.2 0.1 N/A
Total deposits 9.5 9.6 N/A
Equity 1.4 1.0 N/A

BANK ONE CORPORATION

36

2001 ANNUAL REPORT




(Dollars in millions) 2004 2000 1999
AVERAGE BALANCES (in billions):
Loans $ 6.9 $ 66 $ 57
Assets 8.4 7.6 71
Demand deposits 2.0 2.5 N/A
Savings 2.8 1.9 N/A
Time 3.3 4.0 N/A
Foreign offices 0.2 0.2 N/A
Total deposits 8.2 8.5 8.8
Equity 1.0 0.9 0.9
CREDIT QUALITY (in millions):
Net charge-offs:
Commercial $ 27 N/A N/A
Consumer 7 N/A N/A
Total net charge-offs 34 N/A N/A
Net charge-off ratios:
Commercial 0.81% N/A N/A
Consumer 0.19 N/A N/A
Total net charge-off ratio 0.49 N/A N/A
Nonperforming assets:
Commercial $ 38 $ 36 N/A
Consumer 4 4 N/A
Total nonperforming loans 42 40 N/A
Other including OREQ 1 — N/A
Total nonperforming assets 43 40 N/A
Allowance for credit losses $ 25 $ 22 N/A
Allowance to period-end loans 0.35% 0.31% N/A
Allowance to nonperforming loans 80 55 N/A
Nonperforming assets to related assets 0.80 0.57 N/A
ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT ENDING BALANCES (in billions):
Mutual funds $ 83.5 $ 70.4 $ 64.4
Other 59.4 60.8 64.5
Total 142.6 131.2 128.9
By type:
Money market $ 58.5 $ 43.1 N/A
Equity 47.3 53.5 N/A
Fixed income 36.8 34.6 N/A
Total 142.6 131.2 128.9
By channel:
Private client services $ 49.7 $ 58.3 N/A
Retail brokerage 9.7 9.1 N/A
Institutional 61.2 47.9 N/A
Commercial cash sweep 9.8 8.6 N/A
All other 12.2 7.3 N/A
Total 142.6 131.2 128.9
Morningstar Rankings:
Percentage of customer assets in 4 and 5 ranked funds 57% 49% 54%
Percentage of customer assets in 3+ ranked funds 83 99 84
TRUST ASSETS ENDING BALANCES:
Trust assets under administration (in éillions) $352.5 $319.4 N/A
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(Dollars in millions) 2004 2000 1999
CORPORATE TRUST SECURITIES ENDING BALANCES:
Corporate trust securities under administration (in éillions) $988.6 $751.1 N/A
RETAIL BROKERAGE:
Mutual fund sales (in millions) $2,284 $2,613 N/A
Annuity sales 2,583 1,659 N/A
Total sales 4,887 4,272 4,077
Number of accounts—end of period (ir thousands) 394 384 349
Market value customer assets—end of period (in éillions) $ 23.4 $ 23.1 $ 234
Number of registered sales representatives 724 700 N/A
Number of licensed retail bankers 3,042 2,689 N/A
Annuity account value (ir billions) $ 8.7 $ 6.8 N/A
PRIVATE CLIENT SERVICES:
Number of Private Client advisors 641 747 N/A
Number of Private Client offices 105 104 N/A
Client Assets:
Assets under management (in billions) $ 49.7 $ 58.3 N/A
Ending Balances (in éillions):
Loans $ 7.0 $ 6.7 N/A
Deposits 7.6 7.2 N/A
Average Balances (in billions):
Loans $ 8.9 $ 6.4 $ 55
Deposits 7.0 7.0 7.2

For additional footnote detail see page 28.

2001 compared to 2000
IMG reported operating income of $374 million, up $52 million
from the prior year.

Net interest income increased $18 million, or 4%, from the
prior year, reflecting a 5% increase in average loans partially offset
by narrower deposit spreads and a 4% decrease in average deposits.

Provision for credit losses increased $25 million, principally
related to higher net charge-offs resulting from a difficult economic
climate and loan growth.

Noninterest income, which is principally fiduciary and invest-
ment fees, increased $96 million, or 8%. Beginning in November
2000, fees associated with the administration of the One Group®
mutual funds were recorded as revenue, with a corresponding
increase in expense. Prior to that, a third-party administrator
incurred such fees and expenses, which totaled $80 million in
2000. Excluding the impact of this change, noninterest income
increased $16 million reflecting growth in retail brokerage sales
offset by lower investment advisory fees on equity assets because of
overall market conditions.

Noninterest expense increased $1 million, principally related
to expenses of $80 million associated with the administration of
the One Group® funds, offset by a decrease in expenses related to

tighter cost control, lower headcount and reduced operating losses.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

Excluding the expenses associated with the administration of the
One Group® funds, noninterest expenses declined 8%.

Assets under management totaled $142.6 billion, up 9%
from the end of 2000. One Group® mutual fund assets under man-
agement increased 19% to $83.5 billion. One Group® fund per-
formance continued to remain strong, with 88% of these funds
rated three stars or higher by Morningstar. Average assets under
management increased 3% compared with 2000, driven princi-

pally by a 12% increase in One Group® mutual funds.

2000 compared to 1999
IMG reported operating income of $322 million, up $5 million
from the prior year.

Net interest income increased $33 million, or 9%, from the
prior year, reflecting a 16% increase in average loans partially offset
by narrower spreads related to the 3% decrease in average deposits.

Provision for credit losses increased $11 million, principally
related to higher net charge-offs and loan growth.

Noninterest income, which is principally fiduciary and invest-
ment fees, decreased $16 million, or 1%, due to the sale of a sub-
sidiary in the 1999 second quarter. Excluding the impact of this
sale, noninterest income increased 2%, reflecting growth in retail
brokerage and insurance volumes and moderate growth in assets

under management.
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Noninterest expense decreased $24 million, or 2%, also  agement increased 9% to $70.4 billion. One Group® fund per-
related to the 1999 second quarter sale of a subsidiary. Excluding  formance continued to remain strong, with 99% of these funds
the impacr of this sale, expenses increased 2%, principally related  rated three stars or higher by Morningstar. Average assets under
to volume growth in retail brokerage and insurance activities. management increased 5% compared with 1999, driven princi-

Assets under management totaled $131.2 billion, up 2%  pally by a 14% increase in One Group® mutual funds.

from the end of 1999. One Group® mutual fund assets under man-

Corporate
Corporate includes Treasury, fixed income and principal investment portfolios, unallocated corporate expenses, and any gains or losses

from corporate transactions.

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2000 1999
Net interest income (expense)-FTE ** $ (6G64) $ (458) $ 166
Banking fees and commissions . 47) N/A N/A
Credit card revenue {1) N/A N/A
Service charges on deposits 23 N/A N/A
Investment securities losses {84) N/A N/A
Trading {49) N/A N/A
Other income 304 N/A N/A
Noninterest income *® 206 16 873
Total revenue (10ss) (458) (442) 1,03¢
Provision for credit losses - (2) (108)
Salaries and employee benefits 568 N/A N/A
u'. Other expense {2386) N/A N/A
Noninterest expense ¢ 332 1,192 198
Operating pretax income (loss)-FTE {790} (1,632) 949
Tax expense (benefit) and FTE adjustment (381) (599) 272
Operating income (loss) (409) (1,033) 677
Merger and restructuringrelated charges, net of tax {59) (74) -
Net income (loss) $ (468) $ (1,107) $ 677
FINARNCIAL PERFORMANCE:
Headcount—full-time © 11,418 13,303 N/A
ENDING BALANCES (in billions):
Loans $ 08 $ 0.1 N/A
Assets 50.7 46.8 N/A
Deposits 19.6 30.7 N/A
Equity ' : {0.8) (1.6) N/A
AVERAGE BALANCES (in billions):
Loans $ 0.7 $ 0.4 N/A
Assets 47.5 43.9 $ 38.0
Deposits 24.3 26.2 18.6
Equity {1.1) {0.2) 2.9

For additional footnote detail see page 28.
{14) Net interest income primarily includes Treasury results and interest spread on investment related activities.
(15) Noninterest income primarily includes the gains and losses from investment activities and other corporate transactions.

(18) Noninterest expense primarily includes corporate expenses not allocated to the lines of business.
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2001 compared to 2000

Corporate reported an operating loss of $409 million for 2001,
compared with an operating loss of $1,033 million in 2000.
Excluding significant items of $778 million after tax, the operating
loss in 2000 was $255 million.

Net interest expense increased to $664 million for 2001 from
$464 million in 2000. These results were principally due to
changes in the Treasury investment portfolio and an increase in
unallocated equity.

Investments,-which includes Treasury, fixed income and prin-
cipal investment portfolios, declined $143 million after tax from
2000 due to market conditions. These results are principally
reflected in investment securities gains and losses.

Unallocated corporate expenses were $332 million in 2001
versus $473 million in 2000. The $141 million reduction from

2000 was principally due to increased allocations.
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2000 compared to 1999
Corporate reported an operating loss of $255 million in 2000,
compared with operating income of $677 million in 1999,

Treasury results worsened in 2000, driven by declining inter-
est rates and the leve] of unallocated equity and assets. This change
was principally reflected in net interest expense, which was $464
million in 2000, compared to net interest income of $166 million
for 1999.

Investments results declined $141 million after tax from 1999
principally due to the weakening market for initial public offerings
and financial restructurings, and lower gains in the Treasury port-
folio.

Noninterest expense was $473 million for 2000, compared
with $198 million in 1999. Expenses for 2000 included higher
legal expenses, severance-related expenses and other operational
losses. Additionally, unallocated corporate expenses increased in

2000 due to the change in allocation methodology.
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Significant [tems
Results in 2000 included the negative impact of $2.160 billion after tax ($3.329 billion pre-tax) of significant items. The following sum-
marizes significant items recorded in 2000 by each business segment and income statement line, excluding merger and

restructuring—related charges:

Business Segments-Table 1

Investment

(In millions) Retail |Commercial First USA Management Corporate Total
Pretax expense (income)
Writedown of auto lease residuals $532 $ 532
Provision for credit losses $628 628
Repositioning of investment securities

portfolio $ 415 415
Operational and other @ 2 (18) $ 56 220 260
Writedown of interest-only strip 354 354
Occupancy and fixed asset related 9 6 11 $(4) 315 337
Writedown of purchased credit card

relationship intangibles 275 275
Writedowns primarily related to planned

loan sales @ 167 167
Increase to legal accruals 180 190
Writedown of marketing partnership

agreements 121 121
Severance related 10 21 6 4 9 50

Total $720 $637 $823 $— $1,149 $3,329

After tax $456 $404 $522 $ - $ 778 $2,160
Income Statement Line-Table 2

Investment

(In millions) Retail |Commercial First USA | Management Corporate Total
Net interest income $ 14 $ (M) $ (® $ 1
Noninterest income:

Banking fees and commissions (1) (1)

Credit card revenue $152 152

Service charges on deposits 5 5

Investment securities (gains) losses (1) 426 425

Trading 44 44

Other income 650 3 315 $ 2 11 981
Total noninterest income 650 51 467 2 436 1,606
Provision for credit losses 11 628 35 674
Noninterest expense:

Salaries and employee benefits ¥ 12 (42) (4) (19) 145 Q2

Occupancy expense 9 6 11 72 o8

Other intangible amortization 275 9 36 320

Other 24 1 39 - 8 466 538
Total noninterest expense 45 (35) 321 (2) 719 1,048
Pretax expense : $720 $637 $823 $- $1,149 $3,329

(1) includes $75 million of incentive accruals reversed in the fourth quarter relating to the full year in which existing plans were adjusted to a pay for performance basis.
{2) At December 31, 2000, Management discontinued its ptan to dispose of these loans, and as such, are now considered part of the general portfolio.

During 1999, significant items totaling $880 million pretax ($597  credit losses primarily associated with the implementation of the
million after-tax) were not allocated to specific business segments.  FFIEC’s revised consumer credit guidelines. These charges were par-
These items included charges of $722 million for merger and  tially offset by gains of $111 million and $249 million, respectively,
restructuring costs, $321 million for asset impairments, valuation  from the sale of Concord and the Indiana divestitures.

adjustments and other charges, and $197 million for provision for
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Below is a reconciliation of managed 2000 actual results with results adjusted for significant items:

2000 Significant Items - Table 3 - Managed Basis

2001 Actual 2000 Adjusted
2001 2000 1999 VS, Vs,

(In millions) Actual Actual Adjustments Adjusted Actual 2000 Adjusted 1999 Actual
Consolidated
Net interest income $13,580 | $13,506 $ (1) $13,507 $14,457 | $ 73 1% $ (950) ()%
Noninterest income 5,843 3,895 (1,606) 5,501 6,642 342 6 (1,141) (@7
Provision for credit losses 5,941 6,735 674 6,061 4,514 (120) (2) 1,547 34
Noninterest expense 9,200 11,447 1,048 10,399 10,936 (1,199) (12) (537) (5)
Operating income (loss) 2,904 (409) (2,160) 1,751 3,830% 1,153 66 (2,079) (54)
Merger and restructuring-

related, net of tax (222) (102) - (102) (351) (120) N/M 249 71
Net income (loss) 2,638% (511) (2,160) 1,649 3,479 989 60 (1,830)  (53)
Retail
Net interest income 5,025 4,895 (14) 4,909 4,379 116 2 530 12
Noninterest income 1,442 618 (650) 1,268 1,541 174 14 (273) (18)
Provision for credit losses 1,010 870 11 859 415 151 18 444 N/M
Noninterest expense 3,477 3,995 45 3,850 3,933 (473) (12) 17 -
Operating income (loss) 1,272 414 (456) 870 1,041 402 46 (171 (16)
Merger and restructuring-

related, net of tax (68) (25) -~ (25) - (41) N/M (25) N/M
Net income 1,208 389 (458) 845 1,041 361 43 (196)  (19)
Commercial Banking
Net interest income 2,702 2,825 7 2,818 2,655 (1186) (4) 163 6
Noninterest income 1,574 1,354 (51) 1,405 1,248 169 12 157 13
Provision for credit losses 1,070 2,217 628 1,589 436 (519} (33) 1,153 N/M
Noninterest expense 2,220 2,272 (35) 2,307 2,208 (87) (4) 99 4
Operating income (loss) 724 (115) (404) 289 906 432 N/M (617) (68)
Merger and restructuring-

related, net of tax {48) 1 - 1 - (47) N/M 1 N/M
Net income (loss) 875 (114) (404) 290 906 385 N/M (618) (68)
First USA
Net interest income 8,090 5,835 - 5,835 6,881 255 4 (1,046) (15)
Noninterest income 1,362 746 (467) 1,213 1,632 149 12 (419) (26)
Provision for credit losses 3,823 3,637 35 3,602 3,593 221 6 9 -
Noninterest expense 2,119 2,939 321 2,618 3,204 (499) (19) (586) (18)
Operating income (loss) 946 3 (522) 525 1,135 421 80 (610) (54)
Merger and restructuring-

related, net of tax (39) (4) - 4) - (35) N/M 4y N/M
Net income (loss) 207 (1) (522) 521 1,135 386 74 (614) (54)
Investment Management
Net interest income 427 409 -~ 409 376 18 4 33 9
Noninterest income 1,259 1,161 (2) 1,163 1,179 96 8 (16) (1)
Provision for credit losses 38 13 - 13 2 25 N/M 11 N/M
Noninterest expense 1,052 1,049 (2) 1,051 1,075 1 - (24) (2)
Operating income (loss) 374 322 - 322 317 52 16 5 2
Merger and restructuring-

related, net of tax (12) - - - - (12) N/M - -
Net income 362 322 — 322 317 40 12 5 2
Corporate
Net interest income (expense) (664) (458) 6 (464) 166 (200) (43) (630) N/M
Noninterest income 206 16 (436) 452 873 (246) (54) (421) (48)
Provision for credit losses - (2) - (2) (108) 2 N/M 106 98
Noninterest expense 1332 1,192 718 473 198 (141) (30) 275 N/M
Operating income (loss) {409) (1,033) (778) (255) 677 (154) (60) (932) N/M
Merger and restructuring-

related, net of tax {59) (74) - (74) - 15 20 (74) N/M
Net income (loss) {468) (1,107) (778) (329) 677 (139) (42) (1,008) N/M

N/M-Not meaningful.

(1) Consolidated noninterest income, provision for credit losses, and noninterest expense inciude $(169) million, $176 million, and $319 million, respectively, of
significant items that were nct allocated to specific business segments. Excluding these amounts segment operating income was $4,076 million.

(2) Consolidated results for 2001 include $44 million after tax of cumulative effect of change in accounting principte not altocated to specific business segments.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Net Interest Income

Net interest income includes spreads on earning assets as well as
items such as loan fees, cash interest collections on problem loans,
dividend income, interest reversals, and income or expense on
derivatives used to manage interest rate risk.

In order to understand fundamental trends in net interest
income, average earning asscts and net interest margins, it is useful
to analyze financial performance on a2 managed portfolio basis,
which adds data on securitized loans to reported data on loans as

presented below:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2001 2000 1999
(Dollars in millions)
Managed:
Net interest income-
FTE basis $ 13,580 $ 13,506 |$ 14,457

Average earning assets 277,672 284,035 269,237

Net interest margin 4,8%% 4.76% 5.37%
Reported:
Net interest income-
FTE basis $ 8,769 $ 8,974 |$ 9,142

Average earning assets 237,869 241,058 | 223,539
Net interest margin 3.69% 3.72% 4.09%

BANK ONE CORPORATION

2001 compared to 2000
On a managed basis, net interest income increased modestly in
2001 relative to 2000. The earnings benefit derived from falling
interest rates was partially offset by lower earning assets. The
decline in average earning assets was largely due to efforts to reduce
commercial credit exposure, brokered home equity loan and auto
lease outstandings, and also reflected lower credit card reccivables.
As represented by the year-over-year improvement in net interest
margin, overall balance sheet profitability improved. This reflected
the reduction in low margin commercial credits, more disciplined
pricing in the consumer loan sector, and increases in the percent-
age of funding provided by core rerail deposits and net free funds.
On a reported basis, net interest income was slightly below
that reported in 2000, largely due to lower earning assets as men-

tioned above.

2000 compared to 1999

Lower average credit card outstandings, lower fee revenues and nar-
rower spread on credit card loans were the most significant causes
of the decline in both the net interest income and related margin
in 2000. Lower average credit card outstandings and fee revenues
reflected customer artrition and reduced new account origination,
while narrower spread reflected higher funding costs in 2000.
Competitive pricing pressures in Corporate Banking and Middle
Marker Banking and higher nonperforming loans reduced margins
slightly in the commercial loan portfolio.

During 2000, net interest income declined, reflecting a lower
level of loans and the cost of carrying a higher level of nonper-
forming assets.

On a reported basis, net interest margin was 3.72% in 2000,
compared with 4.09% in 1999. The decrease in net interest margin
in 2000 was related to lower credit card spreads as well as a less

favorable earning asset mix.
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Noninterest Income

"The components of noninterest income for the periods indicated are:

(Dollays in millions) % Change
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2001 2000 1999 2001-2000 2000-1999
Banking fees and commissions $4,734 $1,537 $1,502 13% 2%
Credit card revenue 1,385 1,104 1,363 26 (19)
Service charges on deposits 1,449 1,310 1,283 11 2
Fiduciary and investment management fees 754 783 793 (4) (1)
Investment securities gains (losses) {66) (235) 509 72 N/M
Trading 220 134 147 64 (9)
Other income (loss) 360 (738) 685 N/M N/M
Gain on Indiana divestitures - - 249 N/M N/M
Gain on sale of Concord - - 111 N/M N/M
Managed noninterest income $5,843 $3,895 $6,642 50% (41)%

N/M-Not meaningful.

In order to provide more meaningful trend analysis, credit
card revenue and total noninterest income in the abave table are
shown on a managed basis. Credit card fee revenue excludes the net
interest revenue associated with securitized credit card receivables.
Components of noninterest income that are primarily related to a
single business segment are discussed within that business segment

rather than the consolidated section.

2001 compared to 2000

Managed banking fees and commissions increased by $194 million,
or 13%, compared to 2000 levels. This increase was primarily the
result of increased annuity sales and fees associated with the in-
house administration of the One Group® mutual funds, which the
Corporation began recording as revenue in the 2000 fourth quarter.
Additionally, this increase reflects growth in retail brokerage sales.

Managed credit card revenue increased $291 million, or 26%,
in 2001 when compared to 2000. This improvement was due to
the third quarter addition of the Wachovia portfolio and significant
itemns recorded in 2000 (see table 2 on page 41).

Service charges on deposits increased $139 million, or 11%,
in 2001 when compared to 2000. A lower rate environment pro-
duced a shift to the payment of fees from net interest income due
to the lower value ascribed to customers’ compensating deposit
balances.

Fiduciary and investment management fees declined by $29
million, or 4%, in 2001 compared to levels maintained in 2000.
This reduction was as a result of lower investment advisory fees on
equity assets because of overall market conditions.

Investment securities losses were $66 million for 2001 due to
principal investment losses and lower market valuations, partially
offset by the gains on sale of fixed income securities. This was an

improvement from 2000 when investment securities portfolios
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activity produced a loss of $235 million. This loss occurred when
significant items were recorded in the second quarter of 2000 (see
table 2 on page 41).

Trading produced gains of $220 million, an increase of $86
million, or 64%, when compared to 2000. This improvement was
due to significant items recorded in 2000 (see table 2 on page 41)
and market value gains.

Other income in 2001 was $360 million compared to a $738
million loss in 2000. This improvement over last year was pre-
dominately due to significant items recorded in 2000 (see table 2

on page 41).

2000 compared to 1999

Banking fees and commissions increased 2% in 2000, compared
with the 1999 levels, as higher loan syndication fees were partially
offset by lower leasing fees for auto loans.

Managed credit card revenue declined 19% to $1.104 billion
in 2000 as compared to 1999, reflecting a decline in managed
credit card receivables as well as writedowns for certain affinity
partnership agreements included in the 2000 significant items (see
table 2 on page 41).

Service charges on deposit accounts, which include deficient
balance fees, increased 2% reflecting growth in cash management
fees, due in part to the extensive cross selling of product offerings,
which was supported by enhanced product features and function-
ality of the core treasury management services provided to cus-
tomers on a national basis.

Fiduciary and investment management fees decreased slightly
in 2000 as compared to 1999, as fee growth from traditional trust
products and services, investment management activities and
shareholder services was offset by the absence of revenues from

certain unprofitable account relationships exited in 2000.
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Investment securities portfolio activities produced a loss of
$235 million in 2000 as compared to $509 million of net gains in
1999, primarily as the result of the repositioning of the
Corporation’s investment portfolio in the 2000 second quarter
(see table 2 on page 41) and lower principal valuations.

Trading results declined slighty to $134 million in 2000
compared with $147 million in 1999 as improved foreign
exchange trading was offset by a decline in revenue generated from
interest rate derivatives.

Other activities generated losses of $738 million in 2000,

compared with $685 million of income in 1999. Net securitization

Neoninterest Expense

The components of noninterest expense for the periods indicated are:

amortization in 2000 totaled $116 million, compared with net gains
of $61 million in 1999. Asset impairment writedowns associated
with credit card interest-only strip securities were $432 million for
2000 compared to $40 million for 1999. These writedowns were
driven by the narrower margin and increased attrition based on the
earnings decline in the credit card business. Auto residual losses
totaled $757 million for 2000, compared with $167 million for 1999.
Included in these losses were charges of $552 million ($532 million
significant items) and $100 million in 2000 and 1999, respectively,

for asset valuation adjustments.

(Dollars in millions) % Change
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2004 2000 1999 2001-2000 2000-1999
Salaries and employee benefits:

Salaries $ 3,638 $ 3,949 $ 3,825 (8)% 1%

Employee benefits S60 653 603 (14) 8

Total salaries and employee benefits 4,198 4,602 4,528 (9) 2

Occupancy expense 586 872 703 (21) 24
Equipment expense 457 593 667 (23) (11)
Outside service fees and processing 1,178 1,537 1,771 (23) (13)
Marketing and development 862 900 1,235 (4) (27)
Telecommunication 407 411 334 (1) 23
Other intangible amortization 97 410 168 (76) N/M
Goodwill amortization 69 70 69 (1) 1
Other 1,248 2,052 1,461 (39) 40

Total noninterest expense before merger- and

restructuring-related charges 9,200 11,447 10,936 (20) 5

Merger and restructuring-related charges 351 161 554 N/M (71)

Total noninterest expense $ 9,551 $11,608 $11,490 (18) 1
Employees 73,519 80,778 87,735 (9) (8)
Efficiency ratio—-managed basis 49.2% 66.7% 54.5%

N/M-Not meaningful.

(1) Certain expenses have been reclassified from salaries to other expenses in all periods.

Components of noninterest expense that are primarily related to a single business segment are discussed within that business segment

rather than the consolidated section.
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2001 compared to 2000

Salary and benefit costs were $4.198 billion in 2001, down 9%
from $4.602 billion in 2000. This decline was attributed to
expense savings from reduced headcount and cost reductions asso-
ciated with the modification of the Corporation’s benefit plans.

Occupancy expense declined in 2001 by $186 million, or
21%, from 2000 levels. The decrease in 2001 was the result of less
occupied space.

Equipment expense in 2001 decreased $136 million com-
pared to the previous year. Reduced furniture and equipment
rental along with lower maintenance and depreciation expense was
primarily the reason for the 23% decline.

Qutside service fees and processing expense also declined in
2001 compared to a year ago. The majority of the 23% decline was
attributed to a reduction in consulting expense and the benefits
from contract renegotiations and other waste-reduction initiatives.

For 2001, marketing and development expense decreased
$38 million, or 4%, compared to 2000 as continued expense
reductions in the Retail line of business more than offset increased
expenditures for First USA.

Other intangible amortization expense decreased by
$313 million, or 76%, from a year ago, predominately due to sig-
nificant items recorded in 2000 (see table 2 on page 41).

Other expense was reduced by $806 million, or 39%, when
compared to the year 2000. This decrease was primarily due to sig-
nificant items recorded in 2000 (see table 2 on page 41). This
reduction also reflects the continuation of the Corporation’s waste-
reduction initiatives to lower expenses for such items as travel,
entertainment and other miscellaneous items, which was partally
offset by system conversion costs. The Corporation successfully
converted the Texas/Louisiana deposit system during the 2001 third
quarter and the Arizona/Utah deposit system in the 2001 fourth
quarter and is working to complete the remaining system conver-
sions around year-end 2002.

The Corporation recorded a $354 million pre-tax restructur-
ing-related charge in the 2001 fourth quarter for additional real
estate and severance costs to accomplish more rapid expense reduc-

tions, accelerated systems conversions and other consolidations.

2000 compared to 1999
Salary and benefit costs were $4.602 billion in 2000, up 2% from
$4.528 billion in 1999. The increase was due to higher salary
levels, partially offset by reduced headcount and lower incentive
compensation in 2000.

Occupancy expense in 2000 was up $169 million, or 24%, from
1999 levels. This increase included $98 million of the $337 million
significant item (see table 2 on page 41) related to writedowns con-

cerning vacant space and other occupancy-related matrers.
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Equipment expense decreased 11% in 2000 from 1999, pri-
marily due to reduced furniture and equipment rental and lower
maintenance and depreciation expense.

Outside service fees and processing expense decreased 13%
compared to 1999. A portion of the decrease in 2000 reflected con-
sulting and implementation costs incurred to support Year 2000
readiness, as well as other development, technology and reengineer-
ing initiatives in various businesses in 1999. The 2000 decrease also
included benefits from the Corporation’s waste-reduction initiatives.

Marketing and development expense decreased 27% in 2000
from 1999. Credit card marketing efforts accounted for much of
the fluctuations in this period.

Orher intangible amortization expense included $288 million
and $21 million of additional writedowns in purchased credit card
relationships in 2000 and 1999, respectively. In 2000, $275
million of these writedowns is included in table 1 on page 41.

Other expense increased $591 million in 2000 compared
with 1999, primarily relating to $538 million of significant items
recorded in 2000 (see table 2 on page 41). These charges included
$190 million increase to the legal reserve to cover increased corpo-
rate and business litigation exposure, approximately $85 million of
fixed assets and software write-offs, as well as miscellaneous and

operational errors.

Applicable Income Taxes
The Corporation’s income (loss) before income taxes and cumula-
tive effect of change in accounting principle, as well as applicable
income tax expense (benefit) and effective tax rate for each of the

past three years follows:

(Dollars in millions) 2004 2000 1999
Income (loss) before income

taxes and the cumulative

effect of change in

accounting principle $3,800 $(1,080) | $4,974
Applicable income taxes

(benefits) 1,118 (569) 1,495
Effective tax rate 29.4% 52.7% 30.1%

Applicable income tax expense (benefir) for all three years
included benefits for tax-exempt income, tax-advantaged invest-
ments and general business tax credits offset by the effect of
nondeductible expenses, including goodwill. In the case of a loss
before income taxes and the cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle, the effect of the net tax benefits described
above is to increase, rather than decrease, the effective rate of tax.
This is the primary reason for the difference in effective tax rates
between 2000 and the other years presented. More detail on
income taxes can be found in Note 20 to the consolidated finan-

cial statements beginning on page 90.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk is an inherent part of the Corporation’s businesses and activi-
ties. The Corporation’s ability to properly and effectively identify,
assess, monitor and manage risk in its business activities is critical
to its soundness and profitability. The diversity of the
Corporation’s lines of business helps reduce the impacr thar volatil-
ity in any particular area has on its operating results as a whole.

The risk management process of the Corporation is dynamic
and requires effective communication between lines of business
and corporate-level departments, as well as judgment and knowl-
edge of specialized products and markets. The Corporation’s risk
management activities consider both on- and off-balance sheet
exposure. The Corporation’s Senior Management takes an active
role in the risk management process and has developed policies and
procedures that require specific functions to assist in the identifica-
tion, assessment and control of various risks. In recognition of the
nature of Bank One’s business activities, the Corporation’s risk
management policies, procedures and methodologies are subject to
ongoeing review and modification.

Overall risk management policies for the Corporation are
established by the Corporate Risk and Capital Committee, which
reviews the Corporation’s performance relative to these policies.
The Corporate Risk and Capital Committee has responsibility for
various risk committees of the Corporation’s lines of business and
assists the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board of
Directors in monitoring Bank One’s policies and guidelines for risk
management. The Audit and Risk Management Committee
reviews risk management policies and procedures, and receives
regular updates regarding the Corporation’s compliance with these
policies and procedures, including credit, market, liquidity, and
operational risks. Individual line of business commitrees monitor
and review their respective line of business compliance with the
Corporation’s risk management practices. These committees
manage specific risks, sales practices, pricing, allowance adequacy,
legal enforceabiliGy, and operational and systems risks.

Corporate Risk Management, Finance, Law, Compliance and
Government Relations also assist Senior Management and the
Corporate Risk and Capital Committee in monitoring and con-
trolling the Corporation’s risk profile. Corporate Risk
Management is responsible for risk policy development and over-
seeing implementation, risk analysis, and risk reporting to Senior
Management. The Corporate Risk and Capital Committee has
responsibility for monitoring aggregate market and credic risk. The
Corporation’s Asset/Liabilitcy Committee ("ALCO”) has direct
oversight responsibility for the Corporation’s liquidity position and
periodically updates the Audit and Risk Management Committee.
Corporate Audit periodically examines and evaluates the

Corporation’s operations and control environment. The
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Corporation remains committed to employing qualified personnel
with appropriate expertise to implement effectively the

Corporation’s risk management and monitoring systems.

The Corporation’s business activities generate liquidity, marker,
credit and operational risks:

° Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation is unable to meet
all current and future financial obligations in a timely manner,

e Marker risk is the risk that changes in future marker rates or
prices will make the Corporation’s positions less valuable.

o Credit risk is the risk of loss from borrowers and counter-
parties’ failure to perform according to the terms of a
transaction.

°  Operational risk, among other things, includes the risk of loss
due to errors in product and service delivery, failure of
internal controls over information systems and accounting

records, and internal and external fraud.

LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity is managed to preserve stable, reliable and cost-effective

sources of cash to meet all current and future financial obligations.

At Bank One, strong liquidity is provided by a variety of sources

including:

° A portfolio of liquid assets, comprised of federal funds sold,
deposit placements and marketable securities.

° A large customer deposit base arising through the
Corporation’s Commercial Banking and Retail business
activities.

* A diversified mix of short- and long-term funding sources
from the wholesale financial markets.

o Significant borrowing capacity at the Federal Reserve
Discount Window.

Bank One is an active participant in the global financial
markets through which it obrains a significant amount of funding,
These markets serve as a cost-effective source of funds and are a
critical component of the Corporation’s liquidity management.
Decisions to access these markets are based upon relative costs,
prospective views of balance sheet growth, and a targeted liquidity
profile. A disruption in the financial markets could limit access to
liquidity for the Corporation.

The Corporation’s ability to maintain regular access to com-
petitively priced wholesale funds is fostered by strong debt ratings
from the major credit rating agencies. Management views the fol-
lowing factors as critical to retaining high credic ratings:

e Swong capital ratios and credit quality

o Astable, diverse earnings stream

o Diversity of liquidity sources

e Strong liquidity monitoring procedures
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At December 31, 2001, the Corporation and its principal
banks had the following long- and short-term debt ratings:

Senior
Short-Term Debt Long-Term Debt
S&P Moody's S&P Moody's
The Corporation
(Parent) A-1 P-1 A Aa3
Principal Banks A-1 P-1 A+ Aa2

Treasury is responsible for measuring and managing the liquid-
ity profile with oversight from ALCO. A combination of daily,
weekly and monthly reports provided to Senior Management detail
the following:
 Internal liquidity risk metrics
o Composition and level of the liquid asset portfolio
°  Timing differences in short-term cash flow obligations
°  Available pricing and market access to the financial markets for

capital, term-debt and securitization transactions
o Exposure to contingent draws on the Corporation’s liquidity

The Corporation monitors and manages liquidity considering
both on- and off-balance sheet exposures. On-balance sheet liquidity
is impacted by balance sheet growth, level and mix of customer
deposits, and access to wholesale funding. In the normal course of
business, the Corporation enters into certain forms of off-balance
sheet transactions, including credit card securitizations, unfunded
loan commitments and letters of credit. These transactions are
managed through the Corporation’s various risk management
processes. Liquidity facilities provided to Bank One administered
and third party administered specialized financing entities might
require funding if the Corporation’s short-term rating were to fall to
A-2 or P-2. Credit card securitizations would be subject to early
amortization if certain performance measures of the issuing trust are
not maintained. Either event would result in additional funding

requirements for the Corporation,

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview

Market risk refers to potential losses arising from changes in inter-
est rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and commodity
prices. The portfolio effect of diverse trading activities helps reduce
market risk. Through its trading activities, the Corporation strives
to take advantage of profit opportunities available in interest and
exchange rate movements. In asset and liability management activ-

ities, policies are in place to closely manage structural interest rate
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and foreign exchange rate risk. Disclosures about the fair value of
financial instruments, which reflect changes in market prices and
rates, can be found in Note 23 to the consolidated financial state-

ments beginning on page 93.

Trading Activities

The Corporation’s trading activities are primarily customer-ori-
ented. Cash instruments are bought and sold to satisfy customers’
investment needs. Derivative contracts are initially entered into to
meet the risk management needs of customers. The Corporation
enters into subsequent transactions to manage the level of risk in
accordance with approved limits. In order to accommodate cus-
tomers, an inventory of capital markets inscruments is carried, and
access to market liquidity is maintained by making bid-offer prices
to other market makers. The Corporation may also take proprietary
trading positions in various capital markets cash instruments and
derivatives, and these positions are designed to profit from antici-
pated changes in market factors.

Many trading positions are kept open for brief periods of
time, often less than one day. Other positions may be held for
longer periods. Trading positions are carried at estimated fair value.
Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these positions are

included in noninterest income as trading,

Value-At-Risk
The Corporation has developed policies and procedures to manage
marker risk in its trading activities through a value-at-risk meas-
urement and control system, a stress testing process and dollar
trading limits. The objective of this process is to quantify and
manage market risk in order to limit single and aggregate exposures.
Dollar trading limits are subject to varying levels of approval by
senior line of business management, with review by Corporate
Marker Risk Management. Corporate Market Risk Management
works with various line of business personnel in refining and moni-
toring market risk policies and procedures, and is the primary over-
sight unit for marker risk arising from line of business activities
creating market risk for the Corporation.

For trading portfolios, value-at-risk measures the maximum
fair value the Corporation could lose on a trading position, given a
specified confidence level and rime horizon. Value-at-risk limits and
exposutes are monitored daily for each significant trading portfolio.
Stress testing is similar to value-at-risk except that the confidence

level is geared to capture more extreme, less frequent market events.
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The Corporation’s value-at-risk calculation measures poten-
tial losses in fair value using a 99% confidence level and a one-day
time horizon. This equates to 2.33 standard deviations from the
mean under a normal distribution. This means that, on average,
daily profits and losses are expected to exceed value-at-risk one out
of every 100 overnight trading days. Value-at-risk is calculated
using a statistical model applicable to cash and derivative positions,
including options.

Average, high and low of the value-at-risk measurements for
2001 and 2000, along with value-at-risk amounts at December 31,
2001 and December 31, 2000 are:

2001
(In millions) Average High Low Dec. 31
Risk type
Interest rate $11 $15 $8 $11
Currency exchange rate i 4 - -
Equity 1 4 - 1
Aggregate trading portfolio
market risk $12
2000
{In millions) Average High Low Dec. 31
Risk type
Interest rate $11 $15 $7 $7
Currency exchange rate 1 1 - 1
Equity 1 2 1 1
Aggregate trading portfolio
market risk $9

Interest rate risk was the predominant type of market risk
incurred during 2001. At December 31, 2001, approximately 90%
of primary market risk exposures were related to interest rate risk.
Currency exchange rate, equity and commodity risks accounted for
3%, 6% and 1%, respectively, of primary market risk exposures.

U.S. Treasury, corporate, asset-backed, municipal, and mort-
gage-backed securities generated 75% of interest rate risk. Interest
rate derivatives accounted for 22% of interest rate risk, while the
remaining 3% was derived primarily from money market and
foreign exchange trading activities.

Foreign exchange spot, forward and option trading generated
100% of the currency exchange rate risk. Of the currency exchange
rate risk arising from these activities, 55% related to major cur-

rency exposures and 45% to minor currencies.
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Equity derivatives trading and off-setting cash positions gener-
ated 100% of equity price risk.

At December 31, 2001, aggregate portfolio market risk expo-
sures were 33% higher than at year-end 2000. The majority of this

increase was due to increased marker risk in various trading books.

Structural Interest Rate Risk Management

Interest rate risk exposure in the Corporations core non-trading
business activities, i.e., asset/liability management ("ALM”) posi-
tion, is a result of reprice, option, and basis risks associated with
on- and off-balance sheet positions. Reprice risk represents timing
mismatches in the Corporation’s ability to alter contractual rates
earned on financial assets or paid on liabilities in response to
changes in market interest rates. Basis risk refers to the potential for
changes in the underlying relationship between market rates or
indices, which subsequently result in a narrowing of the spread
earned on a loan or investment relative to its cost of funds. Option
risk arises from “embedded options” present in many financial
instruments such as interest rate options, loan prepayment options
and deposit early withdrawal options. These provide customers and
investors opportunities to take advantage of directional changes in
rates, which could have an adverse impact on the Corporation’s
margin performance. Embedded options are complex risk posi-
tions that are difficult to predict and offset, and are a large compo-
nent of the interest rate risk exposure to the Corporation.

The Corporation has established risk measures, limits, policy
guidelines and internal control mechanisms (collectively referred
to as the Interest Rate Risk Policy) for managing the overall ALM
position, including both on- and off-balance sheet positions.
Responsibility for the management of interest rate risk resides with
Treasury with oversight by the Corporation’s ALCO. Business unit
management is responsible for understanding their interest rate
risk, while the Corporation controls and monitors this risk centrally.

The ALM position is measured using sophisticated risk man-
agement tools, including earnings simulation modeling and eco-
nomic value of equity sensitivity analysis, to capture near-term
and longer-term interest rate risk exposures. Senior Management
is regularly apprised of the risks associated with the ALM position,
with exposures tested under multiple rate and yield curve scenar-
ios. The Corporation balances the return potential of the ALM
position against the desire to limit volatility in earnings and/or

economic value.
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Earnings simulation analysis, or earnings-at-risk, measures the
sensitivity of pretax earnings to various interest rate movements.
The base-case scenario is established using current interest rates.
The comparative scenarios assume an immediate parallel shock in
increments of + 100 basis point rate movements. Numerous other
scenarios are analyzed, including more gradual rising or declining
rate changes and non-parallel rate shifts. Estimated earnings for
each scenario are calculated over multiple years. The interest rate
scenarios are used for analytical purposes and do not necessarily
represent Management’s view of future market movements.
Rather, these are intended to provide a measure of the degree of
volatility interest rate movements may introduce into the earnings
and economic value of the Corporation.

The Corporation’s 12-month pretax earnings sensitivity

profile as of year-end 2001 and 2000 is as follows:

Immediate Change

in Rates
(In millions) -100 bp +100 bp
December 31, 2001 $174 $(341)
December 31, 2000 $ 29 $ 5

The increase in earnings sensitivity during the year reflects an
increase in the duration of the Corporation’s earning assets, in part
driven by management actions taken in anticipation of declining
short-term interest rates.

Modeling the sensitivity of earnings to interest rate risk is
highly dependent on numerous assumptions embedded in the
model. While the earnings sensitivity analysis incorporates
Management’s best estimate of interest rate and balance sheet
dynamics under various market rate movements, the actual behav-
ior and resulting earnings impact will likely differ from that pro-
jected. For mortgage-related assets, the earnings simulation model
captures the expected prepayment behavior under changing inter-
est rate environments. Additionally, the model measures the impact
of interest rate caps and floors on adjustable-rate loan products.
Assumptions and methodologies regarding the interest rate or
balance behavior of indeterminate maturity products, e.g., credit
card receivables, savings, money market, NOW and demand
deposits reflect Management’s best estimate of expected future
behavior. Sensitivity of service fee income to market interest rate
levels, such as those related to cash management products, is
included as well. The earnings sensitivicy profile does not reflect
potential differences in the timing of income recognition on trans-
actions that were designed to have an offsetting economic effect.
For example, the interest-only strip recorded in conjunction with a
credit card securitization may be subsequently subject to the account-
ing recognition of impairment due to adverse changes in market
interest and payment rates while the income or expense on offsetting

asset and liability positions are recorded on an accrual basis.
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In addition to the earnings sensitivity analysis described
above, Management uses an economic value of equity sensitivity
technique to capture the risk in both short- and long-term posi-
tions. This analysis involves calculating future cash flows over the
full life of all current assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet posi-
tions under different rate scenarios. The discounted present value
of all cash flows represents the Corporation’s economic value of
equity. The sensitivity of this value to shifts in the yield curve
allows Management to measure longer-term repricing and option
risk in the portfolio. Interest rate risk in trading activities and other
activities, including certain overseas balance sheet positions, is

managed principally as trading risk.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management
Whenever possible, foreign currency-denominated assets are
funded with liability instruments denominated in the same cur-
rency. If a liability denominated in the same currency is not imme-
diately available or desired, a forward foreign exchange or
cross-currency swap contract is used to hedge the risk due to cross-
currency funding.

To minimize the capital impact of translation gains or losses
measured on an after-tax basis, the Corporation uses forward
foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exposure created by non-

U.S. dollar investments in overseas branches and subsidiaries.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
The Corporation is exposed to the risk that borrowers or counter-
parties may default on their obligations to the Corporation. These
transactions create credit exposure that is reported both on- and
off- balance sheet. On-balance sheet credit exposure includes such
items as loans. Off-balance sheet credit exposure includes
unfunded credit commitments and other credit-related financial
instruments. Credit exposures resulting from derivative financial
the

Instruments” section beginning on page 61.

instruments are discussed in “Derivative Financial

The Corporation’s Risk and Capital Committee has developed
policies to manage the level and composition of risk in its credit port-
folio, and reviews the Corporation’s performance relative to those
policies. The objective of this credit risk management process is to
quantify and manage credit risk on an aggregate portfolio basis as well
as to reduce the risk of loss resulting from an individual customer
default. Corporate Risk Management works with lending officers and
line of business personnel involved in credit decision making and is
involved in the implementation, refinement, and monitoring of the
Corporation’s credir policies and procedures. Credit limits are subject
to varying levels of approval by senior line of business management

and Corporate Risk Management.
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In order to meet its credit risk management objectives, the
Corporation maintains a risk profile that is diverse in terms of borrower
concentrations, product-type, and industry and geographic concentra-
tions. Additional diversification of the Corporation’s exposure is accom-
plished through syndication of credits, participations, loan sales,

securitizations, credit derivatives and other risk-reduction measures.

Consumer Credit Risk Management (Including Credit
Card and Retail)
The Corporation’s consumer risk management process utilizes
sophisticated risk assessment tools, including credit scoring, across
the life cycle of each type of loan product, including credit cards,
loans secured by real estate, vehicle loans and leases, and other unse-
cured loans. These tools are used to target product and price offerings
to best match the consumer risk profile to identify consumers whose
risk profile has deteriorated for proactive risk mitigation efforts, and
to initiate portfolio-wide risk management strategies to ensure that
the portfolios remain within Management-defined risk tolerance
levels.

Management of consumer lines of business continues to proac-
tively manage the risk/reward relationship of each consumer loan
portfolio segment such that these businesses are positioned to achieve

profitability targets and required rates of return on investment.

Commercial Credit Risk Management

The Corporation’s commercial risk management process utilizes
enterprise policies focused on origination, portfolio management
and managed asset related activities. This risk management frame-
work establishes approval authorities and related processes, risk
rating methodologies, portfolio review parameters and management
of problem loans. Line of business Senior Management and
Corporate Risk Management are actively engaged in these activities
as well as continuously exploring methods to improve commercial
risk management.

Management of the Commercial Banking line of business con-
tinues to proactively manage the risk/reward relationship of each
commercial relationship and portfolio segment such that these busi-
nesses are positioned to achieve profitability targets and required
rates of return.

Within the Commercial Banking portfolio, borrowers/transac-
tions are assigned specific obligor risk ratings (on a scale from 1-20,
and facility rating 1-8 based upon collateral supporting the transaction)
by the originating credit officer based upon an established underwrit-
ing and approval process. Approvals are made based upon the amount
of credit exposure inherent in the credit extension and are reviewed by
senior line of business management and Corporate Risk Management,
as appropriate. Risk ratings are reviewed periodically by senior line of
business personnel and Corporate Risk Management and revised, if

needed, to reflect the borrowers'/transactions’ current risk profile. The
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lower categories of credit risk are equivalent to the four bank regulatory
classifications: Special Mention, Substandard, Doubtful and Loss.
The Corporation occasionally enters into credit derivatives as
one method of credit protection against the deterioration of identified
credit risk on loans and loan commitments. At December 31, 2001,
credit derivatives were in place to cover approximately $3.3 billion in
notional commercial credit exposure. Realized and unrealized gains
and lossses on credit derivatures are recorded in noninterest income as

trading,

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT

'The Corporation is exposed to numerous types of operational risk.
Operational risk generally refers to the risk of loss resulting from the
Corporations operations, including, but not limited to, the risk of fraud
by employees or persons outside the Corporation, the execution of unau-
thorized transactions by employees, errors relating to transaction process-
ing and systems, and breaches of the internal control system and
compliance requirements. This risk of loss also includes the potential
legal actions that could arise as a result of the operational deficiency or as
a result of noncompliance with applicable regulatory standards.

The Corporation operates in many different businesses in diverse
markets and places reliance on the ability of its employees and systems
to process a high number of transactions. In the event of a breakdown
in the internal control systems, improper operation of systems or
improper employee actions, the Corporation could suffer financial
loss, face regulatory action and suffer damage to its reputation. In
order to address this risk, Management maintains a systemn of internal
controls with the objective of providing proper transaction authoriza-
tion and execution, safeguarding of assets from misuse or theft, and
ensuring the reliability of financial and other data.

The Corporation maintains systems of controls that provide
Management with timely and accurate information about the opera-
tions of Bank One. These systems have been designed to manage
operational risk at appropriate levels given the Corporation’s financial
strength, the environment in which it operates, and considering
factors such as competition and regulation. Bank One has also estab-
lished procedures that are designed to ensure that policies relating to
conduct, ethics and business practices are followed on a uniform basis.
In certain cases, the Corporation has experienced losses from opera-
tional risk. Such losses have included the effects of operational errors
that the Corporation has discovered and taken charges in the income
statement. While there can be no assurance the Corporation will not
suffer such losses in the future, Management continually monitors
and improves its internal controls, systems and corporate-wide
processes and procedures. Furthermore, Management believes the
plans to streamline the organization through charter consolidations
and further systems integration and policies enacted to push down
reporting accountabilities further in the organization, have improved

the Corporation’s ability to identify and limit operational risk.
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CREDIT PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION

Selected Statistical Information

The significant components of credit risk and the related ratios, presented on a reported basis, for the years indicated are as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(Dollars in millions)

Loans outstanding $156,733 $174,251 | $163,877 | $155,398 | $159,579
Average loans 187,084 171,768 156,855 154,952 155,926
Nonperforming [oans 3,551 2,475 1,559 1,207 1,025
Other, including other real estate owned 137 98 106 20 61
Nonperforming assets 3,688 2,573 1,665 1,297 1,086
Allowance for credit losses 4,528 4,110 2,285 2,271 2,817
Net charge-offs 2,288 1,301 1,206% 1,498 1,887
Nonperforming assets to related assets 2.35% 1.48% 1.02% 0.83% 0.68%
Allowance for credit losses/loans outstanding 2.89 2.36 1.39 1.46 1.77
Allowance for credit losses/nonperforming loans 128 166 147 188 275
Net charge-offs/average loans 1.37 0.81 0.77 0.97 1.21
Allowance for credit losses/net charge-offs 198 295 189 152 149

(1) Inciudes $143 million of charges required to bring the consumer portfolio into compliance with FFIEC guidetines. Excluding these incremental charge-offs, the adjusted
coverage ratio would have been 215%.

Loan Composition

In 2001, the Corporation changed its loan composition methodology to a line of business approach, dividing the loan portfolio into
Retail, Commercial Banking, First USA, and other lines of businiess. The Corporation has presented 2000 information under both the
“old” and “new” compositions, but has not presented 1999, 1998 and 1997 under the “new” composition as it would be impractical to
reclassify those periods using the new methodologies.

The Corporation’s loan portfolio at December 31 are as follows:

2001 2000
(Dollars in millions) Amount % W Amount % 1
Retail:
Small business commercial $ 12,347 6 $ 12,103 5
Home equity 30,288 14 31,361 13
Vehicles:
Loans 13,481 6 14,300 6
Leases 8,155 3 8,840 4
Other personal 9,779 4 10,697 5
Total Retail 72,030 33 77,301 33
Commercial Banking:
Corporate Banking:
Commercial and industrial 22,268 10 N/A
Commercial real estate 8,975 4 N/A
Lease financing 4,689 2 N/A
Other 7341 - N/A
Total Corporate Banking 36,643 16 51,700 22
Middle Market:
Commercial and industrial 28,676 13 N/A
Commercial real estate 3,472 2 N/A
Lease financing 1,053 1 N/A
Other 284 — N/A
Total Middie Market 33,485 16 33,400 14
Total Commercial Banking 70,138 32 85,100 36
Other lines of business 7,779 4 7,106 3
First USA:
On balance sheet 6,786 3 4,744 2
Securitized @ 64,369 28 62,241 26
Managed credit card 68,4155 31 66,985 28
Total managed $248,102 100% $236,492 100%
Total reported $1.58,733 $174,251

N/A-Not available.
(1} Percentages shown above for loan type are determined as a percentage of total managed loans.

(2} Includes seller’s interest in credit card loans and securities sold to investors and removed from the balance sheet.
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Prior to 2001, the Corporation’s loan portfolio was divided into commercial, consumer and credit card loan categories as of

December 31:
2000 | 1999 | 1998 1997
(Dollars in millions) Amount % v Amount % v Amount % W Amount %
Commercial:
Domestic:
Commercial $ 65,270 28%($ 59,070 26%|$ 53,362 25%|$ 48,458 25%
Real estate:
Construction 5,757 2 5,836 3 5,108 2 4,639 2
Other 16,778 7 18,817 8 17,787 8 16,545 8
Lease financing 5,818 3 5,562 2 6,236 3 4,537 2
Foreign 6,837 3 7,067 3 5,945 3 5,127 3
Total commercial 100,460 43 96,352 42 88,438 41 79,306 40
Consumer:
Residential real estate 40,596 17 32,313 14 25,804 12 28,088 14
Automotive—loans/leases 20,741 9 23,567 11 20,634 10 17,998 9
Other 7,710 3 7,608 3 11,488 5 11,522 6
Total consumer 69,047 29 63,488 28 57,926 27 57,6808 29
Credit card:
On balance sheet 4,744 2 4,037 2 9,034 4 22,665 12
Securitized® 62,241 26 65,319 28 60,993 28 37,414 19
Managed credit card 66,985 28 69,356 30 70,027 32 60,079 31

Total managed

$236,492  100%/$229,196 100% $216,391  100%/$196,993 100%

Total reported $174,251

$159,579

$163,877 $155,398

(1) Percentages shown above for loan type are determined as a percentage of total managed loans.

(2) Includes seller’s interest in credit card loans and securities sold to investors and removed from the balance sheet.

Managed Credit Card Receivables
For analytical purposes, the Corporation reports credit card receiv-
ables on both a reported basis and a managed basis. Reported credit
card receivables include those receivables held in the portfolio and
reported on the balance sheet. Managed credit card receivables
include reported credit card receivables and those sold to investors
through securitization (see page 64 for discussion of Loan
Securitizations).

The following table shows the average managed credit card
receivables and the related charge-off and delinquency rates for the
years ended:

DECEMBER 31, 20014 2000 1999
(Dollars in millions)
Average balances:

Credit card loans $ 6,884 $ 4,754 |$ 7,233
Securitized credit card
receivables 58,563 61,424 61,747

Total average managed

credit card receivables 65,447 66,178 68,980

Total net charge-offs

(including securitizations) $ 3,823 $ 3,584 |$ 3,790

Net charge-offs/average total

receivables 5.84% 5.42% 5.49%

Credit card delinquency rate
at period-end:

30 or more days 4.46% 4.51% 4.57%

90 or more days 1.93% 2.02% 2.13%

(1) Ratios include $143 million of securitized charge-offs taken in the fourth quar-
ter of 1999 related to the early adoption of certain of the FFIEC’s consumer
charge-off guideiines.
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The increase in the managed credit card charge-off rate to
5.84% in 2001 from 5.42% in 2000 reflected the general weakness
in the United States economy during 2001. Consumer credit
markets generally saw increased levels of delinquency and loss
through 2001. Naticnally, consumers filed for bankruptey in 2001
in much higher numbers than in any prior year. Credit management
tools used to manage the level and volatility of losses for credit card
accounts have been continually updated and where appropriate these
tools were adjusted to reduce credit risk in 2001. Management
believes the quality of new credit card accounts opened in 2001 is
superior to the quality of accounts opened in preceding years.
Management of risk in the existing accounts also improved in 2001.

The benefit of these actions is seen in a modest level of volatil-
ity experienced in losses on credit card accounts despite the weak-
ness in the economy. The Corporation currently expects that credit
losses will increase modestly in 2002. Future charge-offs in the
credit card portfolio and credit quality are subject to uncertainties
which may cause actual results to differ widely from that fore-
casted, including the direction and level of loan delinquencies,
changes in consumer behavior, bankruptcy trends, portfolio sea-
soning, interest rate movements, and portfolio mix, among other
things. While current economic and credit data suggests that credit
quality will not significantly deteriorate, material deterioration in

the general economy could materially change these expectations.
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Retall

The retail loan portfolio primarily consists of loans secured by real
estate as well as vehicle loans and leases, and provides broad diversi-
fication of risk from both a product and geographic perspective.
Average receivable balances for 2001 were $74.7 billion. Even
though average receivables were flat compared to the prior year, the
Corporation continues to effectively enhance the composition of
loans in the portfolio by emphasizing high quality prime credit
lending reflecting the organization’s desire for profitability. During
2001, the Corporation continued to de-emphasize vehicle leasing
and significantly refocused its indirect real estate lending involving
loans sourced through brokers. New loans originated in 2001 on
average reflect higher credit quality consistent with management’s
focus on the prime credit market segment. The net charge-off rate
for retail loans in 2001 was 1.10%, up 37 basis points from the
prior year. The increase from 2000 reflected the impact of general
weakness in economic conditions including higher consumer bank-
ruptcies and higher losses on brokered home equity loans. Given the
current state of the economy, Management expects consumer loan
losses to rise modestly for the foreseeable future. Future retail port-
folio charge-offs and credit quality are subject to uncertainties
which may cause actual results to differ widely from that forecasted,
including the direction and level of loan delinquencies, changes in
consumer behavior, bankruptcy trends, portfolio seasoning, interest
rate movements and portfolio mix among other things.

The Corporation continues to proactively manage its retail
credit operation to ensure profitability even in difficult economic
conditions. Ongoing efforts include continual review and enhance-
ment of credit underwriting criteria, rationalization of the number
and quality of third-party loan originators (i.e., brokers and corre-

spondents) and refinement of pricing and risk management models.
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Commercial Banking

Commercial Banking loans decreased by $15.0 billion, or 18%,
between December 31, 2000 and December 31, 2001, primarily
due to a planned and managed reduction of the Corporate
Banking portfolio. Nonperforming Commercial Banking loans
increased by $578 million, or 38%, to $2.1 billion at December
31, 2001, as compared to $1.5 billion at December 31, 2000, pri-
marily due to continued portfolio deterioration across a number
of industry segments. Commercial Banking’s net charge-offs in
2001 were $1.041 billion, or 1.34% of average loans, compared
with $562 million of net charge-offs, or 0.66% of average loans,
in 2000. Given the current state of the economy, the Corporation
expects Middle Market nonperforming loans to increase, with
charge-offs rising modestly for the foreseeable future. Future
charge-offs and credic quality in the Commercial Banking portfo-
lio are subject to uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ
from that forecasted, including the state of the economy and its
impact on individual industries, commercial real estate values,
interest rate movements and portfolio mix, among other things.
While credit losses expected for the foreseeable furure would be
considered higher than normal, a deepening of the recession would

cause higher credit losses than currently anticipated.

Commercial and Industrial Loans
Commercial and industrial loans represent commercial loans other
than commercial real estate. At December 31, 2001, commercial
and industrial loans totaled $50.9 billion, which represents 73% of
the Commercial Banking portfolio.

The more significant borrower industry concentrations of the
Commercial Banking commercial and industrial portfolio as of

December 31, 2001 are:

Percent of Total
Commercial and
Industrial Loans

(Dollars in millions) Outstanding

Wholesale trade $ 4,409 8.7%
Industrial materials 3,355 6.6
Oil and gas 3,219 6.3
Consumer staples 3,008 5.9
Metals and products 2,749 5.4
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Commercial Real Estate
Commercial real estate loans represent credit extended for real-
estate related purposes to borrowers or counterparties who are pri-
marily in the real estate development or investment business and
for which the ultimate repayment of the loan is dependent on the
sale, lease, rental or refinancing of the property.

Commercial real estate lending is conducted in several lines of
business with the majority of these loans originated by Corporate

Banking primarily through its specialized Narional Commercial

Real Estate Group. This group’s focus is lending to targeted’

regional and national real estate developers, homebuilders and
REITS/REOCs. As of December 31, 2001, National Commercial
Real Estate Group’s loan outstandings totaled $8.8 billion or 70%
of the commercial real estate portfolio.

At December 31, 2001, commercial real estate loans totaled
$12.4 billion, or 18% of Commercial Banking loans. During
2001, net charge-offs in the commercial real estate portfolio
segment were $14 million. Nonperforming commercial real estate
assets, including other real estate owned, totaled $199 million, or
1.6% of related assets, at December 31, 2001.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

The commercial real estate loan portfolio by both collateral

location and property type as of December 31, 2001 are as follows:

(Dollars in millions) Outstanding
By Collateral Location: Amount % of Portfolio
Illinois $ 1,682 14%
Michigan 1,348 11
Texas 1,004 8
California 960 8
Arizona 958 8
Ohio 839 7
indiana 504 4
Louisiana 487 4
Colorado 356 3
Kentucky 326 3
Other areas 1,806 13
Unsecured 1,670 13
Secured by other than

real estate 507 4

Total $12,447 100%

By Property Type:
Retail $ 1,913 15%
Office 1,804 15
Apartment 1,770 14
REIT/diversified 1,297 10
Single family residential

development 1,273 10
Industrial/warehouse 1,230 10
Hotels 625 5
Residential lots 472 4
Miscellaneous commercial

income producing 1,864 15
Miscellaneous residential

developments 199 2

Total $12,447 100%

55

2001 ANNUAL REPORT




ASSET QUALITY
In 2001, the Corporation changed its loan composition methodol-
ogy to a line of business approach, dividing the loan portfolio into
Retail, Commercial Banking, First USA, and other lines of busi-
ness. The Corporation has presented 2000 information under both
the “old” and “new” compositions, but has not presented 1999,
1998 and 1997 under the “new” composition as it would be

impractical to reclassify those periods using the new methodologies.

Nonperforming Assets

The Corporation places loans on nonaccrual status as follows:

o Retail consumer loans are placed on nonaccrual status when the
collection of contractual principal or interest becomes 90 days
past due. Accrued but uncollected interest and fee income are
reversed and charged against interest income when the consumer
loan is placed on nonaccrual status. Subsequent cash collections
are recognized as interest income unless the consumer loan is sub-
sequently charged-off, in which case cash collections are recog-

nized as recoveries,

o

Commercial Banking and Retail small business commercial loans
are placed on nonaccrual status when the collection of contrac-
tual principal or interest is deemed doubtful, or it becomes 90
days or more past due and is both not well-secured and in the
process of collection. Accrued but uncollected interest and fee
income are reversed and charged against interest income when
placed on nonaccrual status. Cash interest payments received are

recognized either as interest income or as a reduction of principal

when collection of principal is doubtful. The loan is returned to
accrual status only when all of the principal and interest amounts
contractually due are reasonably assured within a reasonable time
frame and when the borrower has demonstrated payment per-
formance.
° Credit card receivables are charged-off rather than placed on
nonaccrual status.
The Corporation’s nonperforming loans by line of business and

total nonperforming assets for the periods indicated are as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2001 2000
(Dollars in millions)
Nonperforming Loans:
Retail $1,370 $ 912
Commercial Banking:
Corporate Banking 1,154 1,065
Middle Market Banking 347 458
Other lines of business 80 40
Total @ 3,551 2,475
Other, primarily other real estate owned 137 98
Total nonperforming assets $3,688 $2,573
Nonperforming assets/related assets 2.35% 1.48%
Loans 90-days or more
past due and accruing interest:
Credit Card $ 96 $ 57
Other i 5
Total $ 97 $ 62

(1) The amount of interest on nonperforming loans that was contractually due in
20041 totaled $202 million. Of this amount, $34 million was actually recorded
in 2001.

Prior to 2001, the Corporation’s nonperforming assets as of December 31 are:

(Dollars in millions) 2000 1999 1998 1997
Nonperforming Loans:
Commercial $1,761 $1,053 $ 729 $ 609
Consumer 714 506 478 416
Total 2,475 1,559 1,207 1,025
Other, primarily other real estate owned 28 106 90 61
Total nonperforming assets $2,573 $1,665 $1,297 $1,086
Nonperforming assets/related assets 1.48% 1.02% 0.83% 0.68%
Loans S0 days or more past due and accruing interest:
Credit Card $ 57 $ 76 $ 161 $ 438
Other 5 50 78 140
Total $ 62 $ 126 $ 239 $ 578

The Corporation has experienced credit quality deterioration
in a number of distinct Commercial Banking market segments.
The Corporation has established processes for identifying potential
problem areas of the portfolio, which currently include exposure o
leveraged lending and acquisition finance activities, healthcare,
automotive parts and manufacturing, business finance and leasing,

professional services, miscellaneous transportation services,
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telecommunications and selected utilities. The Corporation will
continue to monitor and manage these potential risks.
Nonperforming loans within Retail, which includes all con-
sumer balances more than 90-days past due, increased by $458
million in 2001 to $1.4 billion reflecting deterioration in credit
performance consistent with general economic conditions. These

increases primarily reflect loans secured by residential real estate
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where the Corporation maintains a loss recognition policy includ-
ing the writing down of assets to net realizable value at 120-days
past due. Retail nonperforming assets are likely to continue to
increase modestly for the foreseeable future and will be influenced
in part by the future direction of economic conditions including

residential real estate valuation trends.

Charge-off Policies

The Corporation records charge-offs as follows:

° Commercial loans are charged-off in the reporting period in which
either an event occurs that confirms the existence of a loss or it is
determined that a loan or a portion of a loan is uncollectible,

° A credit card loan is charged-off in the month it becomes contrac-
tually 180 days past due and remains unpaid at the end of that
month or in the event of bankruptcy notification, specifically, 60

days after receipt of notification. Interest on credit card loans is

accrued until the loan is charged-off. At the time of charge-off,
accrued but uncollected finance charges and fee income are reversed
and charged against interest income and credit card revenue, respec-
tively. Subsequent cash collections are recorded as recoveries.

° Retail loans are generally charged-off following a delinquency period
of 120 days, or within 60 days after receipt of notification in case of
bankruptey. Closed-end consumer loans, such as auto loans and leases
and home mortgage loans, are typically written down to the extent of
loss after considering the net realizable value of the collateral.

The timing and amount of the charge-off on consumer loans
will depend on the type of loan, giving consideration to available col-
lateral, as well as the circumstances giving rise to the delinquency.
The Corporation adheres to uniform guidelines published by the

FFIEC in charging off consumer loans.

The following table shows the Corporation’s net charge-offs by line of business for the years ended December 31:

2001 2000
Net Net Net Net
charge- Average | charge-off charge- Average | charge-off
(Dollars in millions) offs halance rate offs balance rate
Retail @ $ 824 | $ 74,749 1.10% $ 542 | $ 74,632 0.73%
Commercial banking:
Corporate Banking €38 43,495 1.47 435 53,343 0.81
Middle Market Banking 403 34,310 1.17 127 32,178 0.40
First USA 3,823 65,447 5.84 3,584 66,178 5.42
Other lines of business 34 7,616 40 6,861
Total-Managed » 5,719 | $225,617 2.53% 4,728 | $233,192 [ 2.03%
Securitized (3,431) (3,337)
Total-Reported $2,288 | $167,054 1.37% $1,391 | $171,768 0.81%

(1) 2001 amounts exclude $92 million of charge-offs relating to part of a portfolio that has been accounted for as loans held at a discount, but viewed for management

purposes as charge-offs.

Prior to 2001, net charge-offs by portfolio for the years ended December 31 are:

2000 1999
Net Net Net Net
charge- Average | charge-off charge- Average | charge-off
(Dollars in millions) offs balance rate offs balance rate
Commercial $ 597 | $100,202 0.60% $ 306 |$ 90,182 0.34%
Consumer @ 547 66,812 0.82 558 59,440 0.94
Credit card @ 3,584 66,178 5.42 3,790 68,980 5.49
Total-Managed ¥ 4,728 | $233,192 2.03% 4,654 | $218,602 2.13%
Securitized (3,337) (3,448)
Total-Reported $1,391 | $171,768 0.81% $1,206 | $156,855 Q.77%

(1) Includes $143 million of consumer charge-offs and $183 million of securitized charge-offs taken in the fourth quarter of 1999 related to the early adoption of certain

of the FFIEC's new consumer charge-off guidelines.

Charge-offs
Managed net charge-offs increased 21% during 2001 to
$5.719 billion, reflecting higher charge-offs in all lines of business.
The managed net charge-off rate increased to 2.53% in 2001
versus 2.03% in 2000.

Retail net charge-offs for 2001 totaled $821 million, up from

$542 million in 2000. Increases in credit losses across all consumer
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portfolios including small business were recorded. Several factors
contributing to these increased losses include: increased consumer
bankruptcies; increased severity per default involving auto loans
and leases tied to weaker market prices for repossessed vehicles; and
overall weakening of consumer economic fundamentals associated

with an economy in recession.
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Loan Sales
A summary of the Corporation’s Corporate Banking loan sales in
2001 follows:

Loans Charge- Loss on

(In millions) Sold offs Sales
Nonperforming loans $ 582 $124 $ -
Other credit related loans sold 487 92 1
Other loans sold 1,148 — 43
Total $2,217 $216 $44

The Corporation sells Corporate Banking loans in the normal
course of its business activities. These loans are subject to the
Corporation's overall risk management practices and are one alter-
native the Corporation uses to manage credit risk. Decisions to sell
particular loans are made after taking into account various alterna-
tives to manage credit exposure. Sales transactions are initiated
when Management determines its sales intent. When a loan is sold,
the gain or loss is evaluated to determine whether it resulted from
credit deterioration or other conditions. Based upon this evalua-
tion, the losses on other loans sold in 2001 were deemed to be
caused by other than credit deterioration. The sale of nonperform-
ing and other credit related loans were primarily recorded as charge-

offs as the losses on sale were attributable to credit deterioration.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses is maintained at a level that in

Management’s judgment is adequate to provide for estimated prob-
able credit losses inherent in various on- and off-balance sheet finan-
cial instruments. This process includes deriving probable loss
estimates that are based on historical loss ratios and portfolio stress
testing and Management’s judgment. The allowance is based on
ranges of estimates and is intended to be adequate but not excessive.
Each quarter, an allowance level is formally estimated by each line of
business and reviewed by Corporate Risk and Senior Management.
The allowance for credit losses also includes provisions for losses on
loans considered impaired and measured pursuant to Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 114, “Accounting by
Creditors for Impairment of a Loan” (see Note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements on page 80). Securitized and loans held for sale,
including credit card receivables, are not subject to this process.

Corporate Risk Management recommends an allowance and
provision for credit losses that result in adequate coverage of inher-
ent losses within the Corporation’s credit portfolios. Corporate
Risk Management’s assessment is based on line of business tests,
portfolio-level econometric modeling and stress testing, as well as
Management’s judgment. Corporate Risk Management also uti-
lizes third-party analysis to validate internal measures of inherent
loss, credit quality and allowance adequacy.

The change in the Corporation’s allowance for credit losses

for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

(In millions) 2001 2000 (In millions) 2001 2000
Balance, beginning of period $4,110 $2,285 Recoveries:
Charge-offs: Retail:

Retail: Small business commercial $ 22 $ 22
Small business commercial 23 66 Home equity 27 15
Home equity 402 196 Vehicles:

Vehicles: Loans 66 63
Loans 220 201 Leases 28 21
Leases 127 91 Other personal 29 40

Other personal 151 149 Total Retail 172 161
Total Retail 8393 703 Commercial Banking:

Commercial Banking: Corporate Banking:

Corporate Banking: Commercial and industrial 74 N/A
Commercial and industrial 689 N/A Commercial real estate 8 N/A
Commercial real estate 15 N/A Lease financing - N/A
Lease financing 16 N/A Total Corporate Banking 82 36

Total Corporate Banking 720 469 Middie Market:

Middie Market: Commercial and industrial 49 N/A
Commercial and industrial 417 N/A Commercial real estate 1 N/A
Commercial real estate 8 N/A Lease financing 8 N/A
Lease financing 36 N/A Total Middle Market 58 28

Total Middle Market 481 157 Total Commercial Banking 140 64

Total Commercial Banking i,i81 626 First USA 23 14

First USA 415 261 Other lines of business 7 37

Other lines of business 44 77 Total recoveries 342 276
Total charge-offs $2,630 $1,667  Net charge-offs:

Retail 824 542

Commercial Banking 1,041 562

First USA 3392 247

Other lines of business 34 40

Total net charge-off 2,288 1,391

Provision for credit losses 2,510 3,398

Transfers @ 136 (182)

Balance, end of year $4,528 $4,110

N/A-Not available.

(1) Transfers to the allowance for credit losses as of December 31, 2001 primarily represent the addition of the Wachovia credit card portfolio. All periods reflect transfers
of allocable credit allowances associated with loan sale transactions, including securitization transactions.
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For analytical purposes, summarized below are the changes in the allowance for credit loss for the years ended December 31:

(In millions) 2000 | 1999 | 1998 1997
Balance, beginning of year $2,285 $2,271 | $2,817 $2,687
Charge-offs:
Commercial:
Domestic:
Commercial 618 325 222 200
Real estate:
y Construction 8 5 3 3
QOther 11 27 25 19
Lease financing 7 12 20 12
Foreign 64 41 52 -
Total commercial 708 410 322 234
Consumer:
Residential real estate 230 189 74 52
Automotive:
Loans 215 256 220 260
Leases 91 | 87 61 51
Other 162 203 246 256
Total consumer 698 735 601 619
Credit card 261 386 1,022 1,544
Total charge-offs 1,667 1,531 1,945 2,397
Recoveries:
Commercial:
Domestic:
Commercial 28 70 68 97
Real estate:
Construction 1 6 3 6
Other 4 25 23 29
Lease financing 1 2 5 3
Foreign 7 1 1 12
Total commercial 111 104 100 147
Consumer: |
Residential real estate 17 12 11 % 14
Automotive: i
Loans 69 82 92 105
Leases 21 23 21 17
Other 44 60 64 63
Total consumer 151 177 188 199
Credit card 14 44 159 164
Total recoveries 276 325 447 510
Net charge-offs:
Commercial 597 306 222 87
Consumer 547 558 413 420
Credit Card 247 342 863 1,380
Total net charge-off 1,391 1,206 1,498 1,887
Provision for credit losses 3,398 1,249 1,408 1,988
Transfers (182) | (29) (456) 29
Balance, end of year $4,110 f $2,285 $2,271 $2,817

Transfers from the allowance for credit losses primarily represent allocable credit allowances associated with consumer loan sale transac-

tions, including securitization transactions.
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Composition of Allowance for Credit Losses

While the allowance for credit losses is available to absorb credit losses in the entire portfolio, presented below is an allocation of the allowance

for credit losses by line of business as of December 31:

2004 2000

(Dollars in millions) Amount % Amount %
Retail $1,040 23% $ 846 20%
Commercial Banking

Corporate Banking 1,714 38 1,699 41

Middle Market 1,382 30 1,345 33
First USA 396 8 197 5
Other lines of business 26 i 23 1

Total $4,528 100% $4,110 100%
For analyrtical purposes, an allocation of the allowance for credit losses by loan type as of December 31 follows:
2000 1999 1998 1997

(Dollars in millions) Amourt % Amount % Amount % Amount %
Commercial @ $3,199 78% | $ 972 43% | $ 834 37% | $ 660 23%
Consumer 714 17 486 21 440 19 484 17
Credit Card 197 5 148 6 199 9 813 29
Unallocated - — 679 30 798 35 860 31

Total $4,110 100% | $2,285 100% | $2,271 100% | $2,817 100%

(1) Includes allowance related to Business and Community Banking loans, which are included in the Retail business segment results,

At December 31, 2001, the allowance for credit losses was
198% of current year net charge-offs (on a reported basis) as com-
pared to a reserve coverage ratio of 295% at December 31, 2000.
This decrease reflects deterioration in certain components of the
Commercial Banking and brokered home equity portfolios. The
allowance for credit losses at December 31, 2001, represented 2.89%
of period-end loans and 128% of nonperforming loans, compared to
2.36% and 166%, respectively, at December 31, 2000. The allowance
for credir losses established for specifically identified off-balance sheet

lending exposures was not material at December 31, 2001.
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Reserve Determination

The Corporation determines allowance levels based upon the
probable loss in the credit portfolios. The allowance is based on
ranges of estimates and is intended to be adequate but not exces-
sive. The estimation process includes deriving probable loss esti-
mates that are based on historical loss rates, portfolio stress testing
of probable loss estimates and Management’s judgment.

During 2000, the Corporation reviewed its practice of main-
taining unallocated reserves in light of continuing refinement in
loss estimation processes, including improvements in portfolio
level stress testing techniques. It was concluded that the use of
unallocated reserves would be discontinued. These reserves were

aligned with their respective portfolios.
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Probable Loss Estimation

The Corporation employs several methodologies for estimating
probable losses. Methodologies are determined based on a number
of factors, including type of asset (e.g., consumer installment versus
commercial loan), risk measurement parameters (e.g., delinquency
status and bureau score versus commercial risk rating), and risk
management and collection processes (e.g., retail collection center
versus centrally managed workout units).

For the Retail and Credit Card portfolios, the allowance is
based on a statistical analysis of inherent losses over discrete periods
of time. The analysis reviews historical losses, vintage performance,
delinquencies and other risk characteristics of the various products
to estimate probable losses. Other risk characteristics evaluated
may include: recent loss experience in the portfolios, changes in
origination sources, portfolio seasoning and underlying credit prac-
tices, including charge-off policies. These factors and analysis are
updated on a quarterly basis.

For the Commercial Banking portfolio, the Corporation con-
ducts a ewo-part test. First, significant credits that have a risk
rating equivalent to the bank regulatory classifications of
Substandard, Doubtful and Loss are formally reviewed periodically
and at least quarterly and asset-specific reserves are established as
appropriate.  Second, inherent losses for the remaining
Commercial Banking portfolio are estimated by assigning an
expected loss factor to each risk category of the portfolio based on
a statistical analysis of historical loss experience over a discrete
period of time. During the second quarter of 2001, the
Corporation refined its measurement process for estimating prob-
able losses inherent in the Commercial Banking portfolio. To
refine the process, the Corporation analyzed historical credit loss,
risk-rating migration and loss given default data and assigned prob-
ability of default and loss given default factors to each exposure in

the portfolio.

Portfolio Stress-Testing
Stress testing is performed on all significant portfolios to simulate
the effect of economic deterioration on credit performance. Stress
testing the portfolios provides Management with a range of loss
estimates that incorporates the Corporation’s historical loss experi-
ence and the reserve impact of events that have occurred, or might
possibly occur, but that have not been reflected in either the his-
torical expected loss factors or the currently assigned risk ratings.
Stress testing of the commercial portfolio is accomplished
using a framework developed to test expected default factors and
loss given default estimates and to test the effect of downgrades to
exposures in identified high-risk industries. This process includes,
establishing a base case scenario using three alternative market

probability sets and an estimated loss given default probability to
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measutre the impact on reserves; determining the effect of applying
a higher loss given default probability to the base case to take into
consideration the variability of historical loss rates over the business
cycle; and estimating trend-based reserves in high-risk industries
that may not be fully reflected in the historically based loss factors,
using market-based tools and information as well as sanctioned
macroeconomic forecasts.

Stress testing the consumer portfolios, including credit card,
is accomplished by applying the results of econometric modeling to
each of the portfolio segments. The purpose of this analysis is to
quantify the impact of economic deterioration on existing weak-
nesses in the portfolios, whose effects are not yet incorporated into
the historically based reserve rates. The stress test models employ
a regression methodology that incorporates the larest national
trends for each consumer credit product segment. Economic vari-
ables used include consumer debt, unemployment rates, consumer
debt burdens, consumer confidence, bankruptcies, and interest
rates, among other statistics. Additionally, a series of portfolio spe-
cific stress tests are performed to simulate individual economic
events. These include such events as declining residential real
estate prices, weakening used car prices, rising interest rates, spikes
in personal bankruprcies, and economic recession scenarios. The
results of the stress testing are used by Management to support the

adequacy of the allowance established.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Corporation uses a variety of derivative financial instruments
in its trading, asset and liability management, as well as to manage
certain currency translation exposures of foreign operations. These
instruments include interest rate, currency, equity and commodity
swaps, forwards, spot, futures, options, caps, floors, forward rate
agreements, and other conditional or exchange contracts, and

include both exchange-traded and over-the-counter contracts.

Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments

Effective January 1, 2001, the Corporation adopted SEAS No,
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”), as amended. The new standard sig-
nificantly changed the accounting treatment for interest rate and
foreign exchange derivatives the Corporation uses in its derivative
activity accounted for as a hedge. The new accounting treatment

for derivatives is described below.

Trading Derivative Instruments

Derivartive financial instruments used in trading activities are
carried at fair value. Such instruments include swaps, forwards,
spot, futures, options, caps, floors and forward rate agreements and
other conditional or exchange contracts in the interest rate, foreign

exchange, equity and commodity markets. The estimated fair

61 2001 ANNUAL REPORT




values are based on quoted market prices or pricing and valuation
models on a present value basis using current market information.
Realized and unrealized gains and losses, including any interest
income or expense, are recorded in noninterest income as trading.
Where appropriate, compensation for credit risk and ongoing serv-
icing is deferred and recorded as income over the life of the deriv-
ative financial instruments.

Purchased option, cap and floor contracts are reported in
derivative product assets, and written option, cap and floor con-
tracts are reported in derivative product liabilities. For other deriv-
ative financial instruments, unrealized gains are reported in
derivative product assets, and unrealized losses are reported in
derivative product liabilities. However, fair value amounts recog-
nized for derivative financial instruments executed with the same
counterparty under 2 legally enforceable master netting arrange-
ment are reported on a net basis. Cash flows from derivative finan-
cial instruments are reported net as operating activities.

Credit derivatives are accounted for as derivative instruments
under SFAS No. 133. As a result, the change in fair value of credit
derivative instruments is included in trading results in the
Corporation’s financial statements while any credit assessment
change in the identified commercial credit exposure is reflected as

a change in the allocated credit reserves.

Hedging Derivative Instruments
Derivative financial instruments used in hedging activities are des-
ignated as fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net
investments in foreign operations, and are required to meet specific
criteria. The instruments used in fair value hedges and cash flow
hedges are principally interest rate swaps. Such interest rate swaps
are linked to and adjust effectively the interest rate sensitivicy of
specific assets and liabilities. Interest rate swaps not designated and
qualified as a hedge are treated as trading derivative instruments.
Fair Value Hedges (primarily hedges of fixed rate interest-
bearing instruments)-The change in fair value of both the hedging
derivative and hedged item is recorded in current earnings. If a
hedge is dedesignated prior to maturity, previous adjustments to
the carrying value of the hedged item are recognized in earnings to
match the earnings recognition pattern of the hedged item (e.g,,
level yield amortization if hedging an interest-bearing instrument).
Cash Flow Hedges (primarily hedges of variable rate interest-
bearing instruments)-The effective portion of the change in fair
value of the hedging derivative is recorded in Accumulated Other
Adjustments to Stockholders’ Equity (“AOASE”) and the ineffec-
tive portion directly in earnings. Amounts in AOASE are reclassi-
fied into earnings in a manner consistent with the earnings pattern
of the underlying hedged item (generally, reflected in interest

expense). The toral amount of such reclassification into earnings is
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projected to be charges of $105 million after tax ($163 million pre-
tax) over the next twelve months. The maximum length of time
exposure to the variability of future cash flows for forecasted trans-
actions hedged is 12 months. If a hedge is dedesignated prior to
maturity, previous adjustments to AOASE are recognized in earn-
ings to match the earnings recognition pattern of the hedged item
(e.g., level yield amortization if hedging an interest-bearing instru-
ment). The effect on earnings from the discontinuance of cash flow
hedges due to the determination that a forecasted transaction is no
longer likely to occur was immaterial.

Interest income or expense on most hedging derivatives used
to manage interest rate exposure is recorded on an accrual basis, as
an adjustment to the yield of the linked exposures over the periods
covered by the contracts. This matches the income recognition
treatment of that exposure, generally assets or liabilities carried at
historical cost, with interest recorded on an accrual basis. If all or
part of a linked position is terminated, ¢.g., a linked asset is sold or
prepaid, or if the amount of an anticipated transaction is likely to
be less than originally expected, then the related pro rata portion of
any unrecognized gain or loss on the derivative is recognized in
earnings at that time, and the related pro rata portion of the deriv-
ative is subsequently accounted for as a trading instrument.

Hedges of non-U.S Dollar Net Investment in Foreign Operations—
In order to minimize the capital impact of translation gains or
losses measured on an after-tax basis, the Corporation uses forward
foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exposure relating to non-
U.S. dollar net investments in foreign operations. The effective
portion of the change in fair value of the hedging derivatives is
recorded in AOASE as part of the cumulative translation adjust-
ment. The amount of after-tax gains included in the cumulative
translation adjustment during the year ended December 31, 2001,
related to hedges of the foreign currency exposures of net invest-

ments in foreign operations, totaled $6 million.

Income Resulting frem Derivative Financial Instruments
The Corporation uses interest rate derivative financial instruments
to reduce structural interest rate risk and the volatility of net inter-
est margin. Net interest margin reflects the effective use of these
derivatives. Without their use, net interest income would have
been lower by $68 million in 2001, $52 million in 2000, and
$181 million in 1999.

The amount of hedge ineffectiveness recognized for cash flow
and fair value hedges in the year ended December 31, 2001 was
insignificant. No component of a hedging derivative instrument’s

gain or loss is excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness.
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Credit Exposure Resulting from Derivative Financial
Instruments
The credit risk associated with exchange-traded derivative financial
instruments is limited to the relevant clearinghouse. Options written
do not expose the Corporation to credit risk, except to the extent of
the underlying risk in a financial instrument that the Corporation
may be obligated to acquire under certain written put options. Caps
and floors written do not expose the Corporation to credit risk.
Credit exposure from derivative financial instruments arises
from the risk of a counterparty default on the derivative contract.
The amount of loss created by the default is the replacement cost
or current positive fair value of the defaulted contract. The
Corporation utilizes master netting agreements whenever possible

to reduce its credit exposure from counterparty defaults. These

Asset and Liability Management Derivatives

agreements allow the netting of contracts with unrealized losses
against contracts with unrealized gains to the same counterparty, in
the event of a counterparty default.

The impact of these master netting agreements for the year
ended December 31 follows:

(In millions) 2001 2000
Gross replacement cost $12,262 $ 9,769
Less: Adjustment due to
master netting agreements (9,037) (7,222)
Current credit exposure 3,225 2,547
Unrecognized net gains
due to nontrading activity @ = (225)
Balance sheet credit exposure $ 3,225 $ 2,322

(1) At December 31, 2001, exposure amount is zero due to the January 1, 2001
adoption of SFAS No. 133.

Access to the derivatives market is an important element in maintaining the Corporation’s desired interest rate risk position. In general,

the assets and liabilities generated through ordinary business activities do not naturally create offsetting positions with respect to repric-

ing, basis or maturity characteristics. Using derivative inscruments, pri

sensitivity is adjusted to maintain the desired interest rate risk profile.

ncipally plain vanilla interest rate swaps (ALM swaps), interest rate

At December 31, 2001, the notional value of ALM interest rate swaps linked to specific assets or liabilities totaled $12.5 billion as follows:

Receive Fixed Pay Fixed
Pay Floating Receive Floating

Fair Value Fair value Cash Flow Total

(In millions) Hedge Hedge Hedge Swaps
Interest rate swaps associated with:

Investment securities $ - $50 $ - $ 50

Funds borrowed (including long-term debt) 7,939 - 4,522 12,461

Total $7,939 | $50 $4,522 $12,511

Interest rate swaps used to adjust the interest rate sensitivity
of securities and funds borrowed will not need to be replaced at
maturity, since the corresponding asset or liability will mature
along with the swap. Interest rate swaps designated as an interest
rate related hedge of an existing fixed rate asset or liability are fair
value type hedges. Conversely, interest rate swaps designated as an

interest rate hedge of an existing variable rate asset or liability are
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cash flow type hedges. Management designates interest rate swaps
as hedges of both fixed and variable rate assets and liabilities inter-
changeably. The type of hedge for accounting purposes is not a
strategic consideration. The Corporation has an insignificant
amount of hedges involving forecasted transactions and no non-

derivative instruments are designated as a hedge.
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Asset and Liability Management Swaps-Maturities and Rates

The notional amounts, marturity, and weighted-average pay and receive rates for the ALM swap position at December 31, 2001 are sum-

marized as follows:

(Dollars in millions) 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 | Thereafter Total
Receive fixed/pay floating swaps:
Notional amount $1,664 $25 $— $2,000 $ - $4,250 $ 7,939
Weighted average:
Receive rate 4.31% 7.61% —% 7.12% -% 6.51% 6.21%
Pay rate 2.20 2.35 - 2.26 ~ 2.38 2.31
Pay fixed/receive floating swaps:
Notional amount $2,787 $1,250 $— $ 250 $235 $50 $ 4,572
Weighted average:
Receive rate 2.22% 2.13% —% 2.35% 2.30% 2.46% 2.21%
Pay rate 6.90 7.18 — 7.67 6.74 7.70 7.02
Total notional amount $4,451 $1,275 $— $2,250 $235 $4,300 $12,511

Variable interest rates—which generally are the one-month, three-month and six-month London interbank offered rates (‘LIBOR”) in effect

on the date of repricing-are assumed to remain constant. However, interest rates will change and consequently will affect the related

weighted-average information presented.

LOAN SECURITIZATIONS AND OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ACTIVITIES

Loan Securitizations
The Corporation transforms loans into securities, which are sold to
investors—a process referred to as securitization. The Corporation
primarily securitizes credit card receivables but also securitizes
home equity loans and consumer assets to a limited extent. In a
credit card securitization, a designated pool of credit card receiv-
ables is removed from the balance sheet and transferred to a third-
party special purpose entity (“SPE” or “Trust”), that in turn sells
securities to investors entitling them to receive specified cash flows
during the life of the security. The proceeds from the issuance are
then distributed by the SPE to the Corporation as consideration
for the loans transferred. Following a securitization, the
Corporation receives: fees for servicing the receivables and any
excess finance charges, yield-related fees, and interchange revenue
on the receivables over and above the interest paid to the investors,
net credit losses and servicing fees (termed “the excess spread”).
The Corporation’s continuing involvement in the securitized
assets includes the process of managing and servicing the trans-
ferred receivables, as well as maintaining an undivided, pro rata
interest in all credit card receivables that have been securitized,
referred to as seller’s interest, which is generally equal to the pool of
assets included in the securitization less the investor’s portion of
those assets. The Corporations seller’s interest ranks pari-passu
with the investors’ interests in the Trusts. As the amount of the
loans in the securitized pool fluctuates due to customer payments,
purchases, cash advances, and credir losses, the carrying amount of
the seller’s interest will vary. However, the seller’s interest is required

to be maintained at a minimum level to ensure receivables are avail-
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able for allocation to the investor interest. This minimum level is
generally between 4% and 7% of the SPE’s principal receivables.

Investors in the beneficial interests of the securitized loans
have no recourse against the Corporation if cash flows generated
from the securitized loans are inadequate to service the obligations
of the SPE. To help ensure that adequare funds are available in the
event of a shortfall, the Corporation is required to deposit funds
into cash spread accounts if excess spread falls below certain
minimum levels. Spread accounts are funded from excess spread
that would normally be returned to the Corporation. In addition,
various forms of other credit enhancements are provided to protect
more senior investor interests from loss. Credit enhancements asso-
ciated with credit card securitizations, such as cash collateral or
spread accounts, totaled $165 million and $311 million at
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and are classified on
the balance sheet as other assets.

The following comprised the Corporation’s managed credit

card loans at December 31:

(In millions) 2004 2000
Owned credit card loans -

held in portfolio $ 5040 $ 2,835
Owned credit card loans —

held for future securitization 1,748 1,909
Seller’s interest in credit card loans

{investment securities) 24,019 22,446
Total credit card loans

reflected on balance sheet 30,805 27,190
Securities sold to investors and

removed from balance sheet 37,350 39,795
Managed credit card loans $68,155 $66,985
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For analytical purposes only, income statement line items are adjusted for the net impact of securitization of credit card receivables

for the years ended December 31:

2001 2000 1999
Credit Card Credit Card Credit Card
Securk Securi- Securi-
(Dollars in millions) Reported tizations  Managed Reported tizations Managed Reported tizations  Managed
Net interest income-
FTE basis $ 8,762 |$ 4,811 |$ 13,580 $ 8974 |$ 4,532 |$ 13506 |$ 9,142 |$ 5,315 |$ 14,457
Provision for credit
losses 2,510 3,431 5,941 3,388 3,337 6,735 1,249 3,265 4,514
Noninterest income 7,223 (1,380) 5,843 5,090 (1,195) 3,895 8,692 (2,050) 6,642
Noninterest expense ) 9,551 - 8,551 11,608 — 11,608 11,490 - 11,490
Net income (loss) 2,638 - 2,638 (511) — (511) 3,479 — 3,479
Total average loans 167,054 58,563 225,617 171,768 61,424 233,192 156,855 61,747 218,602
Total average earning
assets 237,863 33,803 277,672 241,058 42,977 284,035 223,539 45,698 269,237
Total average assets 267,581 39,803 307,384 271,984 42,977 314,961 256,491 45,698 302,189
Net interest margin 3.69% 12.0%% 4.8%% 3.72% 10.55% 4.76% 4.09% 11.63% 5.37%
Credit Card
delinquency ratios:
30+ days 3.00 4.84 4.48 2.74 4.64 4.51 4.06 4.60 4.57
90+ days 1.41 2.08 1.93 1.20 2.08 2.02 1.87 2.15 2.13
Net credit card
charge-off ratio 5.569 5.86 5.84 5.20 5.43 5.42 4.73 5.58 5.49
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Other Off-Balance Sheet Activities

In the normal course of business, the Corporation is a party to a
number of activities that contain credit, market and operational
risk that are not reflected in whole or in part in the Corporation’s
consolidated financial statements. Such activities include: tradi-
tional off-balance sheet credit-related financial instruments; com-
mitments under capital and operating leases and long term debr;
credit enhancement associated with asset-backed securities busi-

ness; and joint venture activities.

The Corporation provides customers with off-balance sheet
credit support through loan commitments, standby letters of credit
and guarantees, as well as commercial letters of credic.
Summarized credit-related financial instruments, including both
commitments to extend credit and letters of credit, at December
31, 2001 are as follows:

Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period

Less Than 1-3 3-5 Over 5
(In billions) Total 1 Year Years Years Years
Unused credit card lines $299.3 $299.3 $ - $ - $ -
Unused loan commitments 148.2 109.0 23.7 14.7 0.8
Standby letters of credit and foreign office guarantees 19.4 10.1 6.0 2.7 0.6
Commercial fetters of credit 0.6 0.6 — — —

Since many of the unused commitments are expected to expire unused or be only partially used, the total amount of unused com-

mitments in the preceding table does not necessarily represent future cash requirements.

In addition to owned banking facilities, the Corporation has entered into a number of long-term leasing arrangements to support

the ongoing activities of the Corporation. The required payments under such commitments and long-term debt at December 31, 2001

are as follows:

2007

(In millions) 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 and After Total
Operating leases $ 264 $ 249 $ 214 $ 169 $ 152 $ 890 $ 1,938
Trust preferred

capital securities — - - - - 3,315 3,315
Long-term debt,

including capital leases 8,512 7,910 5,575 3,932 6,935 7,239 40,103

Total $8,776 $8,159 $5,789 $4,101 $7,087 $11,444 $45,356

The Corporation is an active participant in the asset-backed
securities business where it helps meet customers’ financing needs
by providing access to commercial paper markets in conjunction
with specialized financing entities. Customers benefit from such
structured financing transactions as such transactions provide an
ongoing source of asset liquidity and a potentially favorable financ-
ing alternative.

The Corporation, in its role as administrator of these inde-
pendently rated specialized financing entities, structures financing
transactions for customers such that the receivables financed
through the specialized financing entities are appropriately diversi-
fied and credit enhanced to support the issuance of asset-backed
commercial paper. The Corporation does not service these assets
and does not transfer its own receivables into these specialized
financing entities. Credit enhancement facilities, in the form of
either loan or asset purchase commitments, support each transac-
tion in the specialized financing entities. At December 31, 2001,

credit enhancement facilities for these entities approximated $52.1
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billion, of which the Corporation provided $38.3 billion. At
December 31, 2000, credit enhancement facilities for these entities
approximated $42.0 billion, of which the Corporation provided
$29.7 billion. Assets in the trust are principally trade receivables,
auto loans and leases, credit card and a variety of other receivables.

In addition to customer financing transactions, these special-
ized financing entities fund, through the issuance of asset-backed
commercial paper, other selected portfolios of markerable invest-
ment securities that are not reflected on the Corporation’s balance
sheet. Such transactions are structured in a similar fashion to the
customer transactions. Off-balance sheet liquidity lines provided by
the Corporation associated with these transactions were $4.0 billion
at December 31, 2001 and $3.0 billion ac December 31, 2000.

The Corporation also provides credit enhancement facilities to
other than Bank One administered specialized financing entities.
These credit enhancements approximated $2.1 billion and $1.5
billion at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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The Corporation provides program-wide credit enhancement,
in the form of subordinated debt, for certain specialized financing
entities it administers. The Corporation provided $1.1 billion in
subordinated debt at December 31, 2001 and $845 million at
December 31, 2000. In addition, the Corporation provides to cus-
tomers transaction specific credit enhancement in the form of sub-
ordinated interests and off-balance sheet purchase commitments. At
December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Corporation provided credit
enhancements through subordinated interest positions of $59 million
and $72 million, respectively, and off-balance sheet purchase com-
mitments totaling $297 million and $123 million, respectively.

The risk associated with the credit enhancement provided in
these transactions is managed as part of the Corporation’s risk man-
agement practices.

The Corporation is a participant in several operating joint
venture initiatives where the Corporation has a majority equity
interest in the entity; however, based on the terms of the joint
venture arrangement, the ventures are jointly controlled and
managed. As a result, such investments are currently accounted for
under the equity method of accounting rather than being consoli-
dated on a line-by-line basis in the Corporation’s financial state-
ments. In 2002, Management has exerted additional influence over
two of these joint ventures. As a result, the Corporation consoli-
dated these two joint ventures beginning in the first quarter of
2002. Total assets of these two joint ventures are $1.2 billion as of
December 31, 2001 and this consolidation will have no net impact
to the Corporation’s consolidated net income. The Corporation’s
investment in the remaining joint ventures totaled $302 million at
December 31, 2001.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Economic Capital

An important aspect of risk management and performance meas-
urement is the ability to evaluate the risk and return of a business
unit, product or customer consistently across all lines of business.
The Corporation’s economic capital framework facilitates this stan-
dard measure of risk and return. Business units are assigned capital
consistent with the underlying risks of their product set, customer

base and delivery channels.
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The following principles are inherent in the capital allocation

methodology employed:

> An equal amount of capital is assigned for each measured unit
of risk.

o Risk is defined in terms of “unexpected” losses over the life of
the exposure, measured at a confidence interval consistent
with that level of capiralization necessary to achieve a targeted
AA debt rating. Unexpecred losses are in excess of those normally
incurred and for which reserves are maincained.

°  Business units are assessed a uniform charge against allotted
capital, representing a target hurdle rate on equity investments.
Returns on capital in excess of the hurdle rate contribute to
increases in shareholder value.

Four forms of risk are measured—credit, market, operational
and lease residual. Credit risk capital is determined through an
analysis of both historical loss experience and market expectations.
Market risk capital is set consistent with value-at-risk limits estab-
lished by the Corporation’s risk oversight committees. Operational
risk capital incorporates event and technology risks. The opera-
tional risk evaluation process involves an examination of various
risk factors that contribute to a greater likelihood of loss due to
such things as fraud or processing error. Finally, lease residual risk
capital covers the potential for losses arising from the disposition of
assets returned at the end of lease contracts. This price risk is ana-
lyzed based upon historical loss experiences and market factors, as
well as by reviewing event-specific scenarios.

The economic capital process provides a valuable analytical
tool that is critical to the understanding of business segment per-
formance trends. The methodologies employed are subject to
ongoing development and review. Over time, the Corporation’s
view of individual risks and associated capital will likely change
given improvements in the Corporation’s ability to quantify risks

inherent in various business activities.

Selected Capital Ratios

The Corporation aims to maintain regulatory capital ratios,

including those of the principal banking subsidiaries, in excess of

the well-capitalized guidelines under federal banking regulations.

The Corporation maintains a well-capitalized regulatory position.
The tangible common equity to tangible managed assets ratio

is also monitored. This ratio adds securitized credit card loans to

reported total assets and is calculated net of total intangible assets.
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The Corporation’s capital ratios follow:

Well-
Capitalized
Regulatory
DECEMBER 31, 2004 2000 1999 1998 1997 Guidelines
Regulatory leverage 8.2% 7.3% 7.7% 8.0% 7.8% 3.0%
Risk-based capital ratios
Tier 1 8.6 7.3 7.7 7.9 8.2 6.0
Total 12.2 10.8 10.7 11.3 12.3 10.0
Common equity/managed assets 6.6 8.0 6.3 6.7 6.7 -
Tangible common equity/tangible managed assets 5.9 55 5.7 5.8 6.2 -
Double leverage ratio 103 108 112 108 107 -
Dividend payout ratio 338 N/M 57 58 61 —
N/M-Not meaningful.
The components of the Corporation’s regulatory risk-based capital and risk-weighted assets are as follows at December 31:
(In millions) 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Regulatory risk-based capital:
Tier 1 capital $ 24,749 $ 19,824 | $ 20,247 $ 19,495| $ 17,958
Tier 2 capital 3,091 9,316 7,967 8,295 9,000
Total capital $ 30,840 $ 29,140 | $ 28214 | $ 27,790 $ 26,958
Total risk-weighted assets $253,330 $270,182 | $263,169 | $244,473| $219,557

In deriving Tier 1 and total capital, goodwill and other nonqualifying intangible assets are deducted as indicated for the period ended

December 31:

{In millions) 2001 2000 | 1999 1998 | 1997

Goodwill $1,560 $ 858 $ 934 $1,075 $1,120

Other nonqualifying intangibles 207 375 669 637 109
Subtotal 1,787 1,233 1,603 1,712 1,229

Qualifying intangibles 414 214 583 984 473
Total intangibles $2,484 $1,447 $2,186 $2,696 $1,702

In November 2001, the U.S. banking regulators revised the
risk based capital rules for the treatment of recourse arrangements,
direct credit substitutes, asset and mortgage backed securities, and
Additionally, in
January 2002, the U.S. banking regulators announced changes in

residual interests in securitization structures.

the risk based capital rules, related to the treatment of certain equity
investments made in nonfinancial companies. Both of the new
rules become effective during 2002, and the risk capital ratios pre-
sented above do not reflect these changes. It is anticipated that the
revised rules will not have a material impact on the Corporation’s

risk based capital ratios.

Dividend Poliey

The Corporation’s common stock dividend policy reflects its earn-
ings outlook, desired payout ratios, the need to maintain an ade-
quate capital level and alternative investment opportunities. The
common stock dividend payout ratio is currently targeted in the range
of 25% - 30% of earnings over time. Common stock dividends
declared for 2001 were $0.84 per share compared with $1.26 per
share for 2000. This reflects a 50% reduction of the quarterly div-

idend rate from 42 cents per share to 21 cents per share in the third
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quarter of 2000. On January 15, 2002, the Corporation declared
its quarterly common cash dividend of 21 cents per share, payable
on April 1, 2002.

On January 18, 2000, the Corporation announced the dis-

continuation of the biannual 10% stock dividend.

Double Leverage

Double leverage is the extent to which the Corporation’s resources
are used to finance investments in subsidiaries. Double leverage
was 103% at December 31, 2001 and 108% at December 31,
2000. Trust Preferred Capital Securities of $3.315 billion in 2001
and $2.483 billion in 2000 were included in capital for purposes
of this calculation.

Stock Repurchase Program and Other Capital Activities
On November 1, 2001, the Corporation redeemed all outstanding
preferred stock with cumulative and adjustable dividends, Series B
and C, totaling $190 million. The redemption price for both of the
Series B and C preferred stock was $100.00 per share, plus accrued
and unpaid dividends totaling $1.00 per share and $1.083 per

share, respectively.
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On September 17, 2001, the Corporation’s Board of
Directors approved the repurchase of up to $500 million of the
Corporations common stock. This buyback is part of the remain-
ing 28.4 million share buyback program authorized in May 1999.
The timing of the purchases and the exact number of shares to be
repurchased will depend on market conditions. The share repur-
chase program does not include specific price targets or timetables
and may be suspended at any time. In 2001, the Corporation pur-
chased 2.6 million shares of common stock at an average price of
$29.62 per share, leaving 25.8 million shares available for repur-
chase under the buyback program.

During 2001, the Corporation added to its Tier 1 capital
through the sponsorship of two trusts that issued $825 million in
aggregate principal amount of trust preferred securities. During
2000, the Corporation added to its Tier 1 capital through the spon-
sorship of three trusts that issued $915 million in aggregate principal
amount of trust preferred securities. These preferred securities are
tax-advantaged issues that qualify for Tier 1 capital treatment. See
Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements on page 85 for
more detail.

During 2001 and 2000, the Corporation strengthened
its capital position through the issuance of $750 million and
$1 billion of subordinated debt, respectively.

On December 1, 2000, the Corporation converted all out-
standing 12%/4% First Commerce Convertible Debenture Bonds,
Series A and B. The conversion rate was 18.9473. All of the deben-

tures were converted to shares of the Corporation’s common stock.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This discussion of financial results contains forward-looking state-
ments about the Corporation, including descriptions of plans or
objectives of its management for future operations, products or serv-
ices, and forecasts of its revenues, earnings or other measures of eco-
nomic performance. Forward-looking statements can be identified
by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts.
They often include the words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,”
“intend,” “plan,” “estimate” or words of similar meaning, or future or
conditional verbs such as “will,” “would,” “should,” “could” or “may.”

Forward-looking statements, by their nature, are subject to
risks and uncertainties. A number of factors—many of which are
beyond the Corporation’s control—could cause actual conditions,
events or results to differ significantly from those described in the
forward-looking statements. Some of these factors include certain
credit, market, operational, liquidity and interest rate risks associ-
ated with the Corporation’s business and operations. Other factors
described in the Corporation’s Form 10-K include changes in busi-
ness and economic conditions, competition, fiscal and monetary
policies and legislation.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are
made. The Corporation does not undertake to update forward-
looking statements to reflect circumstances or events that occur
after the date the forward-looking statements are made or to reflect
the occurrence of unanticipated events, such as further market
deterioration that adversely affects credit quality, auto lease residu-

als and credit card asset values.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
BANK ONE CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 2000
(Dollars in millions)
Assets
Cash and due from banks $ 17,383 $ 17,291
Interest-bearing due from banks 1,030 5,210
Federal funds sold and securities under resale agreements 9,347 4,737
Trading assets 8,187 2,788
Derivative product assets 3,225 2,322
Investment securities 60,883 50,561
Loans 156,733 174,251
Allowance for credit losses {4,528) (4,110)
Loans, net 152,205 170,141
Premises and equipment, net 2,534 2,894
Customers’ acceptance liability 257 402
Other assets 15,223 12,954
Total assets $268,954 $269,300
Liabilities
Deposits: ]
Demand $ 32,179 $ 30,738
Savings 80,599 63,414
Time:
Under $100,000 20,106 25,302
$100,000 and over 18,071 22,656
Foreign offices 18,575 24,967
Total deposits 167,530 167,077
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under repurchase agreements 13,728 12,120
Other short-term borrowings 10,255 18,003
Long-term debt 40,103 38,428
Guaranteed preferred beneficial interest in the Corporation’s junior subordinated debt 3,315 2,483
Acceptances outstanding 257 402
Derivative product liabilities 2,574 2,212
Other liabilities 10,966 9,940
Total liabilities 248,728 250,665
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock - 190
Common stock ($0.01 par value; authorized 4,000,000,000 in 2001 and 2,500,000,000 in 2000;
issued 1,181,382,304 in 2001 and 1,181,385,876 in 2000) 12 12
Surplus 10,314 10,487
Retained earnings 10,707 9,060
Accumulated other adjustments to stockholders’ equity {65) (5)
Deferred compensation {124) (121)
Treasury stock, at cost (14,415,873 shares in 2001 and 21,557,073 shares in 2000) {618) (988)
Total stockholders’ equity 20,226 18,635
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $268,954 $269,300

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
BANK ONE CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 2000 1999

(In millions, except per share data)

Net Interest Income:

interest income $17,304 $20,078 $17,294
Interest expense 8,666 11,242 8,273
Total net interest income 8,638 8,836 9,021
| Noninterest Income:
b Banking fees and commissions 1,731 1,537 1,502
f Credit card revenue 2,775 2,299 3,413
; Service charges on deposits 1,449 1,310 1,283
Fiduciary and investment management fees 754 783 793
Investment securities gains (losses) {66) (235) 509
Trading 220 134 147
Other income (losses) 360 (738) 1,045
Total noninterest income 7,223 5,090 8,692
Total revenue, net of interest expense 15,861 13,926 17,713
Provision for credit losses 2,510 3,398 1,249
Neninterest Expense:
Salaries and employee benefits 4,198 4,602 4,528
Occupancy expense 686 872 703
Equipment expense 457 593 667
] Outside service fees and processing 1,178 1,537 1,771
B Marketing and development 862 900 1,235
Telecommunication 407 411 334
Other intangible amortization 97 410 168
Goodwili amortization 69 70 69
Other 1,248 2,052 1,461
Total noninterest expense before merger and restructuring-related charges 9,200 11,447 10,936
Merger and restructuring-related charges 351 161 554
Total noninterest expense 9,551 11,608 11,490
Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle 3,800 (1,080} 4,974
Applicable income taxes (benefit) 1,418 (569) 1,495
Income (loss) befere cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 2,682 (511) 3,479
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of taxes of $25 (44) - —
Net income (loss) $ 2,638 $ (511) $ 3,479
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders’ equity $ 2,628 $ (523) $ 3,467
Earnings (loss) per share before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle:
Basic $ 2.28 $ (0.45) $ 297
Diluted $ 2.28 $ (0.45) $ 295
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic $ 2.25 $ (0.45) $ 297
Diluted $ 224 $ (0.45) $ 295

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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BANK ONE CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

Accumulated
Other

Adjustments to Total
Preferred Common Retained  Stockholders’ Deferred  Treasury Stockholders’
(In millions) Stock Stock Surplus  Earnings Equity Compensation Stock Equity
Balance-December 34, 1988 $ 190 % 12 | $10,769 | $ 9,528 $ 239 $ (94)| $ (84) $20,560
Net income 3,479 3,479
Change in fair value,
investment securities—
available for sale, net of taxes (489) (489)
Translation loss, net of hedge
results and taxes (13) (13)
Net income and changes in
accumulated other adjustments
to stockholders’ equity 2,977
Cash dividends dectlared:
Common stock (1,958) (1,958)
Preferred stock (12) (12)
Issuance of stock (14) 175 161
Purchase of common stock (1,677) (1,677)
Awards granted, net of forfeitures
and amortization (24) (24)
Other 44 19 63
Balance-December 31, 18399 190 12 10,7992 11,037 (263) (118)} (1,567) 20,080
Net loss (511) (511)
Change in fair value,
investment securities—
available for sale, net of taxes 256 256
Translation gain, net of hedge
results and taxes 2 2
Net loss and changes in
accumulated other adjustments
to stockholders’ equity (253)
Cash dividends declared:
Common stock (1,454) (1,454)
Preferred stock (12) (12) .
Issuance of stock (302) 615 313
Purchase of common stock 17) (17)
Awards granted, net of forfeitures
and amortization (34) (34)
Other (10} 31 (19) 2
Balance-December 31, 2000 190 12 10,487 9,060 (5) (121) (988) 18,635
Net income ' 2,638 2,638
Change in fair value,
investment securities—
available for sale, net of taxes 93 Q3
Change in fair value of cash-flow type
hedge derivative instruments,
net of taxes (146) (146)
Translation loss, net of hedge
results and taxes (7) (7)
Net income and changes in
accumulated other adjustments
to stockholders’ equity 2,578
Cash dividends declared:
Common stock (981) (981)
Preferred stock (10) (10)
Issuance of stock (179) 448 269
Redemption of stock (190) (120)
Purchase of common stock (78) (78)
Other 3 3
Balance-December 34, 2001 $ ~i$ 12 | $10,311 | $10,707 $ (65) $ (121)|$ (618) $20,226

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement,

BANK ONE CORPORATION
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
BANK ONE CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 2000 1999
(In millions)
| Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
| Net income (loss) $ 2638 $ (511) ] $ 3,479
Adjustments to reconcile net income (l0ss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 571 934 697
Cumulative effect of accounting change 89 - -
Provision for credit losses 2,510 3,398 1,249
: Investment securities (gains) losses 66 236 (509)
j Net decrease in net derivative product assets {198) (71) (233)
; Net (increase) decrease in trading assets {3,456) 11,691 {292)
i Net (increase) decrease in other assets 213 (655) 245
Net increase (decrease) in other liabilities 375 1,502 (830)
Gain on sale of banks and branch offices - - (348)
Merger and restructuring-related charges 351 161 276
Other operating adjustments {764) 139 (100)
Net cash provided by operating activities 2,375 16,824 3,634
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Net (increase) decrease in federal funds sold and securities under resale agreements (4,610) 5,045 80
Securities available for sale:
Purchases {56,088) (72,098) (56,564)
Maturities 23,579 17,882 16,150
Sales 23,393 48,960 38,361
Credit card receivables securitized 3,845 — 7,279
Net decrease (increase) in loans 13,425 (14,903) (21,377)
i Purchase of Wachovia credit card business {5,778) - -
Loan recoveries 342 276 325
Net cash and cash equivalents due to mergers, acquisitions and dispositions - — (1,669)
Additions to premises and equipment (16%9) (533) (593)
i Proceeds from sales of premises and equipment 55 - -
. All other investing activities, net 383 (1,194) 41
j' Net cash used in investing activities (1,621) (16,565) (17,967)
Cash Flows frem Financing Activities:
Net increase in deposits 373 4,681 3,907
Net increase (decrease) in federal funds purchased and securities
under repurchase agreements 1,807 (6,599) (4,444)
Net increase (decrease) in other short-term borrowings (7,757) (3,208) 4,274
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 12,466 13,914 28,736
Repayment of fong-term debt {11,341) (9,237) (16,245)
Cash dividends paid {9%84) (1,222) (2,420)
Proceeds from issuance of trust preferred capital securities 825 915 575
Proceeds from issuance of common and treasury stock 191 152 61
Redemption of preferred stock (190} - —
Purchase of common stock for treasury (78) (3) (1,647)
All other financing activities, net 19 (19) (238)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities {4,876) (626) 12,559
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 34 147 (25)
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (4,088) (220) (1,799)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 22,501 22,721 24,520
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 18,413 $ 22,501 $ 22,721
Other Cash Flow Disclosures:
Interest paid $ 9,221 $10,777 $ 8,082
Income taxes paid 508 371 701

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1-Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

BANK ONE CORPORATION and subsidiaries (“Bank One” or the
“Corporation”) is a financial holding company that offers a full
range of financial services to commercial and business customers
and consumers. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting princi-
ples, and certain prior-year financial statement information has
been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. The
preparation of the consolidated financial statements require
Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported and disclosures of contingent assets and liabili-

ties. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements include all
accounts of BANK ONE CORPORATION (the “Parent Company”)
and all significant majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Results of operations of acquired entities are included from the
acquisition date, and assets and liabilities are stated at their esti-

mated fair values at the acquisition date.

(b) Resale and Repurchase Agreements

Securities purchased under resale agreements and securities sold
under repurchase agreements are treated as collateralized financing
transactions and carried at the amount at which the securities will
be subsequently resold or repurchased, plus accrued interest.
Where appropriate, resale and repurchase agreements with the

same counterparty are reported on a net basis.

(c) Trading Activities

Trading assets and liabilities are carried at fair value. Trading profits
include realized and unrealized gains and losses from both cash and
derivative financial instruments used in trading activities. Trading
activities involve instruments with interest rate, exchange rare,

equity price, credit and commodity price market risk.

(d) Investment Securities
Debt and equity investment securities designated as available-for-sale
are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes,
included in accumulated other adjustments to stockholders’ equity.
The estimated fair value of a security is determined based on market
quotations when available or, if not available, by using a discounted
cash flow approach. Realized gains and losses, including other than
temporary impairments, are included in noninterest income as
investment securities gains (losses). The specific identification
method is used to calculate realized gains or losses.

Effective April 1, 2001, the Corporation adopted Emerging
Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 99-20, “Recognition of Interest

Income and Impairment on Purchased and Retained Beneficial

BANK ONE CORPORATION

Interests in Securitized Financial Assets” (“EITF No. 99-207).
Under EITF No. 99-20, impairment on certain securitized finan-
cial assets must be recognized when the asset’s fair value is below its
carrying value and there has been an adverse change in estimated
cash flows. Prior to EITF No. 99-20, the Corporation judged
declines as other than temporary based on the underlying facts and
circumstances surrounding the investment, such as the length of
time the market value had been below cost or based on the credit-
worthiness of the issuer. Under EITF No. 99-20, the Corporation
recognizes interest income based on the amount of the excess of
estimated cash flows over the recorded investment in the securi-
tized financial asset. Changes in estimated cash flows are recog-
nized on a prospective basis. The effect of adopting EITF No.
99-20 was a one-time, non-cash charge to carnings of $44 million
after-tax (369 million pre-tax) or $0.04 per diluted share. This
charge has been presented as a cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle in the consolidated income statement.
Principal investments are carried at fair value, with unrealized
and realized gains and losses included in noninterest income as
investment securities gains (losses). The fair value of a publicly
traded principal investment is determined using quoted market
prices when the investment is unrestricted; otherwise fair value is
estimated using quoted market prices adjusted for market liquidity
and sale restrictions. The fair value for principal investments that
are not publicly traded is estimated based on the investees’ finan-
cial results, conditions and prospects, values of comparable public

companies, market liquidity and sales restrictions.

(e) Loans, including lease finance receivables
Loans are carried at the principal amount outstanding, net of
unearned income and amounts charged off. Unearned income,
which includes deferred loan origination fees reduced by loan orig-
ination costs, for loans, excluding credic cards, is amortized to
interest income over the life of the related loan using the straight-
line method that approximates the effective interest rate method.
Fees received for providing loan commitments and letters of credit
that result in loans are typically deferred and amortized to interest
income over the life of the related loan, beginning with the initial
borrowing. Fees on commitments and letters of credit that are not
expected to be funded are amortized to noninterest income as
banking fees and commissions over the commitment period.
Other credit-related fees, including syndication management fees,
are recorded to noninterest income as banking fees and commis-
sions when received or over time to match the earnings process.
The carrying amount of credit card loans also includes unpaid
interest and fees. Loan origination fees and costs on credit card
loans are typically deferred and amortized over one year using a

straight-line method to noninterest income as credit card revenue.
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The Corporation typically provides lease financing to its cus-
tomers through direct financing leases. Leveraged leases, which
represent direct financing leases involving nonrecourse debr, also
are provided to customers. Unearned income on a direct financing
lease is amortized to income over the lease term so as to yield a con-
stant rate of return on the ner investment in the lease. Periodic
recognition of lease income on leveraged leases is based on an analy-
sis of cash flows using the original investment less deferred taxes
arising from the difference berween the pretax financial accounting
income and taxable income. Residual values for leased automobiles
are reviewed at least annually with periodic reviews performed as
warranted by the underlying circumstances. Valuations are based
upon various assurnptions and estimates including the probabilicy
of the automobile being returned to the Corporation, estimated
costs incurred to reduce the number of returned automobiles from
the customer, estimated collectable fees for mileage and other wear
and tear, reconditioning costs, and estimated used car sales prices.
Declines in estimated residual value that are other than temporary
are recognized in the period such determination is made in other

noninterest income.

(f) Loan Sales
When a commetcial loan is sold, the loan’s carrying value is com-
pared to the net sales proceeds. Any shortfall in value that is pre-
sumed to be credit related is recorded as a charge-off reducing the
allowance for credit losses. Any shortfall in value not presumed to
be credir related is recorded as a charge to other noninterest income.
With consumer loan portfolio sales, the allocable portion of
the allowance for credit losses adjusts the carrying value of the loan
portfolio and is treated as a transfer out of the allowance for credit
losses. The difference between the portfolio’s carrying value
adjusted for the allocable credic reserves and the net sales proceeds

is recorded as a component of other noninterest income.

(g) Nonperforming Loans

A loan is considered nonperforming when placed on nonaccrual
status, or when renegotiated at terms that represent an economic
concession to the borrower because of a decline in the borrower’s
financial condition. For a more detailed discussion, see the
“Nonperforming Assets” section beginning on page 56. The

Corporarion’s charge-off policies are presented on page 57.

(h) Allowance for Credit Losses

Management maintains the allowance for credit losses at a level it
believes is adequate to provide for estimared probable credir losses
inherent in on- and off-balance sheet credit exposure. For a more
detailed discussion, see the “Allowance for Credit Losses” section

beginning on page 58.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

(i) Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depre-
ciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is com-
puted using the straight-line method over the estimared useful life
of the owned asset and, for leasehold improvements, over the lesser
of the remaining term of the leased facility or the estimated eco-
nomic life of the improvement. For owned and capitalized assets,
estimated useful lives range from three to 30 years. Maintenance
and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, while major
improvements are capitalized and amortized to operating expense

over their identified useful life.

(j) Other Real Estate Owned (“OREQ”)

OREOQ includes real estate assets that have been received in satis-
faction of debt. OREO is initially recorded and subsequently
carried ar the lower of cost or fair value less estimated selling costs.
Any valuation adjustments required at the date of transfer are
charged to the allowance for credit losses. Subsequently, unrealized
losses and realized gains and losses on sale are included in other
noninterest income. Operating results from OREQ are recorded in

other noninterest expense.

(k) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include goodwill resulting from acquisitions and
identifiable intangible assets, such as customer lists, core depasits
and credit card relationships. Goodwill is equal to an acquired
company’s acquisition cost less the value of net tangible and intan-
gible assets.

Intangible assets are reported in other assets and are amortized
into other noninterest expense on an accelerated or straight-line basis
over the period the Corporation expects to benefit from such assets.
Goodwill is amortized over estimated periods ranging from five to 40
years. Intangible assets are periodically reviewed for other than tem-
porary impairment with any such declines in value included in other

noninterest expense.

(1) Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on tempo-
rary differences between financial reporting and rax bases of assets
and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws
that are in effect. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of
a change in rates is recognized as income or expense in the period

that includes the enactment date.
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(m) Cash Flow Reporting

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and due from banks,
whether interest-bearing or not. Net reporting of cash transactions
has been used when the balance sheet items consist predominantly
of maturities of three months or less, or where otherwise permit-

ted. Other itemns are reported on a gross basis.

(n) Stock-Based Compensation

The Corporation accounts for stock awards pursuant to the methods
prescribed in Accounting Principles Board ("APB”) Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” As stock options are
granted at fair value, there are no charges to earnings associated with
stock options granted. Compensation expense related to restricted

stock awards is recorded as earned over the restriction period.

(o) New and Pending Accounting Pronouncements

The Corporation adopted in 2001 the following new accounting
pronouncements and will adopt in 2002 the following pending
accounting pronouncements. In general, the effect of those adopted
in 2001 were not significant to the Corporations consolidated
financial statements. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142. “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 1427), the Corporation
does not currently anticipate significant goodwill impairment based

upon the current analysis of facts and circumstances.

Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets
and Liabilities

Effective April 1, 2001, the Corporation adopted SFAS No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Liabilities” (“SFAS No. 140”). On July 23, 2001, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued a Technical Bulletin
that delayed the effective date of certain provisions of SFAS No.
140 relating to isolation in bankruptcy for banks subject to FDIC
receivership and for certain other financial institutions. For these
entities, the isolation provisions are effective for transfers of finan-
cial assets occurring after December 31, 2001, excepr for transfers
involving revolving credits such as credit card securitizations. An
additional transition period was granted for securitizations involv-
ing revolving credits that ends three months after the earliest date
at which sufficient approvals can be obtained to permit the neces-
sary changes to existing master trusts to meet the isolation provi-
sions, but in no event extend later than June 30, 2006. The
Corporation is analyzing the effect of SFAS No. 140 on its current
securitization structures. The new standard also provides revised
guidance for an entity to be considered a qualifying special purpose
entity and requires additional disclosures concerning securitization

activities and collateral.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activiries

Effective January 1, 2001, the Corporation adopted SFAS No. 133,
as amended. The new standard significantly changed the account-
ing treatment for interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives the
Corporation uses in its asset and liability management activities,
The Corporation’s accounting for derivatives used in trading activi-
ties has not changed as the result of SFAS No. 133. Hedging deriv-
atives are now recognized on the balance sheet at fair value as either
assets or liabilities. Hedge ineffectiveness, if any, is calculated and
recorded in current earnings. The accounting for the effective
portion of the change in value of a hedging derivative is based on
the nature of the hedge. See “Derivative Financial Instruments”
beginning on page 61 for detailed informarion on the Corporation’s
strategy in using derivative instruments in its asset and liability man-
agemnent and trading activities, as well as the accounting principles

and disclosures for these instruments.

Business Combinations and Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations” (“SFAS No. 1417) and SFAS No. 142. SFAS No.
141 requires that all business combinations initiated after June 30,
2001 be accounted for under the purchase method and establishes
the specific criteria for the recognition of intangible assets sepa-
rately from goodwill. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill will no
longer be amortized, but will be subject to impairment tests at least
annually. SFAS No. 142 will be effective for the Corporation on
January 1, 2002. However, any acquired goodwill or intangible
assets recorded in transactions closed subsequent to June 30, 2001
were immediately subject to the amortization provisions of SFAS
No. 142. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Corporation esti-
mates the elimination of goodwill amortization will positively

impact net income by approximately $69 million annually.
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Note 2-Earnings Per Share

Basic EPS is computed by dividing income available to common
stockholders by the average number of common shares outstand-
ing for the period. Except when the effect would be antidilutive,
the diluted EPS calculation includes shares that could be issued

under outstanding stock options and the employee stock purchase

The computation of basic and diluted earnings per share follows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

plans, and common shares thac would result from the conversion
of convertible preferred stock and convertible debentures. In addi-
tion, interest on convertible debentures (net of tax) is added to net
income, since this interest would not be paid if the debentures were

converted to common stock.

2001 2000 1999

(In millions, except per share data)
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change

$2,682 $ (511) $3,479

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax (44) - —
Net income (loss) 2,638 (511) 3,479
Preferred stock dividends {10) (12) (12)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders for basic EPS 2,628 (523) 3,467
Interest on convertible debentures, net of tax - - 3]
Dituted income (loss) available to common stockholders $2,628 $ (523) $3,473
Average shares outstanding 1,168 1,154 1,168
Stock options ¢ 8 - 6
Convertible dehentures ¥ - — 4
Average shares outstanding assuming full dilution 1,174 1,154 1,178

Earnings (loss) per share before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle:

Basic
Diluted

$ 2.28 $ (0.45) $ 2.97
2.28 (0.45) 2.95

Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted

$ 2.25 $ (0.45) $ 2.97
2.24 (0.45) 2.95

(1) Common equivalent shares and related income have been excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2000, as the

effect would be antidilutive.

Note 3-Acquisitions

On July 27, 2001, the Corporation completed its acquisition of the
Wachovia credit card business, including a credit card portfolio of
approximately $7.5 billion consumer credit card receivables. The
acquisition was accounted for under the provisions of SFAS No.
141 and SFAS No. 142. The first component of the transaction was
the primary portfolio of $6.2 billion in receivables of credit card
holders who are not customers of Wachovia’s retail bank. The

second component was the agent bank portfolio of $1.3 billion.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

On September 7, 2001, the Corporation announced its agreement
with Wachovia to end the agent bank relationship and sell back to
Wachovia the approximately $1.3 billion of consumer credic card
receivables of customers who also have a Wachovia retail banking
relationship. Under the terms of the agreement, Wachovia paid a
$350 million termination fee and will reimburse the Corporation
for the premium paid for the repurchased receivables and conver-

sion costs related to the repurchase.
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Note 4-Restructuring-Related Charges

a) Fourth Quarter 2001 Restructuring-Related Charges
The Corporation recorded restructuring-related charges in the
fourth quarter of 2001 for additional real estate and severance costs
to accomplish more rapid expense reductions, accelerated systems
conversions and other consolidations. Summarized below are the

details of these restructuring-related charges:

Contractual
Obligations
and
Personnel- Asset
DECEMBER 31, 2001 Related Costs Writedowns Total
(In millions)
Restructuring-related charges $ 76 $278 $354

Personnel-related items consist primarily of severance costs related
to identified staff reductions in the lines of business totaling approx-
imately 6,900 positions., Contractual obligations included the esti-
mated costs associated with lease and other contract termination
costs incorporated in the business restructuring plans. Asset write-
downs included leasehold write-offs related to leased properties fol-
lowing the decision to abandon such facilities, as well as in the case
of fixed assets and capitalized software for which similar decisions
were made. Actions under this overall restructuring plan are
expected to be completed within a 12-month period. Certain con-
tractual payments associated with these actions, as required, will

extend beyond this 12-month time-frame.

b) Second Quarter 2000 Restructuring-Related Charges
Actions under this restructuring plan have been completed, with
only payments of identified obligations remaining, which consist

primarily of lease obligations. Unpaid amounts totaled $58 million

Note 6-Interest Income and Interest Expense

Details of interest income and expense are as follows:

as of December 31, 2001, and will be paid as required over the

remaining contractual periods.

Note 5-Business Segments

In the third quarter of 2001, certain organizational changes were
made involving Corporate Investments and Commercial Banking
business. The tax-oriented portfolio of Corporate Investments was
transferred to Commercial Banking, while the principal invest-
ments and fixed income portfolios were transferred to Corporate.
Additionally, cerrain expenses were reclassified from salaries to
other expenses. Results for prior periods have been adjusted to
reflect these and other insignificant changes and to conform to the
current line of business structure.

The information presented on page 26 is consistent with the
content of business segment data provided to the Corporation’s
management which does not use product group revenues to assess
consolidated results. Aside from investment management and
insurance products, product offerings are tailored to specific cus-
tomer segments. As a result, the aggregation of product revenues
and related profit measures across lines of business is not available.

Aside from the United States, no single country or geographic
region generates a significant portion of the Corporation’s revenues
or assets. In addition, there are no single customer concentrations
of revenue or profitability.

See the following “Business Segments” sections for additional
disclosure regarding the Corporation’s operating segments:

°  “Business Segments” on page 26.

o Data presented in rables up until the section entided
“Financial Performance” included in the “Business Segment
Results and Other Data” section beginning with “Retail”

through “Corporate” on pages 27-40.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 2000 1999
(In millions)
Interest Income
Loans, including fees $13,213 $15,214 $13,051
Bank balances 145 503 233
Federal funds sold and securities under resale agreements 418 577 445
Trading assets 309 440 330
Investment securities 3,219 3,344 3,235
Total 17,304 20,078 17,294
Interest Expense
Deposits 4,895 6,137 4,651
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under repurchase agreements 633 1,142 935
Other short-term borrowings 659 1,216 942
Long-term debt 2,479 2,747 1,745
Total 8,666 11,242 8,273
Net Interest income 8,638 8,836 9,021
Provision for credit iosses 2,510 3,398 1,249
Net Interest Income After Provision for Credit Losses $ 6,128 $ 5,438 $ 7,772

BANK ONE CORPORATION
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Note 7-Investment Securities

A summary of the Corporation’s investment portfolio follows:

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized Fair Vaiue
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 Amortized Cost Gains Losses (Book Value)

(In millions)
U.S. Treasury $ 1,424 $ 30 $ 4 $ 1,450
U.S. government agencies 25,265 113 132 25,246
States and political subdivisions 1,310 28 8 1,330
Interests in credit card securitized receivables 23,998 107 - 24,105
Other debt securities 4,397 24 i8 4,403
Equity securities 'V 2,775 10 15 2,770
Total available for sale securities $ 59,169 $ 312 $ 177 59,304
Principal and other investments @ 1,579
Total investment securities $ 60,883

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

(In millions)
U.S. Treasury $ 2,587 $ 2 $ 34 $ 2,555
U.8. government agencies 14,415 18 a7 14,386
States and political subdivisions 1,276 24 8 1,292
Interests in credit card securitized receivables 22,447 116 - 22,563
Other debt securities 5,237 18 57 5,198
Equity securities ¥ 2,730 15 40 2,705
“““““ Total available for sale securities $ 48,692 $ 193 $ 186 48,699
Principal and other investments @ 1,862
Total investment securities $ 50,561

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999

(In millions)
U.S. Treasury $ 2,569 $ 1 $ 101 $ 2,469
U.S. government agencies 12,919 3 412 12,510
States and political subdivisions 1,599 20 38 1,581
Interests in credit card securitized receivables 20,176 279 - 20,455
Other debt securities 7,611 5 172 7,444
Equity securities ¥ 2,002 11 5 2,008
Total available for sale securities $ 46,876 $ 319 $ 728 46,467
Principal and other investments @ 1,445
Total investment securities $47,912

(1) The fair values of certain securities for which market quotations were not available were estimated.
{2) The fair values of certain securities reflect liquidity and other market-related factors, and includes investments accounted for at fair value consistent with specialized industry practice.

For the year ended December 31, 2001, gross recognized gains and losses on the sale of investment securities were $537 million and $603

million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2001, debt investment securities had the following maturity and yield characteristics:

Due in 1 year Due after 1 year Due after 5 years
or {ess through 5 years through 10 years Oue after 10 years Total
Amortized Amortized Amortized Amortized Amortized
Cost Yield Cost Yield Cost Yield Cost Yield Cost Yield
(Dollars in millions)
U.S. Treasury $ 190 3.36%| $ 1,151 4.28% $ 59 5.89%| % 24 7.06%|% 1,424 4.27%
U.S. government agencies 630 4.89 2,132 4.77 1,010 4.e3 21,493 5.86 25,265 5.71
States and political
subdivisions 169 5.02 387 5.05 338 5.02 416 5.24 1,310 7.78
Other debt securities 22,223 7.94 4,385 5.74 1,330 4.96 457 8.46 28,395 7.47
Total debt securities
—at amortized cost $23,212 7.80%| $ 8,055 5.24%| $ 2,737 4.97%| $22,390 5.91%) $56,394 6.61%
Total debt securities—
—at fair value $23,316 $ 8,132 $ 2,741 $22,345 $56,534

The distribution of mortgage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations is based on average expected maturities. Actual

maturities might differ because issuers may have the right to call or prepay obligations.
2t y g pay &

BANK ONE CORPORATION 79 2001 ANNUAL REPORT




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 8-Loans

Loan composition by line of business is as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 2000
(In millions)
Retail:
Smali business commercial $ 12,347 $ 12,103
Home equity 30,268 31,361
Vehicles:
Loans 13,484 14,300
Leases 5,155 8,840
Other personal 9,779 10,697
Total Retail 72,030 77,301
Commercial Banking:
Corporate Banking:
Commercial and industrial 22,268 N/A
Commercial real estate 8,975 N/A
Lease financing 4,669 N/A
Other 731 N/A
Middle Market:
Commercial and industrial 28,676 N/A
Commercial real estate 3,472 N/A
Lease financing 1,053 N/A
Other 294 N/A
Total Commercial Banking 70,138 85,100
Other lines of business 7,779 7,106
First USA 5,786 4,744
Total loans 156,733 174,251
Less: Allowance for credit losses 4,528 4,110

Total loans, net
N/A-Not available.

$152,205 $170,141

Loans are net of unearned income of $2.749 billion and
$3.467 billion as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Loans held for sale, which are carried at the lower of cost or fair
value, totaled $3.000 billion and $2.964 billion at December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Corporation’s primary goal in managing credir risk is to
minimize the impact of default by an individual borrower or group
of borrowers. As a result, the Corporation strives to maintain a loan
portfolio that is diverse in terms of loan type, industry, borrower
and geographic concentrations. As of December 31, 2001 and

2000, there were no significant loan concentrations with any single
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borrower, industry or geographic segment (see “Credit Portfolio
Composition” on pages 52-55).

A loan is considered impaired when it is probable that all prin-
cipal and interest amounts due will not be collected in accordance
with the loan’s contractual terms. Certain loans, such as loans
carried at the lower of cost or fair value or small-balance homoge-
neous loans (e.g., credit card, home mortgages and installment
credit) are exempt from impairment determinations for disclosure
purposes. Impaired loans, accordingly, exclude consumer loans clas-
sified as nonaccrual. Such consumer loans totaled $1.064 billion
and $714 million at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Impairment is recognized to the extent that the recorded
investment of an impaired loan or pool of loans exceeds its value
cither based on the loan’s underlying collateral or the calculated
present value of projected cash flows discounted at the contractual
interest rate. Loans having a significant recorded investment are
measured on an individual basis, while loans not having a signifi-
cant recorded investment are grouped and measured on a pool
basis.

The Corporation’s impaired loan informacion is as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 2000
(In millions)

Impaired loans with related allowance $2,487 $1,748
Impaired loans with no related allowance - 13
Total impaired loans $2,487 $1,761
Allowance on impaired loans 2 $ 734 $ 407
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 2000 1999

(In millions)

Average balance of
impaired loans

Interest income recognized
on impaired loans

$2,047 $1,335| $ 972

48 31 46

{1} Impaired loans for which the discounted cash flows, collateral value or market
price equals or exceeds the carrying value of the loan do not require an
allowance under SFAS No. 114,

(2) The allowance for impaired loans is included in the Corporation’s overall
allowance for credit l0sses.
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Maturity Distribution and Interest Rate Sensitivity of Loans
A distribution of the maturity of loans by line of business and, for those loans due after one year, a breakdown between those loans that

have floating interest rates and those that have predetermined interest rates at December 31, 2001 follows:

(In millions) One Year or Less One to Five Years Qver Five Years Total
Retail:
Small business commercial $ 3,290 $ 6,159 $ 2,898 $ 12,347
Home equity 628 1,279 28,361 30,268
Vehicles:
Loans 549 9,784 3,148 13,481
Leases 1,655 4,500 - 6,155
Other personal 1,765 807 7,207 9,779
Total Retail 7,887 22,529 41,614 72,030
Commercial Banking:
Corporate Banking:
Commercial and industrial 5,953 15,009 1,308 22,268
Commercial real estate 4,324 4,319 332 8,975
Lease financing 80 588 4,001 4,669
Other 731 - - 731
Middle Market:
Commercial and industrial 12,276 13,554 2,846 28,676
Commercial real estate 1,048 1,994 430 3,472
Lease financing 72 708 273 1,053
Other 294 - - 294
Total Commercial Banking ™ 24,778 36,172 9,188 70,138
Total reported ¥ $ 32,665 $ 58,701 $ 50,802 $142,168
Loans with floating interest rates $ 27,451 $ 13,186 $ 40,637
Loans with predetermined interest rates 31,250 37,616 68,866
Total $ 58,701 $ 50,802 $109,503

(1) Exciudes Commercial Banking lease financing receivables, credit card, and other lines of business.

Foreign Outstandings

Foreign outstandings include loans, balances with banks, accept-
ances, securities, equity investments, accrued interest, other mone-
tary assets and current credit exposure on derivative contracts. At
year-end 2001 and 2000, there were no countries for which cross-
border and net local country claims exceeded 1.0% of total assets.
At December 31, 1999, Germany was the only country with cross-
border claims exceeding 1.0% of total assets. The oustandings
amounted to $3.118 billion.

At December 31, 2001 and 1999 there were no countries for
which cross-border claims totaled between 0.75% and 1.0% of
total assets. At December 31, 2000, Germany was the only
country for which cross-border and net local country claims totaled
between 0.75% and 1.0% of total assets. These outstandings
amounted to $2.512 billion.

Note 9-Credit Card Securitizations
The Corporation transforms credit card receivables into securities,
which are sold to investors—a process referred to as securitization.

Gain or loss on the sale of the credit card receivable depends in part
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on the previous carrying amount of the financial assets involved in
the transfer, allocated between the assets sold and the retained
interests based on their relative fair value at the date of transfer.
During 2001, the Corporation securitized approximately
$3.8 billion in credit card receivables. Maturities of credit card
securitizations during 2001 totaled $9.2 billion, with an additional
$10.3 billion scheduled for 2002. During 2001 and 2000, the
Corporation recognized $62 million and $116 million, respec-
tively, in net securitization amortization in the consolidated
income statement, including amortizarion of transaction costs, as
the gain on securitization from new transactions was offset by
amortization as investors in individual series were repaid.

A servicing asset or liability is not generally recognized in a
credit card securitization (and thus not considered in the gain or
loss computation) since the Corporation receives adequate com-
pensation relative to current market servicing prices to service the
receivables sold. Transaction costs in credit card securitizations are
rypically deferred and amortized over the life of the security as a

reduction of noninterest income.
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At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the estimated fair value of
the interest-only strip associated with credit card securitizations
was $219 million and $221 million, respectively, while the
estimated fair value of the seller’s interest was $23.9 billion and
$22.4 billion, respectively. The interest-only strip and seller’s inter-
est are both recorded as investment securities.

Certain estimates are used in determining the fair value of the
interest-only strip at both the date of securitization and the balance
sheet date, including the excess spread, receivable lives and the dis-
count rate. The components of excess spread, which are estimated,
include finance charge and fee revenue (excluding interchange
income) generated by the securitized loans in excess of interest paid
to investors, related net credit losses and servicing fees. The result-
ing expected cash flows over the lives of the receivables are dis-
counted at a rate commensurate with the risk of the cash flows to
determine the fair value. Such estimates and assumptions are
subject to change, and accordingly, the Corporation may not
recover all of the recorded investment of the interest-only strip (and
thus be measured for impairment). The receivables in each trust
have unique attributes and therefore the interest-only strip related
to each trust is evaluared separately. The seller’s interest resulting
from credit card securitizations is recorded at fair value using a
present value approach, with assumptions that are consistent with
the valuation of the interest-only strip.

The following represents the Corporation’s key weighted-
average assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the retained
interests relating to credit card securitizations at December 31,
2001, and the pretax sensitivity of the fair values to immediate 10

and 20 percent adverse changes in these assumptions are as follows:

Total
Interest-Only Sellers Retained
(Dollars in millions) Strip Interest @ Interests
Receivable Lives: 0.5 years
10% Adverse Change $ 234 $ 11.6 35.0
20% Adverse Change 47.0 231 70.1
Excess Spread: 1.24%
10% Adverse Change 24.0 11.8 35.8
20% Adverse Change 48.0 23.7 71.7
Expected Net Credit Losses 7.11%
10% Adverse Change 120.4 67.4 187.8
20% Adverse Change 204.6 116.4 321.0
Discount Rate: 10.00%
10% Adverse Change 0.7 0.3 1.0
20% Adverse Change 1.5 0.7 2.2

(1) The effect of adverse changes in key assumptions on the fair value of the
interest-only strip would be recorded in noninterest income,

{2) The effect of adverse changes in key assumptions on the value of the sellers
interest is recorded in accumulated other adjustments to stockholders’ equity,
unless the decline in value is deemed to be other than temporary, which would
result in a charge to noninterest income upon recognition.

(3) Certain Trust legal documents include finance charge and fee revenue
reversals in the definition of net credit losses, resuiting in a higher net credit
loss rate for Trust purposes.
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The sensitivity analysis illustrates the potential magnitude of sig-
nificant adverse changes in key assumptions used in valuing the
retained interests, and thus the potental impact to the
Corporation’s financial position and results of operations.
However, the sensitivities of the fair values of the retained interests
to changes in each key assumption may not be linear. Furthermore,
the sensitivities for each key variable are calculated independently
of changes in the other key variables. Therefore, the sensitivity
analysis does not purport to present the maximum impairment loss
that would result from 10 and 20 percent adverse changes in these
assumptions. Actual experience observed may result in changes in
multiple key assumptions concurrently, the magnitude of which on
the fair value of the retained interests would be dependent on the
relative change and the direction of change. In addition, the sensi-
tivity analysis does not give effect to corrective action that
Management could and would take to mitigate the impact of
adverse changes in key assumptions. The asset values of the
retained interests are periodically reviewed for other-than-tempo-
rary impairment.

The key weighted-average economic assumptions and ranges
of assumptions used to estimate the fair value of retained interests
at the date of securitization (including transfer of new balances
under revolving structures) for credit card securitizations occurring
during 2001 were approximately the same as the assumptions used
to value the retained interests at December 31, 2001.

Cash flows received from {paid to) credit card securitization
master trusts (i.e., SPEs) during the year ended December 31,
2001 and 2000 are as follows:

(In millions) 2001 2000
Proceeds from reinvestment in

revolving securitizations $72,208  $83,469
Proceeds from new securitizations 3,845 -
Servicing fees received 598 649
Cash flows received on retained

interests 2,577 2,224
Cash released from

(used to fund) spread accounts 146 (32)

(1) Includes cash flows from interest-only strips as well as interchange fees
received from securitized accounts.

For a detailed discussion of the Corporation’s loan securitiza-
ion process for credit card loans, see the “Loan Securitizations”
t fc dit card | the “L S tizat

section beginning on page 64.
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Note 10-Aliowance for Credit Losses
Changes in the allowance for credit losses for the years ended

December 31 were as follows:

(In millions) 2001 2000 1999
Balance, beginning of year $ 4,110 $ 2,285 $2271
Additions (deductions):
Charge-offs (2,630) (1,667) (1,531)
Recoveries 342 276 325
Net charge-offs (2,288) (1,391) (1,206)
Provision for credit losses 2,510 3,398 1,248
Transfers 196 (182) (29)
Balance, end of year $ 4,528 $ 4,110 $ 2,285

(1) Transfers to the allowance for credit losses in 2001 primarily represent the
addition of the Wachovia credit card portfolio. Transfers from the allowance for
credit losses for prior years primarily represent allocable credit allowances
associated with consumer loan sale transacticns, including securitization
transactions.

Note 1i-Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of borrowings having an original maturity
of greater than one year. Original issue discount and deferred
issuance costs are amortized into interest expense over the terms of
the related notes. Long-term debt at December 31, 2001 and 2000

was as follows:

Interest

(Dollars in millions) Rate Maturities 2001 2000
Parent Company
Senior debt:

Medium-

term notes 1.98-7.63%|2002-2008 $14,387 $14,360

Other - - 8 14
Subordinated debt:

Notes 5.90-10.00 |2002-2027 6,920 6,204

Floating rate

notes Various 2003 150 246

Subsidiaries
Bank notes 1.76-7.93 |2002-2006 12,933 13,375
Subordinated

notes 6.00-8.25 |2002-2008 1,728 1,695
Capital leases 5.50-11.07 (2002-2019 86 71
Other 1.85-11.14 [2002-2028 3,910 2,463

Tota! long-term debt $40,103 $38,428
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Aggregate annual scheduled repayments of long-term debt at
December 31, 2001 are as follows:

(In millions) Total
2002 $ 8,512
2003 7,910
2004 5,575
2005 3,932
2006 6,935
Thereafter 7,239

Total $40,103

Note 12-Deposits and Short-Term Borrowings

Deposits

The maturity distribution of domestic time certificates of deposit
of $100,000 and over and deposits in foreign offices, predomi-
nantly in amounts in excess of $100,000, at December 31, 2001
is as follows:

(Dollars in millions) Amount Percent

Domestic Time Certificates of
Deposit of $100,000 and Over:

Three months or less $ 4,934 28%
Over three months to six months 2,040 11
QOver six months to twelve months 2,446 14
Over twelve months 8,445 47
Total $17,865 100%
Foreign Offices:
Three months or less 16,057 97%
Over three months to six months 278 2
Over six months to twelve months 208 1
Over twelve months 32 -
Total $16,575 100%

The Corporation has an aggregate amount of domestic other time
deposits of $100,000 and over of $206 million at December 31,

2001, which primarily mature within three months,
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Short-Term Borrowings
Borrowings with original maturities of one year or less are classified as short-term. The following is a summary of short-term borrowings

for each of the three years ended December 31:

At Year-End For the Year
Highest
Weighted- Daily Average Weighted- Qutstandings
(Dollars in millions) Outstandings Average rate Qutstandings Average Rate at Month End
2001
Federal funds purchased $ 3,471 1.62% $ 5,121 4.32% $ 6,353
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements 10,557 1.43 11,543 3.57 13,386
Bank notes 4,529 3.07 8,267 B5.48 13,047
Commercial paper 828 1.58 1,968 4.7% 2,634
Other short-term borrowings 4,898 1.60 3,273 3.43 4,629
Total short-term borrowings $23,983 1.83% $30,472 4.28%
2000:
Federal funds purchased $ 5,253 5.89% $ 6,281 6.14% $ 9,663
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements 6,867 6.01 12,680 5.96 17,609
Bank notes 12,426 6.71 12,298 6.50 13,327
Commercial paper 3,048 6.62 3,137 5.94 3,303
Other short-term borrowings 2,529 6.22 3,543 6.50 6,861
Total short-term borrowings $30,123 6.36% $37,939 6.26%
1999:
Federal funds purchased $ 5,483 4.54% $ 7,060 4.96% $ 8,806
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements 13,237 4.08 12,651 4.62 16,102
Bank notes 12,707 5.60 11,112 5.57 12,947
Commercial paper 3,184 6.09 3,006 5.23 3,595
Other short-term borrowings 5,320 4.46 3,739 4.98 5,475
Total short-term borrowings $39,931 4.86% $37,568 5.00%
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Note 13-Guaranteed Preferred Beneficial Interest in the Corporation’s Junlor Subordinated Debt

The Corporation has sponsored ten trusts with a total aggregate issuance outstanding of $3.315 billion at December 31, 2001 in trust pre-

ferred securities as follows.

Trust Preferred Junior Subordinated Debt Owned by Trust
Initial Initial
Liquidation Distribution Principal Redeemable
(Dollars in millions) Issuance Date Value Rate Amount Maturity Beginning
Capital VI September 28, 2001 $525 7.20%| $541.2 October 15, 2031 October 15, 2006
Capital V January 30, 2001 300 8.00% 309.3 January 30, 2031 January 30, 2006
Capital IV August 30, 2000 160 | 3-mo LIBCR 164.9 September 1, 2030 | September 1, 2005
plus 1.50%

Capital Il August 30, 2000 475 8.75% 489.7 September 1, 2030 See (1) below.
Capital Il August 8, 2000 280 8.50% 288.7 August 15, 2030 August 15, 2005
Capital | September 20, 1999 575 8.00% 593.0 | September 15, 2029 | September 20,2004
First Chicago

NBD Capital 1 January 31, 1997 250 | 3-mo LIBOR 258.0 February 1, 2027 February 1, 2007

plus 0.55%

First USA

Capital Trust | ‘2| December 20, 1926 200 9.33% 206.2 January 15, 2027 January 15, 2007
First Chicago

NBD Institutional

Capital A December 3, 1996 500 7.95% 515.0 December 1, 2026 | December 1, 2006
First Chicago

NBD Institutional

Capital B December 5, 1996 250 7.75% 258.0 December 1, 2026 | December 1, 2006

(1) Redeemable at any time subject to approval by the Federal Reserve Board.

(2) The Corporation paid a premium of $36 million to repurchase $193 million of these securities in 1997.

These trust preferred securities are tax-advantaged issues that
qualify for Tier 1 capital treatment. Distributions on these securities
are included in interest expense on long-term debt. Each of the trusts
is a statutory business trust organized for the sole purpose of issuing
trust securities and investing the proceeds thereof in junior subordi-
nated debentures of the Corporation, the sole asset of each trust. The
preferred trust securities of each trust represent preferred beneficial
interests in the assets of the respective trusts and are subject to manda-
tory redemption upon payment of the junior subordinated deben-
tures held by the trust. The common securities of each trust are
wholly-owned by the Corporation. Each trust’s ability to pay amounts
due on the trust preferred securities is solely dependent upon the
Corporation making payment on the related junior subordinated
debentures. The Corporation’s obligations under the junior subordi-
nated securities and other relevant trust agreements, in aggregate, con-
stitute a full and unconditional guarantee by the Corporation of each
respective trust’s obligations under the trust securities issued by such
trust. See Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements on page 85
for discussion of the restrictions on the ability of the Corporation to

obtain funds from its subsidiaries.

Note 14-Stock Dividends and Preferred Stock

The Corporation is authorized to issue 50 million shares of pre-
ferred stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. On November 1,
2001 the Corporation redeemed all outstanding preferred stock
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with cumulative and adjustable dividends, Series B and C, totaling
$190 million. The redemption price for both the Series B and C
preferred stock was $100 per share, plus accrued and unpaid divi-
dends totaling $1.00 per share and $1.083 per share, respectively.
At December 31, 2000 the Corporation had outstanding
1,191,000 and 713,800 shares of Series B and C preferred stock
with a stated value of $100 per share and a carrying value of
$119 million and $71 million, respectively. The dividend rate on
each of the cumulative adjustable rate series was based on a stated
value and adjusted quarterly, based on a formula that considers the
interest rates for selected short- and long-term U.S. Treasury secu-

rities prevailing at the time the rate is set.

Note 15-Dividends and Capital Restrictions
The Corporation’s national bank subsidiaries are subject to statu-
tory limitations on their ability to pay dividends. Dividends cannot
exceed the level of undivided profits. In addition, a national bank
cannot declare a dividend, without regulatory approval, in an
amount in excess of its net income for the current year combined
with the combined net profits for the preceding two years. State
bank subsidiaries may also be subject to limitations on dividend
payments.

Based on these statutory requirements, the bank affiliates
could have declared aggregate additional dividends of up to approx-
imately $620 million without regulatory approval at January 1,
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2002. The payment of dividends by any bank may also be affected
by other factors, such as the maintenance of adequate capital.

The bank affiliates are subject to various regulatory capital
requirements that require them to maintain minimum ratios of total
and Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets and of Tier 1 capital to
average assets. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements results
in certain regulatory actions that could have a direct material effect on
the bank affiliates’ financial statements. As of December 31, 2001,
Management believed that each of the bank affiliates met all applica-

ble capital adequacy requirements and are correctly categorized as
“well capitalized” under the regulatory framework for prompt correc-
tive action. There are no conditions or events since that categorization
that Management believes have changed the institution’s category.
The actual and required capital amounts and ratios for the
Corporation and its principal banking subsidiaries are presented

as follows:

To Be Categorized
Actual Adegquately Capltallzed

Capital Capital Capital Capital
(Dollars in millions) Amount Ratie Amount Ratlo
At December 34, 2001
Risk-adjusted capital (to risk-weighted assets):
The Corporation (consolidated) $30,840 12.2% | $20,266 8.0%
Bank One, N.A. (Chicago) 416,142 12.8% 10,481 8.0
Bank One, N.A, (Cotumbus) 4,594 10.9 3,373 8.0
Bank One, Michigan 2,445 113 1,420 8.0
First USA Bank, N.A. 2,253 18.5 1,092 8.0
Tier 4 capital (to risk-welghted assets):
The Corporation (consclidated) $21,74% 8.6% | $10,433 4.0%
Bank One, N.A. (Chicago) 10,588 8.3 5,096 4.0
Bank One, N.A. (Columbus) 2,915 8.9 1,687 4.0
Bank One, Michigan 1,576 8.9 710 4.0
First USA Bank, N.A. 2,099 18.4 548 4.0
Tler 1 leverage (to average assets):
The Corporation (consolidated) $241,743 B.2% | $ 7,942 3.0%
Bank One, N.A. (Chicago) 10,585 6.6 8,469 4.0
Bank One, N.A. (Columbus) 2,945 8.4 1,811 4.0
Bank One, Michigan 1,576 7.3 867 4.0
First USA Bank, N.A. 2,099 14.2 589 4.0
At December 31, 2000
Risk-adjusted caplital (to risk-weighted assets):
The Corporation (consolidated) $29,140 10.8% | $21,615 8.0%
Bank One, N.A. (Chicaga) ™ 16,007 11.3 11,378 8.0
Bank One, N.A. (Columbus) 4,283 12.0 2,862 8.0
Bank One, Michigan 2,406 10.9 1,759 8.0
First USA Bank, N.A. 2,230 15.8 1,126 8.0
Tier 1 capital (to risk-welghted assets):
The Corporation (consotidated) $19,824 7.3% | $10,807 4.0%
Bank One, N.A. (Chicago) 9,689 6.8 5,689 4.0
Bank One, N.A. (Columbus) 2,867 8.0 1,431 4.0
Bank One, Michigan 1,582 7.2 879 4.0
First USA Bank, N.A. 2,110 15.0 563 4.0
Tler 1 leverage (to average assets):
The Corporation (consolidated) $19,824 7.3%| $ 8,167 3.0%
Bank One, N.A. (Chicago) v 9,689 6.4 6,078 4.0
Bank One, N.A. (Columbus) 2,867 7.8 1,471 4.0
Bank One, Michigan 1,582 7.2 878 4.0
First USA Bank, N.A. 2,110 11.8 718 4.0

(1) Reclassified to show the effect of the 2001 mergers with Bank One, Texas, N.A., Bank One, Louisiana, N.A., Bank One, Florida, Bank One, Arizona, N.A., and Bank One,

Utah, N.A.

Federal banking law restricts each bank subsidiary from extending credit to the Corporation in excess of 10% of the subsidiary’s capital

stock and surplus, as defined. Any such extensions of credit are subject to strict collateral requirements.
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Note 16-Supplemental Disclosures for Statements

of Cash Flows

During 2000 and 1999, the Corporation transferred $6.5 billion
and $2.3 billion, respectively, of investment securities available for
sale to trading securities. These transfers were for capital manage-
ment purposes.

Loans transferred to other real estate owned totaled
$162 million, $131 million, and $113 million in 2001, 2000, and
1999, respectively.

During 2000 and 1999, the Corporation recognized several
non-cash charges to earnings for significant items. Several of these
items will not result in future cash outflows while other items rep-
resent future uses of cash. See tables 1 and 2 on page 41 for a

detailed listing of significant items.

Note 17-Supplemental Disclosures for Accumulated
Other Adjustments to Stockholders’ Equity

Accumnulated other adjustments to stockholders’ equity are as follows:

(In millions) 2001 2000 1999
Fair value adjustment on investment
securities—available for sale:
Balance, beginning of period $ (15 $(271)| $ 218
Change in fair value, net of taxes
of $86 in 2001, $(6) in 2000
and $(180) in 1999 158 (5) (391)
Reclassification adjustment, net
of taxes of $(38) in 2001, $151
in 2000 and $(56) in 1999 (65) 261 (98)
Balance, end-of-pericd 78 (15) (271)
Fair value adjustment on derivative
instruments—cash flow type hedges:
Balance, beginning of period - - -
Transition adjustment at January
1, 2001, net of taxes of $(56) ® (98) — —
Net change in fair value
associated with current
period hedging activities,
net of taxes of $(70) in 2001 (139) - -
Net reclassification into earnings,
net of taxes of $49 in 2001 @ 91 - -
Balance, end-of-period (148) - -
Accumulated translation adjustment:
Balance, beginning of period 10 8 21
Translation gain (loss), net of
hedge results and taxes (7) 2 (13)
Balance, end of period 3 10 8
Total accumulated other adjustments
to stockholders' equity $(65) $ (5) $(263)

(1) During 2001, $89 million aftertax of the transition adjustment recorded at
January 1, 2001 was reclassified into earnings.
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Note 18-Employee Benefits
(a) Pension Plans
Prior to 2000, the Corporation had various noncontributory
defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all salaried
employees. Effective December 31, 1999, all noncontributory
defined benefit pension plans were combined into one plan.
Effective December 31, 2000, the supplemental executive retire-
ment plan was discontinued.

The Corporation’s qualified plans’ change in benefit obligation,

change in plan assets and funded status are as follows:

(In millions) 2001 2000
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation, January 1 $2,248 $2,250
Service cost 32 103
Interest cost i68 182
EGTRRA adjustment @ . 7 -
Actuarial loss 108 128
Benefits paid {326) (415)
Benefit obligation, December 31 $2,297 $2,248
Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets, January 1 $3,134 $3,400
Actual return (loss) on plan assets (114) 146

Corporation contribution 53 3

Benefits paid {326) (415)
Fair value of plan assets, December 31 $2,747 $3,134
Funded status $ 450 886
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain} 156 (357)
Unrecognized prior service cost 24 28
Unrecognized net transition assets - (7)
Prepaid pension costs, December 31 $ 630 $ 550

(1) The Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 (EGTRRA)
contained various provisions relating to the operations of qualified pension plans.
Increases to the benefit limits and the limit on pensionable earnings caused a
shift in pension obligation from the non-qualified to the qualified pian.

Plan assets include approximately 1.0 million shares of the
Corporation’s common stock with a fair value of approximately
$40 million and $37 million at December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

The net periodic pension benefit for 2001, 2000 and 1999

for the Corporation’s qualified and nonqualified pension plans are

as follows:
(I millions) 2001 2000 | 1999
Service cost-benefits earned

during the period $ 96 $110] $123
Interest cost on benefit obligation 177 194 175
Expected return on plan assets (287) {300) (293)
Amortization of prior service cost 8 9 (1)
Recognized actuarial (gain) (1) (11) (1)
Amortization of transition assets (7) (13) (13)
Curtailment gain - - (13)
Net periodic pension benefit $ (14) $ (11| $ (23)

87 2001 ANNUAL REPORT




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accrued pension cost for the Corporation’s nonqualified
supplemental pension plans was $39 million and $77 million
at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Such plans are
unfunded.

The assumptions used in determining the Corporation’s
benefit obligation and net periodic pension cost for both qualified

and nonqualified supplemental pension plans are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 2004 2000 (1999

Actuarial assumptions:

Weighted-average discount rate
for benefit obligation

Weighted-average rate of

7.00%® 7.00% 7.50%| 8.00%

compensation increase 4.25% 4.25% 4.25%| 5.00%
Expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets 8.50% 9.50% 9.50%| 9.50%

(1) Rate currently expected at December 31, 2002,

(b) Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions
The Corporation sponsors postretirement life insurance plans and
provides health care benefits for certain retirees and grandfathered
employees when they retire. The postretirement life insurance benefit
is noncontributory, while the health care benefits are contriburory.
The Corporation’s postretirement benefit plans’ change in
benefit obligation and funded scatus ac December 31, 2001 and
2000 are as follows:

(In millions) 2004 2000
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation, January 1 $ 185 $ 164
Service cost - -
Interest cost 14 13
Actuarial loss 48 37
Benefits paid (24) (17}
Curtailment - (2)
Benefit obligation, December 31 233 195

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets, January 1 - -
Employer contribution 24 17

Benefits paid {(24) (17)
Fair value of plan assets, December 31 - =
Funded status (233) (195)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss 87 20

Unrecognized prior service cost {25) (38)
Accrued postretirement costs,
December 31 $(191) $(213)
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Net periodic cost for postretirement health care and life insur-
ance benefits during 2001, 2000 and 1999 includes the following:

(In millions) 2004 2000 1999
Service cost-benefits earned

during the period $ - $ - $ 1
Interest cost on accumulated

postretirement benefit obligation 14 13 13
Amortization of prior service cost {12) (12) (12)
Adjustment for acquisitions - - 2
Curtailment ’ - 1 -
Net periodic postretirement cost $ 2 $ 2 $ 4

The weighted average discount rate used in determining the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 7.00% at
December 31, 2001, and 7.50% at December 31, 2000.

For measurement purposes, an annual rate of increase of
10.00% was assumed for 2001 in the cost of covered health care
benefits; this range was assumed to decrease to 5.00% in the years
2009 and thereafter. These assumptions have a significant effect on
the amounts reported. Accordingly, the effect of a 1.00% change in

the assumed health care cost trend rates is as follows:

(In millions) 1% increase 1% decrease
Effect on 2001 service

and interest cost

components $ 0.9 $ 038
Effect on December

31, 2001, accumulated

postretirement benefit

obligation $14.3 $12.6

(c) 401(k) Plans

The Corporation sponsored various 401(k) plans that together
covered substantially all of its employees. Up until 2000, the
Corporation was required to make contributions to the plans in
varying amounts. The expense related to these plans was
$95 million in 2001, $137 million in 2000 and $81 million in
1999. Effective December 31, 1999, all new contributions are being
made to one Corporation-sponsored 401(k) plan, thereby establish-

ing uniform contribution requirements for the entire Corporation.

Note 19-Stock-Based Compensation

The Corporation utilizes several types of stock-based awards as part
of its overall compensation program. In addition, the Corporation
provides employees the opportunity to purchase its shares through
its Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The Corporation’s stock-based
compensation plans provide for the granting of awards to purchase
or receive common shares and include limits as to the aggregate
number of shares available for grants and the total number of
shares available for grants of stock awards in any one year. The
compensation cost that has been charged against income for the

Corporation’s stock-based compensation plans was $70 million for
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2001, $59 million for 2000 and $38 million for 1999. As a result
of the 1999 fourth-quarter restructuring plan, $4 million was
recorded as a restructuring charge related to the immediate vesting

of restricted shares for certain executives.

(a) Restricted Shares

Restricted shares granted to key officers of the Corporation require
them to continue employment for a stated number of years from
the grant dare before restrictions on the shares lapse. The market
value of the restricted shares as of the date of grant is amortized to
compensation expense as earned over the restriction period.
Holders of restricted stock receive dividends and have the right to

vote the shares.

(b} Stock Options

The Corporation’s stock option plans generally provide that the
exercise price of any stock option may not be less than the closing
price of the common stock on the trading day preceding the date
of grant of the common stock.

Options granted under the Corporation’s stock-based com-
pensation program generally vest ratably over a five-year period and
have a term of ten years. Certain option grants include the right wo
receive additional option grants (“reload” or “restorative” options)
in an amount equal to the number of common shares used to
satisfy the exercise price and applicable withholding taxes. Upon
grant, reload options assume the same remaining term as the

related original option and vest six months from the date of grant.

Summarized stock option activity for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, and details of the Corporation’s stock options outstanding at

December 31, 2001 follows:

2001 2000 1999

Wtd. Avg. Wtd. Avg. Wid. Avg.

(Shares in thousands) Shares Exercise Price Shares Enerclse Price Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1 77,315 $34.17 44,630 $40.88 38,247 $34.34
Granted 23,573 37.73 42,659 27.25 15,556 50.35
Exercised (7,262) 25.09 (2,089) 19.66 (6,473) 24.34
Forfeited _(3,144) 36.72 (7,885) 38.56 (2,700) 36.56
Outstanding at December 31 80,482 $38.72 77,315 $34.17 44,630 $40.88
Exercisable at December 31 45,525 $36.30 25,503 $36.41 19,847 $32.86

Options Qutstanding Options Exerclsable
Number Wtd. Avg. Number

(Shares in thousands) QOutstanding Wtd. Avg. Remaining Exercisable Wtd. Avg.
Range of Exercise Prices Dec. 31, 2001 Exerclse Price Contractual Life Dec. 31, 2001 Exerclse Price
Less than $20.00 2,084 $16.21 1.8 years 2,084 $16.21
$20.01 - $25.00 3,261 24.47 3.8 years 3,261 24.47
$25.01 - $30.00 314,640 26.61 14.5 years 16,139 26.46
$30.01 - $35.00 5,632 32.70 7.2 years 3,137 32.33
$35.01 - $45.00 27,623 38.04 8.5 years 5,211 38.80
$45.01 - $55.00 16,166 49.53 10.7 years 12,130 49.34
Greater than $55.00 4,078 59.13 6.8 years 3,503 59.09
Total 20,482 $35.72 10.5 years 45,525 $36.30

(c) Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Corporation sponsors an Employee Stock Purchase Plan
designed to encourage employee stock ownership. This plan generally
allows eligible employees to purchase shares of the Corporation’s
common stock at a 15% discount from the market price at the begin-
ning of an offering or the market price at the end of such offering,
whichever is lower. During the current 18-month offering period, an
employee is allowed to make deposits of up to 20% of his/her earn-
ings (up to a designated maximum) on an annual basis to an interest-
bearing savings account to purchase the number of shares permissible
under the plan. The maximum number of shares each participant
may purchase cannot exceed the contribution limit divided by the
applicable purchase price on the offering date. Shares purchased by
the participant are subject to a one year holding period and cannot be

sold or transferred for one year after the purchase date. The
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Corporation does not recognize any compensation expense with

respect to this plan.

(d) Pro Forma Costs of Stock-Based Compensation

The grant date fair values of stock options granted under the
Corporation’s various stock option plans and the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan were estimated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. This model was developed to estimate the fair
value of traded options, which have different characteristics than
employee stock options. In addition, changes to the subjective
input assumptions can result in materially different fair market
value estimates. Therefore, the Black-Scholes model may not nec-
essarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of

employee stock options and purchase rights.
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Summarized stock-based compensation grants and their related weighted-average grant-date fair values for the years ended

December 31 follows:

2001 2000 1999
Number of Wid. Avg. Grant Number of Wtd. Avg. Grant Number of Wtd. Avg. Grant
(Shares in thousands) Shares Date Fair Value Shares Date Fair Value Shares Date Fair Value
Stock option plans 23,573 $ 13.34 42,659 $ 9.80 15,556 $ 12.28
Restricted shares 2,085 37.68 4,517 27.85 1,728 51.13
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 2,483 2.68 2,122 3.27 2,974 7.28

(1) Estimated number of shares that employees would purchase under the 2001, 2000 and 1999 plans.

The following assumptions were used to determine the Black-
Scholes weighted-average grant date fair value of stock option awards
and conversions in 2001, 2000 and 1999: (1) expected dividend
yields ranged from 2.29% - 4.86%, (2) expected volatility ranged
from 19.11% - 42.29%, (3) risk-free interest rates ranged from
4.85% - 6.43% and (4) expected lives ranged from 2 to 13 years.

The following assumptions were used to determine the Black-
Scholes weighted-average grant-date fair value of employees’ put-
chase rights under the employee stock purchase plans in 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively: (1) expected dividend yields of

2.30%, 2.58% and 2.86%, (2) expected volatility of 33.80%,
39.63% and 34.68%, (3) risk-free interest rate of 2.61%, 6.22%
and 5.07% and (4) expected lives of 1.5, 0.5 and 1.0 years.

Had the compensation cost for the Corporation’s stock-based
compensation plans been determined in accordance with the fair-
value-based accounting method provided by SFAS No. 123
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” the net income and
earnings per share implications for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999 would have been as follows:

2001 2000 1999

(In millions, Pro As Pro As Pro As
except per share data) Forma'" Reported Forma'" Reported Forma'! Reported
Net income (loss) $2,452 $2,638 $ (646) $ (511) $3,413 $3,479
Net income (loss) per common

share, basic 2.09 2.25 (0.57) {0.45) 2.91 2.97
Net income (loss) per common

share, diluted 2.08 2.24 (0.57) (0.45) 2.89 2.95

(1) The above pro forma information may not be representative of the pro forma impact in future years.

Note 20-Income Taxes

The components of total applicable income tax expense (benefit)
in the consolidated income statement for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 are as follows:

(In millions) 2001 2000 1999
Income tax expense:
Current:
Federal $ 797 $ 571, % 735
Foreign i1 32 2
State 115 26 o7
Total 223 629 834
Deferred:
Federal 194 (1,151) 624
Foreign <3 {7 —
State 4) (40) 37
Total 188 (1,198) 661
Applicable income taxes (benefit) $1,448 $ (569)| $ 1,495

BANK ONE CORPORATION

The tax effects of fair value adjustments on securities available
for sale, derivative instruments in cash flow type hedges, foreign
currency translation adjustments and certain tax benefits related to
stock options are recorded directly to stockholders’ equity. The net
tax (benefit) charge recorded directly to stockholders’ equity
amounted to $(47) million in 2001, $107 million in 2000 and
$(259) million in 1999.
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A reconciliation of expected income tax expense at the federal statutory rate of 35% to the Corporation’s applicable income tax

expense and effective tax rate follows:

(Dollars in millions) 2001 2000 1999
Statutory tax rate $1,330 35.0% $(378) 35.0% $1,741 35.0%
Increase (decrease) resulting from:
State income taxes,
net of federal income tax benefit 72 1.2 4) 0.3 87 1.8
Tax-exempt interest (58) {1.5) (57) 5.3 (66) (1.3)
Tax credits (231) (8.4) (179) 16.6 (133) (2.7)
Goodwill 23 0.6 25 (2.3) 23 0.5
Cash surrender value of life insurance (57) (1.5) (56) 5.2 (48) (1.0)
Other, net 37 1.0 80 (7.4) (109) (2.2)
Applicable income taxes (benefit) $1,118 29.4% $ (569) 52.7% $1,495 30.1%

A net deferred tax liability is included in other liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheet as a result of temporary differences
berween the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the con-
solidated financial statements and their related tax bases. The com-
ponents of the net deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2001
and 2000 are as follows:

(In millions) 2001 2000
Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred income on lease financing $4,242 $3,895

Prepaid pension costs 2186 165
Securitizations of credit card receivables i21 155
Deferred fee income 333 336
Other 77 200
Gross deferred tax liabilities 4,889 4,751
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for credit losses 1,744 1,667
Restructure reserves 177 127
Incentive compensation 302 257
Other 862 933
Gross deferred tax assets 3,085 2,984
Net deferred tax liability $1,904 $1,767

The Corporation has an alternative minimum tax (AMT)
credit carryforward for tax purposes of $87 million at December
31, 2001. The Corporation also has carryforwards of foreign tax
credits (“FTC”) in the amounts of $38 million. The FTC’s will
expire after 2005. -

BANK ONE CORPORATION

Note 21-Lease Commitments
The Corporation has entered into a number of operating lease
agreements for premises and equipment. The minimum annual

rental commitments under these leases are shown below:

(In millions)

2002 $ 264
2003 249
2004 214
2005 169
2006 152
2007 and thereafter 890

Total $1,938

Rental income from premises leased to others in the amount
of $77 million in 2001, $80 million in 2000, and $87 million in
1999 has reduced occupancy expense. Rental expense under oper-
ating leases approximated $332 million in 2001, $384 million in
2000, and $414 million in 1999.
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Note 22-Financial Instruments with Off-Balance

Sheet Risk

In the normal course of business, the Corporation is a party to
financial instruments containing credit and/or market risks that are
not required to be reflected in the balance sheet. These financial
instruments are primarily credit-related instruments. The
Corporation has risk management policies to identify, monitor and
limit exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks.

The following disclosures represent the Corporation’s credit
exposure, assuming that every counterparty to financial instru-
ments with off-balance sheet credit risk fails to perform completely
according to the terms of the contracts, and that the collateral and
other security, if any, proves to be of no value to the Corporation.

This note does not address the amount of market losses the
Corporation would incur if future changes in market prices make
financial instruments with off-balance sheet marker risk less valu-
able or more onerous. For a more detailed discussion of off-balance
sheet activities see the “Other Off-Balance Sheet activities” section

beginning on page 66.

(a) Collateral and Other Security Arrangements

The credit risk of both on- and off-balance sheet financial instru-
ments varies based on many factors, including the value of collac-
eral held and other security arrangements. To mitigate credit risk,
the Corporation generally determines the need for specific
covenant, guarantee and collateral requirements on a case-by-case
basis, depending on the nature of the financial instrument and the
customers creditworthiness. The Corporation may also receive
comfort letters and oral assurances. The amount and type of col-
lateral held to reduce credit risk varies but may include real estate,
machinery, equipment, inventory and accounts receivable, as well
as cash on deposie, stocks, bonds and other marketable securities
that are generally held in the Corporation’s possession or at another
appropriate custodian or depository. This collateral is valued and
inspected on a regular basis to ensure both its existence and ade-

quacy. Additional collateral is requested when appropriate.

(b) Credit-Related Financial Instruments
Summarized credit-related financial instruments, including both

commitments to extend credit and letters of credit are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 2000
(In billions)
Unused credit card lines $299.3 $272.7
Unused loan commitments 148.2 162.9
Standby letters of credit and

foreign office guarantees 12.4 19.0
Commercial letters of credit 0.6 0.7

BANK ONE CORPORATION

Since many of the unused commitments are expected to
expire unused or be only partially used, the total amount of unused
commitments in the preceding table does not necessarily represent
future cash requirements.

Credit card lines allow customers to use a credit card to buy
goods or services and to obtain cash advances. However, the
Corporation has the right to change or terminate any terms or con-
ditions of a customer’s credit card account, upon notification to the
customer. Loan commitments are agreements to make or acquire a
loan or lease as long as the agreed-upon terms (e.g., expiry, covenants
or notice) are met. The Corporations commitments to purchase or
extend loans help its customers meet their liquidity needs.

Standby letters of credit and foreign office guarantees are
issued in connection with agreements made by customers to coun-
terparties. If the customer fails to comply with the agreement, the
counterparty may enforce the standby letter of credit or foreign
office guarantee as a remedy. Credir risk arises from the possibility
that the customer may not be able to repay the Corporation for
standby letters of credit or foreign office guarantees. At December
31, 2001 and 2000, standby letters of credit and foreign office

guarantees had been issued for the following purposes:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 2000

(In millions)

Financial $45,6114  $15,705

Performance 3,786 3,305
Total ¥ $19,387 $19,010

(1) Includes $3.4 billion at December 31, 2001, and $2.7 villion at December 31,
2000, participated to other institutions.

Commercial letters of credit are issued or confirmed to ensure
payment of customers’ payables or receivables in short-term inter-
national trade transactions. Generally, drafts will be drawn when
the underlying transaction is consummated as intended. However,
the short-term nature of this instrument serves to mitigate the risk

associated with these contracts.
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Note 23-Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Corporation is required to disclose the estimated fair value of its
in accordance with SFAS No. 107,

“Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments.” These dis-

financial instruments
closures do not attempt to estimate or represent the Corporation’s
fair value as a whole. The disclosure excludes assets and liabilities that
are not financial instruments as well as the significant unrecognized
value associated with core deposits and credit card relationships.
Fair value amounts disclosed represent point-in-time esti-
mates that may change in subsequent reporting periods due to
market conditions or other factors. Estimated fair value amounts in
theory represent the amounts at which financial instruments could

be exchanged or settled in a current transaction between willing

parties. In practice, however, this may not be the case due to inherent
limitations in the methodologies and assumptions used to estimate
fair value. For example, quoted market prices may not be realized
because the financial instrument may be traded in a market that
lacks liquidity; or a fair value derived using a discounted cash flow
approach may not be the amount realized because of the subjectiv-
ity involved in selecting underlying assumptions, such as project-
ing cash flows or selecting a discount rate. The fair value amount
also may not be realized because it ignores transaction costs and
does not include potential tax effects. The Corporation does not
plan to dispose of, either through sale or settlement, the majority

of its financial instruments at these estimated fair values.

Summarized carrying values and estimated fair values of financial instruments as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 follows:

2001 2000
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
{In millions) Value Fair Value Value Falr Value
Financial assets:
Cash and other short-term financial instruments (a) $ 28,047 $ 28,017 $ 27,640 | $ 27,640
Trading assets (a) 6,167 8,167 2,788 2,788
Investment securities (b) 60,883 60,883 50,561 50,561
Loans (c) 156,733 154,819 174,251 171,633
Aliowance for credit losses (4,528) - (4,110) -
Loans, net 152,205 154,819 170,141 171,633
Derivative product assets (f) 3,225 3,225 2,322 2,461
Financial instruments in other assets (a) 1,459 1,489 2,220 2,220
Financial liabilities:
Deposits (d) 167,530 188,414 167,077 167,882
Securities sold not yet purchased (a) 1,237 1,237 285 285
Other short-term financial instruments (a) 23,003 23,003 30,240 30,240
Long-term debt “*(e) 43,418 44,521 40,911 40,867
Derivative product liabilities (f) 2,574 2,574 2,212 2,251
Financial instruments in other liabilities {a) 1,273 1,273 1,828 1,828

(1) Includes trust preferred capital securities.

BANK ONE CORPORATION
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Estimated fair values are determined as follows:

(a) Financial Instruments Whose Carrying Value
Approximates Fair Value
A financial instrument’s carrying value approximates its fair value
when the financial instrument has an immediate or short-term
maturity (generally one year or less), or is carried at fair value.
Quoted market prices or dealer quotes typically are used to
estimate fair values of trading securities and securities sold under
repurchase agreements.
Commitments to extend credit and letters of credit typically
result in loans with a marker interest rate when funded. The recorded

book value of deferred fee income approximates the fair value.

(b) Investment Securities

Quoted market prices typically are used to estimate the fair value of
debt investment securities. Quoted market prices for similar securi-
ties are used to estimate fair value when a quoted market price is not
available for a specific debt investment security. See Note 1(d) to the
consolidated financial statements on page 74 for the methodologies

used to determine the fair value of equity investment securities.

(c) Loans

The loan portfolio was segmented based on loan type, credit
quality and repricing characreristics. Carrying values are used to
estimate fair values of certain variable rate loans with no significant
credit concerns and frequent repricing. A discounted cash flow
method was used to estimate the fair value of other loans.
Discounting was based on the contractual cash flows, and discount
rates typically are based on the year-end yield curve plus a spread
that reflects pricing on loans with similar characteristics. If appli-
cable, prepayment assumptions are factored into the fair value
determination based on historical experience and current economic

and lending conditions.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

(d) Deposits

The amount payable on demand at the report date is used to esti-
mate fair value of demand and savings deposits with no defined
maturity. A discounted cash flow method is used to estimate the
fair value of fixed-rate time deposits. Discounting was based on the
contractual cash flows and the current rates at which similar
deposits with similar remaining maturities would be issued,
adjusted for servicing costs. Carrying value typically is used to esti-

mate the fair value of floating-rate time deposits.

(e) Long-Term Debt

Quoted market prices or the discounted cash flow method was
used to estimate the fair value of the Corporation’s fixed-rate long-
term debt. Discounting was based on the contractual cash flows
and the current rates at which debt with similar terms could be
issued. Carrying value typically is used to estimate the fair value of

floating-rate long-term debr.

(f) Derivative Product Assets and Liabilities

For December 2001, the carrying value equals the estimated fair
value due to the adoption of SFAS No. 133 during 2001. For the
year 2000, quoted market prices or pricing and valuation models
were used to estimate the fair value of derivative product assets and
liabilities. Assumptions input into models were based on current

market information.

Note 24-Related Party Transactions

Certain executive officers, directors and their related interests are
loan customers of the Corporation. These loans in the aggregate
were less than 5% of stockholders” equity at December 31, 2001
and 2000.
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Note 25-Pledged Assets
Assets having a book value of $70.3 billion as of December 31,
2001, and $44.2 billion as of December 31, 2000, were pledged as
collateral for repurchase agreements, certain derivative instrument
cransactions, and governmental and trust department deposits in
accordance with federal and state requirements, and for other pur-
poses required by law. The assets pledged generally were comprised
of commercial mortgage loans and investment securities. Of the
total collateral pledged as of December 31, 2001, $3.1 billion of
collareral, which was comprised of securities posted as collateral for
repurchase agreements, was permitted to be sold or repledged by
the secured party. The Corporation does not issue equity puts.
The Corporation’s bank affiliates are required to maintain
average noninterest-bearing cash balances, in accordance with
Federal Reserve Board regulations. The average required reserve
balances were $2.3 billion in 2001 and $2.5 billion in 2000.

Note 26-Collateral Policy Related to Certain Asset
Transfer Activity

It is the Corporation’s policy to take possession of securities pur-
chased under agreements to resell in order to secure the risk of coun-
terparty nonperformance on the transaction. The Corporation
monitors the fair value of the underlying securities as compared to
the related receivable, including accrued interest, and adjusts the
level of collateral as necessary. With respect to securities lent, the
Corporation receives collateral to secure the risk of counterparty
nonperformance in the form of cash or other collateral, in an
amount generally in excess of the fair value of the lent securities. The
Corporation monitors the fair value of the securities lent on a daily

basis, and additional cash or securities are obtained as necessary.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the fair value of collateral
accepted by the Corporation in connection with these activities
was $6.3 billion and $4.1 billion, respectively, of which,
$5.9 billion and $3.8 billion, respectively, had been sold or
repledged as of the balance sheet date.

Note 27-Contingent Liabilities

The Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries have been named as
defendants in various legal proceedings, including certain class
actions, arising out of the normal course of business or operations. In
certain of these proceedings, which are based on alleged violations of
consumer protection, securities, banking, insurance and other laws,
rules or principles, substantial money damages are asserted against the
Corporation and its subsidiaries. Since the Cotporation and certain of
its subsidiaries, which are regulated by one or more federal and state
regulatory authorities, are the subject of numerous examinations and
reviews by such authorities, the Corporation also is and will be, from
time to time, normally engaged in various disagreements with regula-
tors, related primarily to its financial services businesses. The
Corporation has also received certain tax deficiency assessments. In
view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of such
matters, the Corporation cannot state what the eventual outcome of
pending matters will be; however, based on current knowledge and
after consultation with counsel, Management does not believe that
liabilities arising from these matters, if any, will have a material adverse

effect on the consolidated financial position of the Corporation.
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Note 28-Parent Company Only Condensed Financial Condensed Income Statements
Statements FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 2000 1999
(In millions)

Condensed Balance Sheets Operating Income

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 20041 2000 Dividends:

(In millions) Bank subsidiaries $1,645 $1,775 | $2,367

Assets Nonbank subsidiaries 208 762 | 373

Cash and due from banks: Interest income:

Bank subsidiaries ® 25 1% pank subsidiaries 655 822 | 534

Interest-bearing due from banks: Nonbank subsidiaries 381 513 | 438
Bank subsidiaries 7,345 7,247 Other 3 25 11

Secgrities under resale agreement 30 - Other income: .

Trading assets 5 13 Bank subsidiaries 5 7 7

Investment securities 17 135 Other 2 19 190

Loans and reggivgbles—subsidiaries: Total 2,896 3,920 3.920
Bank substd|arne.s . 6,171 7,044 Operating Expense
Nonbank §ub5|d|ar|e§ 7,940 6,934 Interest expense:

Investment in subsidiaries: Nonbank subsidiaries 23¢ 161 93
Bank subsndlar|§s 22,670 21,166 Other 1,308 1,556 1,132
Nonbank subsidiaries 1,830 1663 \ierger and restructuring-related

Other assets 1,479 424 charges (1.2} 140 287

Total assets $46,988 $44,640 Salaries and employee benefits {4) 52 9

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity Professional fees and services 2 4 3

Short-term borrowings: Other expense 34 255 97
Nonbank subsidiaries $ 68 $ 73 Total 1,565 2,168 | 1,621
Other 546 1,166 Income before income taxes

Long-term debt: and cumulative effect of
Nonbank subsidiaries 3,419 2,560 change in accounting principle
Other 21,485 20,824 and equity in undistributed net

Other liabilities 1,265 1,382 income of subsidiaries 1,331 1,752 | 2,299

Total liabilities 28,763 26,005  Applicable income tax benefit (202) (197) (198)

Stockholders’ equity 20,226 18,635 income before cumulative effect

Total liabilities and of change in accounting
stockholders’ equity $46,98% $44,640 principle and equity in
undistributed net income of
subsidiaries 1,533 1,949 2,497
Equity in undistributed net
income (loss) of subsidiaries:
Bank subsidiaries 4,300 (1,835) 797
Nonbank subsidiaries {151) (625) 185
income (loss) before cumulative
effect of change of
accounting principte 2,682 (511)| 3,479
Cumulative effect of change
of accounting principle,
net of taxes {44) - —
Net Income (Loss) $2,638 $ (511) $3,479
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 28 Continued-Parent Company Only Condensed Financial Statements

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 2000 1999
(In millions)
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (l0ss) $ 2,638 $ (511) $ 3,479
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Equity in net income of subsidiaries (3,003) (77) (3,722)
Cumulative effect of accounting change of subsidiaries 89 - -
Dividends received from subsidiaries 1,854 2,537 2,740
Other operating adjustments &8 83 417
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,626 2,032 2,914
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Net (increase) decrease in loans to subsidiaries {435) 2,296 (3,226)
Net increase in capital investments in subsidiaries {412) (668) (1,277)
Purchase of investment securities—available for sale (79) (1,095) (805)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investment securities—available for sale 189 1,321 729
Other, net (30) 29 (29)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (767) 1,883 (4,608)
" Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net increase (decrease) in commercial paper and short-term borrowings {624) (181) 37
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 6,444 3,964 9,524
Redemption and repayment of long-term debt {5,495) (2,218) (2,843)
Dividends paid (991) (1,222) (2,420)
Proceeds from issuance of common and treasury stock 194 152 61
Purchase of treasury stock (78) (3) (1,647)
Payment for redemption of preferred stock {190 - -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (773) 494 2,712
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 86 4,409 1,018
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 7,281 2,852 1,834
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $7,347 $ 7,261 $ 2,852
Other Cash-Flow Disclosures
Interest paid $1,501 $1,620 $1,113
Income tax receipt (374) (139) (335)

Overnight money market loans, short-term investments and other sources of liquid assets exceeded the amount of commercial paper

issued at December 31, 2001.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 29-Quarterly Financlial Data (Unaudited)

2001 2000
Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First

(In millions, except ratios and per share data)

Income Statement Data:
Total revenue, net of interest expense $ 4,207 $ 4,046 $ 3,846 $ 3,792 $ 3461 $ 3942 $ 2509 $ 4,014

Net interest income-FTE 2,273 2,193 2,085 2,218 2,247 2,242 2,257 2,228
Noninterest income 1,972 1,853 1,791 4,807 1,247 1,734 288 1,821
Provision for credit losses 765 820 540 585 1,507 516 1,013 362
Noninterest expense 2,706 2,303 2,306 2,236 2,847 2,593 3,507 2,661
Income (loss) before cumulative effect

of change in accounting principle 541 754 708 879 (512) 581 (1,269) 689
Net income (loss) 541 754 684 879 (512) 581 (1,269) 689

Per Commeon Share Data:
Income (loss) before cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle:

Basic $ 048 8 064 $ 060S$ 038 $ (044% 0503% (111)$ 0.60

Diluted @ 0.46 0.64 0.60 0.58 (0.44) 0.50 (1.11) 0.60
Net income (loss):

Basic 0.46 0.64 0.57 0.58 (0.44) 0.50 (1.11) 0.60

Diluted ¢ 0.46 0.84 0.56 0.58 (0.44) 0.50 (1.11) 0.60
Cash dividends declared 0.24 0.21 0.21 0.24 0.21 0.21 0.42 0.42
Book value 17.33 17.30 18.4%9 16.20 15.90 16.47 16.12 17.43

Balance Sheet Data—
Ending Balances:

Loans:

Managed $218,102 $222,604 $223,390 $229,942 $236,492 $237,505 $234,412 $229,673

Reported 156,733 164,251 166,576 471,427 174,251 176,419 172,591 168,078
Deposits 167,530 162,385 164,299 463,555 167,077 164,130 163,169 164,643
Long-term debt < 43,418 44,361 44,693 42,197 40,911 42,641 39,093 38,753
Total assets:

Managed 306,304 340,207 312,244 315,404 309,096 324,780 316,011 317,176

Reported 288,954 270,252 272,412 274,352 269,300 283,373 272,709 273,008
Common stockholders’ equity 20,226 20,192 19,261 18,876 18,445 19,042 18,630 20,081
Total stockholders’ equity 20,226 20,382 19,451 19,066 18,635 19,232 18,820 20,271

Credit Quality Ratios:
Net charge-offs to average loans—

managed @ 2.84% 2.58% 2.50% 2.40% 2.22% 1.86% 1.99% 2.04%
Allowance for credit losses to

period end loans 2.89 2.73 2.54 245 2.36 1.75 1.73 1.39
Nonperforming assets to

related assets 2.3% 1.36 1.77 1.55 1.48 1.21 1.03 0.99
Financial Performance Ratios:
Return (loss) on average assets 0.80% 1.13% 0.99% 1.02% (0.75)% 0.85 (1.87)% 1.03%
Return (loss) on average

common equity 10.5 15.0 13.9 14.6 (10.7) 12.2 (26.0) 13.9
Net interest margin:

Managed 5.20 4.95 4.85 4.76 4.65 4.66 4.80 491

Reported 3.84 3.70 3.50 3.74 3.67 3.68 3.77 3.78
Efficiency ratio:

Managed 53.8 48.9 48.5 47.6 66.0 54.6 103.8 53.7

Reported 83.7 56.9 59.5 58.5 81.5 65.2 137.8 65.7
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 29-Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)—continued

2001 2000
Fourth |  Third Secend First Fourth Third Second First

(In millions, except ratios and per share data)
Capital Ratlos:
Risk-based capital:

Tier 1 8.6% 8.4% 8.2% 7.8% 7.3% 7.5% 7.2% 7.7%

Total 12.2 11.7 1.6 11.2 10.8 10.9 10.3 10.6
Tangible common equity/tangible

managed assets 5.9 5.8 5.8 5.6 5.5 5.4 5.4 5.7
Common Stock Data:
Average shares outstanding:

Basic 4,166 1,468 1,166 I 1,163 1,158 1,156 1,153 1,149

Diluted 1,174 1,476 1,176 1,473 1,158 1,167 1,153 1,155
Stock price:

High $39.85 $38.95 $33.60 $39.85 $ 37.69 |$ 3881 |$ 36.88 | $34.75

Low 28.00 28.00 33.64 33.49 31.88 28.44 26.56 24.25

Close 33.05 31.47 | 35.80 36.18 36.63 38.06 26.56 34.38
Employees ¥ 73,519 75,804 78,494 79,157 80,778 81,291 82,443 N/A

N/A-Not available,

(1) Common equivalent shares and related income were excluded from the computation of dituted loss per share for the three months ended December 31, 2000 and
June 30, 2000 as the effect would be antidilutive.

(2

(3) Fourth quarter, third quarter, second quarter and first quarter 2001 amounts include $14 million, $14 million, $24 million and $40 million, respectively, of charge-offs
which are not classified as such in the Corporation’s GAAP financial information because they are part of a portfolio which has been accounted for as loans held at a
discount. The inclusion of these amounts in charge-cffs more accurately reflects the credit performance of the portfolio. In the Corporation’s financial statements,
these items result in & higher provision in excess of net charge-offs,

Includes trust preferred capital securities.

{4) Beginning in the first quarter of 2001, employees on long-term disability and employees of unconsolidated subsidiaries are excluded. Prior period data have not been

restated for this change.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

Management of BANK ONE CORPORATION and its subsidiaries
(the “Corporation”) is responsible for the preparation, integrity and
fair presentation of its published financial reports. These reports
include consolidated financial statements that have been prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, using
Management’s best judgment and all information available.

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation have
been audited by KPMG LLP, independent public accountants. Their
accompanying report is based upon an audit conducted in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards, including the related
review of internal accounting controls and financial reporting matters.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board of
Directors, which consists solely of outside directors, meets at least
quarterly with the independent auditors, Corporate Audit and repre-
sentatives of Management to discuss, among other things, accounting
and financial reporting marters.

Management of the Corporation is responsible for establishing
and maintaining an effective internal control structure over financial
reporting, including the safeguarding of assets against unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition. The Corporation maintains systems of
controls that it believes are reasonably designed to provide
Management with timely and accurate information about the opera-
tions of the Corporation. This process is supported by an internal
audit function along with the ongoing appraisal of internal controls
by the Audic and Risk Management Committee. Both the
Corporation’s independent auditors and the internal audit function
directly provide reports on significant matters to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee. The Corporations independent auditors,

the internal audit function and the Audit and Risk Management
Committee have free access to each other. Internal controls, systems
and corporate-wide processes and procedures are continually enhanced.

The Corporation is dedicated to maintaining a culture that
reflects the highest standards of integrity and ethical conduct when
engaging in its business activities. Management of the Corporation is
responsible for compliance with various federal and state laws and reg-
ulations, and the Corporation has established procedures that are
designed to ensure that Management’s policies relating to conduct,
ethics and business practices are followed on a uniform basis.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

Tl

James Dimon
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Cliad, W 5ok

Charles W. Scharf
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Chicago, Illinois
January 15, 2002

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
BANK ONE CORPORATION

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of
BANK ONE CORPORATION and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2001 and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for the year then ended. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s
Management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these con-
solidated financial statements based on our audit. The accompanying
consolidated balance sheet of BANK ONE CORPORATION and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and the related consolidated
statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of
the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2000 were
audited by other auditors whose report thereon dated January 17,
2001, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the

BANK ONE CORPORATION

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant esti-
mates made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
BANK ONE CORPORATION and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2001 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the
year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

KPies LP

Chicago, Illinois
January 15, 2002
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SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION
BANK ONE CORPORATION and Subsidiaries

Common Stock and Stockholder Data: V@ 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Market price:
High for the year $39.85 $38.81 $63.13 $64.78 $54.37
Low for the year 28.00 24.25 29.98 37.58 35.57
At year-end 38.05 36.63 32.00 51.06 49.37
Book value (at year-end) 17.33 15.90 17.34 17.31 16.03
Dividend payout ratio 38% N/M 57% 58% 61%
Financial Ratios:
Net income (loss) as a percentage of: @
Average stockholders' equity 13.5% (2.6)% 17.0% 15.8% 15.6%
Average common stockholders’ equity . 13.4 (2.6) 17.2 15.9 16.0
Average total assets 1.0 (0.2) 1.4 1.3 1.3
Average earning assets 1.1 (0.2) 1.6 1.5 1.5
Stockholders’ equity at year-end as a percentage of:
Total assets at year-end 7.5 6.9 7.5 7.9 8.0
Total loans at year-end 12.8 10.7 12.3 13.2 11.9
Total deposits at year-end 12.1 11.2 12.4 12.7 12.4
) Average stockholders’ equity as a percentage of:
b Average total assets 7.4 7.2 8.0 8.2 8.2
K Average loans 118 11.4 13.0 12.7 12.2
; Average deposits 12.2 12.0 13.2 13.1 12.9
Income to fixed charges: ¢
Excluding interest on deposits 2.0x 0.8x 2.3x 2.3x 2.4x
Inctuding interest on deposits 1.4x 0.9x 1.6x 1.5x% 1.5x

N/M-Not meaningful.
(1) There were 108,242 common stockholders of record as of December 31, 2001.

(2) The principal market for the Corporation's common stock is the New York Stock Exchange. The Corporation's common stock also is listed on the
Chicago Stock Exchange.

(3) Does not include deduction for preferred dividends.

(4) Results for the year ended December 31, 2000, were insufficient to cover fixed charges. The coverage deficiency was approximately $1.2 billion.
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Corporate Headguarters
Bank One Corporation

1 Bank One Plaza

Chicago, IL 60670

(312) 732-4000

Company Information
Information on Bank One products and services is

available on the Internet at the following websites:

www.bankone.com

Bank One’s primary website

WWw.onegroup.com

Bank One’s proprietary family of mutual funds

www.oneinvest.com
Bank One’s online investment services and

securities trading

www. firstusa.com

Bank One’s credit card company

Financial Information

Bank One annual reports, earnings and news
releases, 10-K and 10-Q reports, and other
financial information can be obtained by visiting
the “About Bank One” section of our website at

www.bankone.com.

BANK ONE CORPORATION

CORPORATE INFORMATION

You can also obtain the most recent financial
information on Bank One by phoning our toll-
Corporate  News and Sharcholder
Information Service at 877-ONE-FACT (877-
663-3228).

free

Investor Relations
Analysts, portfolio managers, and other investors
seeking additional financial information are

welcome to contact:

Investor Relations

Bank One Corporation

1 Bank One Plaza

Mail Code 111-0738
Chicago, IL 60670-0738
(312) 732-4812

Stockholder Relations and
Information

Stockholders with questions regarding their
stockholder account, dividends, stock transfer,
lost certificates, or changes of address should
contact the transfer agenc at the address and

applicable phone number below.

EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.

PO. Box 2500

Jersey City, NJ 07303-2500

Telephone:

Inside the United States: (888) 764-5592
Qutside the United States: (201) 324-0498
TDD/TTY (for the hearing impaired):
(800) 952-9245

Internet: www.equiserve.com

102

Stock Listing

The commeon stock is listed on the New York
and Chicago stock exchanges and trades under
the ticker symbol ONE.

Dividend Information
Dividends on the common stock, if declared by
the Board of Directors, customarily are paid on

January 1, April 1, July 1, and October 1.

Annual Meeting of Stockholders

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be
held on Tuesday, April 16, 2002, at 9:30 a.m.
(Chicago Time) in the Bank One Auditorium,
located in the Plaza area of the corporate head-

quarters at 1 Bank One Plaza in Chicago.

Independent Public Accountants
KPMG LLP

303 East Wacker Drive

Chicago, IL 60601

Bank One will send its Annual Report on Form
10-K for 2001 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission without charge to any
stockholder who reguests a copy in writing.
Please send requests to: Bank One Corporation,
Actn: Investor Relations, 1 Bank One Plaza,
Mail Code [L1-0738, Chicago, IL 60670-0738.

©2002 Bank One Corporation
Printed in the U.S.A. on recycled paper.
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Page 3 - Chicago Bears

Chicago, lllinois

Customer: 67 years

Bank One has been the Bears’ lead credit and
treasury management bank since 1934. We
handle the team’s lockboxes for season and
playoff tickets, as well as some of their invest-
ment management and short-term cash needs.
We alse provided a $100 million loan to
finance the Bears' portion of the Soldier Field
FEROVALION Project.

Page 4 - Homeward Bound
Phoenix, Arizona
‘Contribution Recipient: 11 years

“Founded in 1990, Homeward Bound is a

transitional housing program for homeless,
impending homeless, and families affected by
domestic violence. With over 11 years of finan-
cial support and emplovee volunteerism, Bank
One has helped numerous Homeward Bound
families regain control of their lives and
become 5cl‘f-su fhcient.

Page 13 - Carlos Munguia

Middle Market Division: Manager

Dallas; Texas

Bank One Employee: 13 years

Carlos has béen a commercial banker in the
Dallas area for more than 20 years. He joined
Bank One in 1989 as a middle market banker,
was promoted to tcam leader; and now serves
as a d

vision manager. Carlos is also 2 member

of Bank One’s Southern Region Diversity

Council and is a founding board member of
the Dallas Hispanic Employee Nenwork Group.

Page 15 - Jennifer Osborn

Credit Card Relationship Manager
Wilmington, Delaware

Bank One Employee: 4 years

Jennifer began her carecr at First USA in the
Partnership Marketing Analytics deparement
in which she worked on product and service
marketing, process analysis, and employee
training. She joined the [nternet Account
Management team in 2000, where she and her
ream have responsibility for the development
and management of scveral MSN and
Microsoft partnership programs.

Page 17 - Kenyon Warren

Banking Center Manager

Columbus, Ohio

Bank One Employee: 5 years

Kenyon entered the bank in 1997 as part of
the Bank One Scholar Program, a development
program that combines on-the-job expericnce
with a graduate business education. During his
time in the Scholar Program, Kenyon worked
in the bank’s finance, community development,
capital markers, and investment management
departments and carned his MBA from
Kellogg. He has been a banking center manager
for two vears.

Page 19 - Sarah Norris

Investment Specialist

Chicago; lilinois

Bank One Employee: 10 years

Sarah was a mortgage loan officer for three
vears before entering a rotational development
program in which she gained experience in
fixed income trading, high-vield origination,
assct-backed securities, private banking, and
investment management. She has been an
investment specialist for high net worth clients
for the past four years.
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